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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
or

(| TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-16489
FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)
Delaware 36-4412642
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

5875 N. Sam Houston Parkway W.,
Houston, Texas 77086
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code281/591-4000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which reqistered

Common Stock, $0.01 par value New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢iie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c08#turities Act. YESX NO O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. YESI NO X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4193
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqrégiod that the registrant was required to filetsteports), and (2) has been subject to suclyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. YHES$ NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidsmtted electronically and posted on its corpovegdsite, if any, every Interactive Data File reqdi
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 4®%&egfilation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during pheceding 12 months (or for such shorter pehatithe
registrant was required to submit and post sueB)il YES NO 0O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (8285 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of the registsaknowledge, in definitive proxy or informatiotesements incorporated by reference in Part Ithif
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “ade@ated filer” and “smaller reporting company” imle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filerx] Accelerated filer 0 Non-accelerated filer] Smaller reporting company]



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the AMES O NO X

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s comstock held by non-affiliates of the registratgtermined by multiplying the outstanding shares or
June 30, 2014, by the closing price on such d&6af07 as reported on the New York Stock Exchawgs,$7,923,489,042 .*

The number of shares of the registrant's commockst®0.01 par value, outstanding as of FebruarR@85 was 231,444,593 .

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

DOCUMENT FORM 10-K REFERENCE

Portions of Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual fiteeof Stockholders Part Ill

*

Excludes 105,363,947 shares of the registrabwsimon Stock held by directors, officers and hald#grmore than 5% of the registrant’s Common Stckf June 30,
2014. Exclusion of shares held by any person shoafldbe construed to indicate that such persomtitygossesses the power, direct or indirect,imecti or cause the
direction of the management or policies of thesegnt, or that such person or entity is controliger under common control with the registrant.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwacaking statementsihtended to qualify for the safe harbors from ligpiestablished b
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9l statements other than statements of hisabfict contained in this report are forward
looking statements within the meaning of SectioA 27 the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, artti@e21E of the Securities Exchal
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Fodataoking statements usually relate to future evemd anticipated revenues, earni
cash flows or other aspects of our operations @raimg results. Forward-looking statements areroftlentified by the words “believe,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “intend,” “forese&,'should,” “would,” “could,” “may,” “estimate,” “autlook” and similar expressions, includ
the negative thereof. The absence of these womigever, does not mean that the statements areonearid-looking. These forwardoking
statements are based on our current expectatietisfoand assumptions concerning future developsnand business conditions and t
potential effect on us. While management believiad these forwartboking statements are reasonable as and when rtizte, can be t
assurance that future developments affecting udwithose that we anticipate.

”ou ” ou ” ” ou " ou " ou

All of our forwarddooking statements involve risks and uncertaintsne of which are significant or beyond our coijtaad assumptions th
could cause actual results to differ materiallyrirour historical experience and our present extieator projections. Known material factors
that could cause our actual results to differ ftbiwse in the forward-looking statements are theseiibed in Part |, Item 1A “Risk Factors” of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We wish to cautymu not to place undue reliance on any forwarddlog statements, which speak only as
of the date hereof. We undertake no obligationufoliply update or revise any of our forward-lookistatements after the date they are made,
whether as a result of new information, future ésem otherwise, except to the extent requirecaoy. |
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

FMC Technologies, Inc. is a global provider of teslogy solutions for the energy industry. FMC Tealogies, Inc. was incorporated in
November 2000 under Delaware law and was a w-owned subsidiary of FMC Corporation until our iaitpublic offering in June 2001. Our
principal executive offices are located at 5875tN&am Houston Parkway West, Houston, Texas 77/886sed in this report, except where
otherwise stated or indicated by the context,ed#nrences to the “Company,” “FMC Technologies,” ;Wws,” and “our” are to FMC
Technologies, Inc. and its consolidated subsidsarie

We design, manufacture and service technologisalphisticated systems and products, including supssluction and processing systems,
surface wellhead production systems, high predtuicecontrol equipment, measurement solutions imwadine loading systems for the energy
industry. We report our results of operations i fibllowing reporting segments: Subsea Technolo@esface Technologies and Energy
Infrastructure. Financial information about our iness segments is incorporated herein by referooeNote 19 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this AahBeport on Form 10-K.

During 2012 we acquired the remaining 55% of SitfgiRobotics, LLC (“Schilling Robotics”), 100% ofuRe Energy Services Ltd. (“Pure
Energy”) and 100% of Control Systems Internatioia, (“CSI”). Schilling Robotics is a supplier aflvanced robotic intervention products,
including a line of remotely operating vehicle gyat (“ROV”), manipulator systems and subsea cosirstems and is included in our Subsea
Technologies segment. Prior to 2012 we owned 45%chflling Robotics, and the acquisition of the aémng 55% is allowing us to grow in
the expanding subsea environment, where demarikiddfs and the need for maintenance activities ofsatequipment is expected to
increase. Additionally, we acquired Pure Energgravider of flowback services and wireline servicElse acquisition of Pure Energy is
complementing the existing products and servicesiofSurface Technologies segment and is expeategtate client value by providing an
integrated well site solution. Finally, we acquit@8l, a provider of automation, control and infotima technology to the oil and gas industry.
Included in our Energy Infrastructure segment, S®nhancing our automation and controls technetognd is benefiting technologies to
support our long-term strategy to expand our supseduction and processing systems. Additionalrimfztion about our 2012 business
combinations is incorporated herein by referenomfNote 4 to our consolidated financial statemérdtided in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

During 2014 we completed the sale of our equitgnests and assets primarily representing a prdithecdf our material handling business to
Syntron Material Handling, LLC, an affiliate of Liexe Leichtman Capital Partners Private Capital Sahs Il, L.P. Additional financial
information is incorporated herein by referencarfidote 5 to our consolidated financial statememttuded in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reportd-orm 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K andratments to those reports are
available free of charge through our website at wimatechnologies.com, under “Investors—Financiéimation—SEC Filings” as soon as
reasonably practicable after we file the reporthhe Securities and Exchange Commission (the “sEQternatively, our reports may be
accessed through the website maintained by theg&®B@w.sec.gov.

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we iparate by reference certain information from owexXy Statement for the 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. We intend to provide staiillers with an annual report containing finangiédrmation that has been examined and
reported upon, with an opinion expressed thereoounyndependent registered public accounting fidm.or about April 6, 2015, we expect
our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meetin@tafckholders will be available on our website uritlevestors—Financial Information—
SEC Filings.” Similarly, on the same date, we exmer 2014 Annual Report to Stockholders will baitable on our website under
“Investors—Financial Information—Annual Reports.”




BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Subsea Technologies

Subsea Technologies designs and manufactures psaglut systems and provides services used by @ijas companies involved in
deepwater exploration and production of crude il natural gas. The core competencies of this segane our

technology and engineering expertise. Our prodociestems control the flow of crude oil and natgad from producing wells. We specialize
in offshore production systems and have manufagjuacilities near the world’s principal offshoriéd @and gas producing basins. We primarily
market our products through our own technical saiganization.

Principal Products and Servict

Subsea System®Dur systems are used in the offshore producti@nuzle oil and natural gas. Subsea systems ateglan the seafloor and ¢
used to control the flow of crude oil and naturas drom the reservoir to a host processing faciditich as a floating production facility, a fixed
platform or an onshore facility.

The design and manufacture of our subsea systequses a high degree of technical expertise anoviation. Some of our systems are
designed to withstand exposure to the extreme Isyalio pressure that deepwater environments preaemtell as internal pressures of up to
15,000 pounds per square inch (“psi”) and tempeeatin excess of 350° F. The development of oegiatted subsea production systems
includes initial engineering design studies anfiifaevelopment planning to consider all relevampeass and project requirements including
optimization of drilling programs and subsea asttitire. Our subsea production systems and proohatigle drilling systems, subsea trees,
chokes and flow modules, manifold pipeline systecosirol and data acquisition systems, well acegstems and other technologies.
Additionally, as part of our technologies to entafield economics by maximizing recovery, our sabgecessing systems can enable cost-
effective, platform-less solutions where the fieldied directly back to an existing offshore fagibr directly to shore. Subsea processing
system solutions include subsea boosting, subseaayapression and subsea separation which arenéesig accelerate production, increase
recovery or extend field life. In order to provitteese products, systems and services, we utiligmeering, project management, procuremen
manufacturing, assembly and testing capabilities.

We also provide well access and flow managementicgs and other customer support services that affeoad range of products and sen
including installation and workover tools, servteehnicians for installation assistance and fielpjp®rt for commissioning, intervention, and
maintenance of our subsea systems throughoutf¢ghefithe field. This scope of activity also inceslproviding tools and technical support
such as our riserless light well intervention sysfer certain well workover and intervention tasks2012 FMC Technologies formed a joint
venture with Edison Chouest Offshore LLC to proviakegrated vessel-based subsea services for offstilcand gas fields around the world.
This joint venture is expected to provide cost-&ffee solutions to enhance our customer’s abititynitiate, maintain and increase production
from subsea field developments through efficierdrafions, innovative technologies and a broad itorgrof vessels and tools.

Subsea systems represented approximately 63%, 68%246 of our consolidated revenue in 2014, 201324112, respectively.

Schilling Robotics We design and manufacture ROVs and manipulatos @and provide support services for subsea cosystems for subse
exploration and production. Our product offeringlirdes electric and hydraulic work-class ROVs,detmanagement systems, launch and
recovery systems, remote manipulator arms and raodohtrol systems for wide-ranging subsea apjptinat We also provide support and
services such as product training, pilot simul&taining, spare parts, technical assistance aridtiog) support.

Multi Phase MetersWe design and manufacture multiphase and wetgésranwith applications that include production andace well

testing, reservoir monitoring, remote operatioriafire fields, measurement of fluid rates for prttn and revenue sharing between partners
process monitoring and control, and artificial éfttimization. This technology delivers highly acatie, self-calibrating meters with low
maintenance features to meet our customers’ incig@asquirements for subsea and topside applicaitibhe Multi Phase Meters product line
augments our portfolio of technologies for incragsdil and gas recovery, early water detectionrasérvoir optimization.
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Capital Intensity

Many of the systems and products we supply forealapplications are highly engineered to meet tigue demands of our customers’ field
properties and are typically ordered one to tway@aior to installation. We often receive advaaod progress payments from our customers
in order to fund initial development and our wokkicapital requirements. However, our working cdgitdances can vary significantly
depending on the payment terms and execution timmkey contracts.

Dependence on Key Custom

Generally, our customers in this segment are majegrated oil companies, national oil companies iadependent exploration and product
companies.

We have actively pursued alliances with oil and ga@mpanies that are engaged in the subsea deveibpinerude oil and natural gas to
promote our integrated systems for subsea produdiievelopment of subsea fields, particularly iegleater environments, involves
substantial capital investments by our customeus.ddstomers have sought the security of alliamdésus to ensure timely and cost-effective
delivery of subsea and other energy-related systeatprovide integrated solutions to their ne€ls: alliances establish important ongoing
relationships with our customers. While our alliesido not contractually commit our customers t@lpase our systems and services, they
historically led to, and we expect that they wdhtinue to result in, such purchases. Examplesistiomners we have entered alliances with
include Statoil, Shell, BP and Anadarko.

Petrobras is a key customer for the Subsea Tectieslsegment. During early 2014, Brazilian autiesitriggered an investigation into
Petrobras wholly unrelated to FMC TechnologiesaAssult of the investigation at Petrobras, ouraipgenal performance may be affected by
any significant changes in Petrobras’ operationtViies. As part of our strong customer relatioips we are working with Petrobras to delay
certain deliveries of product in 2015 which mayeatfour cash flows. During 2014, we did not take lb&d debt charges related to this
customer.

The loss of one or more of our significant oil ayab company customers could have a material ade#fess# on our Subsea Technologies
business segment. No single Subsea Technologiesnoeisaccounted for 10% or more of our 2014 codatdid revenue.

Competition

Subsea Technologies competes with other compaméstupply subsea systems and with smaller comp#mae are focused on a specific
application, technology or geographical niche iriclilwe operate. Companies including OneSubsea, (G& Gas, Aker Solutions and Dril-
Quip compete with us in the marketplace acrossratious Subsea Technologies product lines.

Competitive factors in our industry include reli@lyi cost-effective technology, execution and dety. Our competitive strengths include our
intellectual capital, our execution of our projectdiability of our products, experience base brehdth of technologies embedded in our
products and services that enable us to desigruersiglutions for our customers’ project requirersavtiile incorporating standardized
components to contain costs. We maintain a preseraleof the worlds major producing basins. Our strong customeriogighips, experienc
and technology help us maintain a leadership positi subsea systems.

Seasonality

In the North Sea, winter weather generally subdiniiéng activity and demand for subsea serviceseatain activities cannot be performed. As
a result, the level of offshore activity in our seh services is negatively influenced and tendetoease in the first quarter of the year.
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Surface Technologies

Surface Technologies designs and manufactures giodnd systems and provides services used bpaijas companies involved in land and
offshore exploration and production of crude oifl aratural gas. We design, manufacture and supphntdogically advanced high pressure
valves, pumps and fittings used in stimulation\atiéis for oilfield service companies and provi#i@xback and wireline services for
exploration and production companies in the oil gad industry.

Principal Products and Servict

Surface WellheadWe provide a full range of drilling, completiongproduction wellhead systems for both standaddcaistom-engineered
applications. Surface wellhead production systemsees, are used to control and regulate the diberude oil and natural gas from the well.
Our surface wellhead products and systems arewsddwide on both onshore and offshore applicatiand can be used in difficult climates,
including arctic cold or desert high temperatuf@gr product technologies include conventional wesdllhs, unihead drill-thru wellheads
designed for faster surface installations, drilliimge optimization (“DTQ”) timesaving conventionakllheads designed to reduce overall rig
time and other technologies including sealing tetbgy, thermal equipment, and valves and actuatessupport our customers through
comprehensive surface wellhead system service gaskhat provide strategic solutions to ensurerggtequipment performance and
reliability and include all phases of the assetésdycle, from the early planning stages througgtihg and installation, commissioning and
operations, replacement and upgrades, interventimt®mmissioning/abandonment, and maintenanaagg@nd preservations. In addition,
our integrated shale services include manifoldsteses and flow back equipment for timely and eaf&tctive well completion.

Surface wellhead represented approximately 15%, 448613% of our consolidated revenue in 2014, 201B2012, respectively.

Fluid Control. We design and manufacture flowline products, utide Wecd®/Chiksan®trademarks, manifold trailers, well service pumps,
compact valves and reciprocating pumps used inaeatipletion and stimulation activities by majoffielld service companies, such as
Schlumberger Limited, Baker Hughes Incorporatedilibiaton Company and Weatherford International @ar flowline products are used in
equipment that pumps fluid into a well during thelizonstruction and stimulation processes. Out sesvice pump product line includes
Triplex and Quintuplex pumps utilized in a varieiyapplications including fracturing, acidizing anmtrix stimulation and are capable of
delivering flow rates up to 35 barrels per minuter@ssures up to 20,000 psi. The performancei®bilsiness typically rises and falls with
variations in the active rig count throughout therl and pressure pumping activity in the Americas.

Fluid control represented approximately 8%, 8% a2 of our consolidated revenue in 2014, 2013 &1 2respectively.

Completion ServicesWe provide flowback services, cased hole elegtiieline and slickline services, specialty loggseyvices, pressure
transient analysis, and well optimization serviftgsexploration companies in the oil and gas indugkcquired in October 2012 and formerly
known as Pure Energy Services Ltd., our complet@mices business offers flowback services thatigeoour customers the well services
necessary for the recovery of solids, fluids andrbgarbons from oil and natural gas wells afterdtirulation of the well and can involve hi
pressure or multi-well pad operations.

Capital Intensity

Surface Technologies manufactures most of its prisduesulting in a reliance on manufacturing lmse throughout the world. We also
maintain a large amount of rental equipment rel&garessure pumping operations.

Dependence on Key Custom
No single Surface Technologies customer accoumedid or more of our 2014, 2013 or 2012 conscdidaevenue
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Competition

Surface Technologies is a market leader for ithary products and services. Some of the compefaigtors include technological innovation,
reliability and product quality. Surface Technokgicompetes with other companies that supply sige@duction equipment and pressure
pumping products. Some of our major competitorfuishe Cameron International Corporation, Weir OiG&as, GE Oil & Gas and Gardner
Denver, Inc.

Seasonality

In western Canada, the level of activity in thdielidl services industry is influenced by seasonahtlier patterns. During the spring months,
weather and the spring thaw make the ground urestatul less capable of supporting heavy equipmehiechinery. As a result,
municipalities and provincial transportation depaehts enforce road bans that restrict the movenfdmtavy equipment, which reduces
activity levels. There is greater demand for oldfiservices provided by our completion servicesrmss in the winter season when freezing
permits the movement and operation of heavy equiprdetivities tend to increase in the fall and p@&athe winter months of November
through March.




Enerqgy Infrastructure

Principal Products and Servict

Measurement SolutiondVe design, manufacture and supply measuremedupit®for the worldwide oil and gas industry. Clowf computers
and control systems manage and monitor liquid asdngeasurement for applications such as custodsféng fiscal measurement and batch
loading and deliveries. Our floating productiorarage and off-loading metering systems provideptieeision and reliability required for
measuring large flow rates characteristic of makiraeling operations. Our measurement systems pgavahy solutions in energy-related
applications such as crude oil and natural gasymtiosh and transportation, refined product trantgimm, petroleum refining, and petroleum
marketing and distribution. We combine advancedsuesament technology with state-of-the-art electtsmind supervisory control systems to
provide the measurement of both liquids and gasessure processes operate efficiently while redpoperating costs and minimizing the |
associated with custody transfer.

We also provide design, engineering, project mamage, training, commissioning and aftermarket swin connection with the applications
of blending and transfer technology solutions arat@ss automation systems for manufacturers itutivecant, petroleum, fuel blending, and
additive and chemical industries.

Loading SystemsWe provide land- and marine-based fluid loadind ansfer systems to the oil and gas, petrocharaitd chemical
industries. Our systems provide transfer loadidgtEms using Chiksan loading arms and Chiksan slybint technologies capable of diverse
applications. While our marine systems are typjcadinstructed on a fixed jetty platform, we haveeleped advanced loading systems that
be mounted on a vessel or structure to facilithip-8-ship and tandem loading and offloading oplens in open seas or exposed locations.
Both our land- and marine- based loading and tearssfstems are capable of handling a wide rangeoafucts including petroleum products,
liquefied natural gas (“LNG") and chemical products

Separation SystemdNe design and manufacture systems that sepaadagiion flows from wells into oil, gas, sand amater. Our separatic
technology improves upon conventional separatiohrtelogies by moving the flow in a spiral, spinnimgtion. This causes the elements of
flow stream to separate more efficiently than coriomal separation technologies. These systemsuarently capable of subsea and topside
applications. For subsea separation, performingragd the required separation process at the seatebles our customers to have more
effective production and reduces the need for tgpprocessing capacity. We are able to apply sudegsaration technologies for both
greenfield development and retrofit solutions fefds currently in production in order to reducetsdor topside facilities and increase
production and recovery of fields.

Automation and ContralWe provide automation, control and informatiochteology for the oil and gas and other industiesjuired in April
2012 and formerly known as Control Systems Intéonal, Inc., our automation and control business ssipplier of innovative control and
automation system solutions. One of the businessigry product, UCOS, is a comprehensive software solution that combdistributed
control system and supervisory control and dataiattpn system retrofits using software soluti@msl compression control algorithms which
allows customers to control and manage the endirggatesign and monitoring of their systems of agiens.

Dependence on Key Custom
No single Energy Infrastructure customer accoufited0% or more of our 2014, 2013 or 2012 constdidaevenue
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OTHER BUSINESS INFORMATION RELEVANT TO OUR BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Product Development

We continue to invest in product development toaaxde technologies necessary to support the cuanehtuture technical challenges of our
customers. New products and services are developader to ensure our ability to tender in upcognimojects and to enable our growth
platforms. We also strive to increase standardiratiithin our product lines in order to reduce dedyy times, improve product integrity and
control costs. To satisfy all these aims, we acei$ed on leveraging capabilities and advanced téobies across all of our businesses.

In our Subsea Technologies segment, we seek tstinveew technology that will enable the developtredf our customers’ fields. We
continue to expand the portfolio of solutions iderto deliver a complete production system fohtpgessure, high temperature (“HPHT")
applications. In 2014 we entered into a joint depeient agreement with several major operatorsyeldp common standards for subsea
production equipment capable of operating at pressas high as 20,000 psi and temperatures updtoFR33Ve believe standardization is an
important element in improving execution, optimiziresources, lowering life cycle costs and proxgdaperior long-term value. This
agreement is expected to result in standardizedmals, processes and interfaces and is expecielit@r improved reliability and operability
over the life of the field. During 2014 we continlsork to complete the portfolio of capabilitiessiopport these applications with systems for
high integrity pressure protection (“HIPPS”) andrmgmetion workover risers (“CWOR?”). Also in 2014, rothird generation of ultra-heavy duty
work class ROVs, the UHD-III, was completed andwiekd to the market. This recent evolution of R@@¢hnology features a new hydraulic
pumping system capable of operating underwateregalv emergency situations, a tool dynamic positipsystem, and a high definition
Ethernet video system enhancing vehicle operatofRDV pilots.

In addition to the development of new technologydieallenging fields, we also seek to develop smhgt that will help operators maximize
recovery from existing subsea fields. We contirmadvance the development of motor and drive swiatfor pumps in order to expand our
subsea product portfolio and to meet a broadesfsafrket needs. Along with our development partBetzer Pumps Ltd, development work
progressed on a pump system capable of operatimigtegr pressures and temperatures compared tiosEcurrently available in the market.

Standardization of subsea equipment is key to aehieductions in cost and improved performanc0i4 our next generation Master Con
Station featuring our proprietary User ConfiguraBlgen System (UCQO%) software was completed, installed and commissi@ftshore. The
modular UCOS software platform allows for greatekibility and scalability and will be utilized dke standard for control system application:
in subsea production, processing and workover systédditionally, the next generation of standdet&ic and hydraulic actuators were
completed and delivered for field application. Ehydraulic actuator features design improvemtratswill offer improved reliability. The
G2i electric actuator was designed for improved ufacturability and qualified according to the highmdustrial standards. The G2i electric
actuator will be a key component in subsea prodoand processing systems.

We are also expanding our subsea services portfofioovide more services that maximize productéind recovery over the life of the field.
January 2015, we completed the construction ofigliaiserless light well intervention (“RLWI”) steam capable of operating at water depths
up to 6,000 ft. RLWI is a cost-effective, riglesgarvention solution designed to perform varioygetyof jobs in offshore wells that will
improve and optimize recovery using smaller, puegbsilt intervention vessels rather than rigs.

In our Surface Technologies segment, developmerit fecused on enhancing our capabilities to proyidElucts and services to support our
integrated shale operations. Development work wagpteted on de-sanding technology designed to iugptioe performance of flowback
operations. Pilot units were produced and succlgsésted in the field. Our fluid control busineslso completed development and launched
the ePRYV, an electronic pressure relief valve. @RV is the first fully electronic pressure reliralve for the pressure pumping market,
providing improved accuracy and serviceability. Adhal investments in Surface Technologies werealed toward the expansion of
capabilities to support shallow water productiohe DXT (Jack-Up X-mas Tree) and JXT-3 designs wele@ered to the field. These standard
products provide production options that enableatpes to minimize time to first oil and reduce itajpinvestments.

In our Energy Infrastructure segment, our loadiygfesms business unit completed development onl-ategltric marine loading arm. The
electric drives are easier to maintain and morieiefft to operate compared to existing hydrauliosr
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Order Backlog

Information regarding order backlog is incorporatedein by reference from the section entitled timbd Orders and Order Backlog’ Part I
Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

Our business segments purchase carbon steelgs@sikel, aluminum and steel castings and fordiotigedomestically and internationally.
typically do not use single source suppliers fer tajority of our raw material purchases; howewertain geographic areas of our businesses
or a project or group of projects may heavily deben certain suppliers for raw materials or sumglgemi-finished goods. We believe the
available supplies of raw materials are adequatedet our needs.

Research and Development

We are engaged in research and development (“R&eXiyities directed toward the improvement of érigtproducts and services, the design
of specialized products to meet customer needshendevelopment of new products, processes anitssnA large part of our product
development spending has focused on the improveidrdand standardization of our Subsea Technolgy@duct lines to meet our customer
needs. Financial information about R&D activitissricorporated herein by reference from Note 18utoconsolidated financial statements
included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report Borm 10-K.

Patents, Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We own a number of U.S. and foreign patents, tragksniand licenses that are cumulatively importarmur businesses. As part of our ongc
research and development, we seek patents wheogjate for new products and product improvemeénmnts.have approximately 1,330 issued
patents and pending patent applications worldwkdether, we license intellectual property right®tdrom third parties. We also own
numerous U.S. and foreign trademarks and trade :iame have approximately 150 registrations andipgrapplications in the United States
and abroad.

We protect and promote our intellectual propertstfptio and take those actions we deem appropt@atnforce and defend our intellectual

property rights. We do not believe, however, thatlbss of any one patent, trademark or licensgraup of related patents, trademarks or
licenses would have a material adverse effect oroweerall business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately ZDf80-time employees, consisting of approximately 6,90the United States and 13,4
in non-U.S. locations. Less than 2% of our U.S. leyges are represented by labor unions.

The Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human RightsoA2012

The Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human RightsoA€012 amended Section 13 of the Exchange Adtraquires disclosure when a
company knowingly engages in specified prohibitetiviies involving Iran. We had no such activiti@sreport during the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Segment and Geographic Financial Information

The majority of our consolidated revenue and segmperating profits are generated in markets oatsfdhe United States. Each of our
segments’ revenue is dependent upon worldwidendilgas exploration and production activity. Finahaiformation about our segments and
geographic areas is incorporated herein by referénoen Note 19 to our consolidated financial statata in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 1Qke, information regarding our executive officerfierhfor by Item 401(b) of Regulation I§-
is hereby included in Part I, Item 1 “Business’ttié Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As of February 20, 2015, the executive officer&BIC Technologies, together with the offices heldtym, their business experience and 1

ages, are as follows:

Name

Age

Current Position and Business Experience

John T. Gremp

Maryann T. Seaman

Bradley D. Beitler
Sanjay Bhatia

Tore Halvorsen

Jay A. Nutt
Johan Pfeiffer

Douglas J. Pferdehirt

Dianne Ralston

Mark J. Scott

63

52

61

45

60

51
50

51

48

61

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officell@0
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (2012)
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officerl@0
President and Chief Operating Officer (2010)

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi¢2014) Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (2011)
Vice President—Treasurer and Deputy Chief Finar@féicer (2010)

Vice President—Technology (2009)

Vice President—Corporate Development (2012)

Director of Business Development (2007)

Senior Vice President—Subsea Technologies (2011)

Senior Vice President—Global Subsea ProductioneByst{2007)
Vice President and Controller (2009)

Vice President—Surface Technologies (2011)

Vice President—Global Surface Wellhead (2010)

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offi@912)

Executive Vice President—Corporate Development &Gwnication for Schlumberger Limited (2011)
President Reservoir Production Group for Schluméekgmited (2006)

Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and &egré2015) Executive Vice President, General Celns
and Secretary for Weatherford International plcld®Deputy General Counsel—Corporate for
Schlumberger Limited (2012)

Deputy General Counsel— Government Affairs, Litigaf and IP Enforcement for Schlumberger Limited
(2010)

Vice President—Administration (2010)

No family relationships exist among any of the a-listed officers, and there are no arrangementsderstandings between any of the above
listed officers and any other person pursuant tichwvthey serve as an officer. During the past tesry, none of the above-listed officers was
involved in any legal proceedings as defined iml#01(f) of Regulation S-K. All officers are eledtby the Board of Directors to hold office
until their successors are elected and qualified.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Important risk factors that could impact our akitid achieve our anticipated operating resultsgmovth plan goals are presented below. The
following risk factors should be read in conjunatimith discussions of our business and the faetfiexting our business located elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our othéndjs with the SEC.

Demand for our systems and services depends on oil and gasindustry activity and expenditure levels, which are directly affected by trendsin
the demand for and price of crude oil and natural gas.

We are substantially dependent on conditions irothand gas industry, including the level of expliion, development and production activity
of, and the corresponding capital spending byawod natural gas companies. Any substantial or degdecline in these expenditures may
result in the reduced pace of discovery and devadop of new reserves of oil and gas and the redexplitation of existing wells, which
could adversely affect demand for our systems andces and, in certain instances, result in threelation, modification or rescheduling of
existing orders in our backlog. These factors cdiside an adverse effect on our revenue and priiiyali he level of exploration,
development and production activity is directlyeated by trends in oil and natural gas prices, iHigstorically, have been volatile.

Factors affecting the prices of oil and natural igakide, but are not limited to, the following:

» demand for hydrocarbons, which is affected byldwide population growth, economic growth rated general economic and
business conditions;

» costs of exploring for, producing and deliveringasid natural ga
e political and economic uncertainty and sociopdditignrest

« available excess production capacity within@rganization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“@PJ)and the level of oil
production by non-OPEC countries;

« oil refining capacity and shifts in erudistomer preferences toward fuel efficiency andubeof natural ge

» technological advances affecting energy consumj

» potential acceleration of the development of aki&ue fuels

» access to capital and credit markets, which affgct our customersictivity levels and spending for our products aewises; an

e natural disaster

The oil and gas industry has historically experéshperiodic downturns, which have been characitigediminished demand for oilfield
services and downward pressure on the prices wgeha significant downturn in the oil and gas istity could result in a reduction in
demand for oilfield services and could adversefgdifour financial condition, results of operatiascash flows.

The industries in which we operate or have operated expose us to potential liabilities arising out of the installation or use of our systems that
could adversely affect our financial condition.

We are subject to equipment defects, malfunctionkfailures, equipment misuse and natural disastezsoccurrence of which may result in
uncontrollable flows of gas or well fluids, firesdexplosions. Although we have obtained insuragagnst many of these risks, our insurance
may not be adequate to cover our liabilities. Femtthe insurance may not generally be availabtaerfuture or, if available, premiums may
not be commercially justifiable. If we incur subgtal liability and the damages are not coverednisyrance or are in excess of policy limits

if we were to incur liability at a time when we aret able to obtain liability insurance, such poi@diabilities could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operationspfire condition or cash flows.
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Our operations require usto comply with numerous U.S. and international regulations, violations of which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We are exposed to a variety of federal, state] lmed international laws and regulations relatimgniatters such as environmental, health and
safety, labor and employment, import/export conttatrency exchange, bribery and corruption andttar. These laws and regulations are
complex, frequently change and have tended to becoore stringent over time. In the event the sadfkese laws and regulations expand in
the future, the incremental cost of compliance é@dversely impact our financial condition, resolt®perations or cash flows.

Our operations outside of the United States requar®® comply with numerous anti-bribery and awtiraption regulations under the laws of
the United States and various other countries.II8e Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), theitéd Kingdom (“U.K.”) Bribery Act and
the Brazilian Anti-Bribery Act (also known as theaRilian Clean Company Act), among others, applyg@nd our operations. We have
internal control policies and procedures and hey@eémented training and compliance programs foremuployees and agents with respect to
these regulations. However, our policies, proceslarel programs may not always protect us from esskbr criminal acts committed by our
employees or agents, and severe criminal or cwvitBons may be imposed as a result of violatidrikase laws. We are also subject to the
risks that our employees, joint venture partnesagents outside of the United States may faibtoply with applicable laws.

Moreover, we import raw materials, semi-finishe@ds, as well as finished products into many coastfor use in such countries or for
manufacturing and/or finishing for re-export angrt into another country for use or further in&gn into equipment or systems. Most
movement of raw materials, semi-finished or finlpeoducts involves imports and exports. As a tesompliance with multiple trade
sanctions, embargoes and import/export laws andatgns, as well as the recently enacted confiicterals reporting requirements, pose a
constant challenge and risk to us since our busiisesonducted on a worldwide basis through varsulssidiaries. Our failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could materially affestreputation, financial condition and result®pérations.

Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may adver sely affect our business and operating results.

Environmental laws and regulations in the Uniteat& and regulations in foreign countries affeetdauipment, systems and services we
design, market and sell, as well as the facilitagre we manufacture our equipment and systemsaré/eequired to invest financial and
managerial resources to comply with environmeraatland regulations and believe that we will cargito be required to do so in the future.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulatiora/mesult in the assessment of administrativel ainl criminal penalties, the imposition of
remedial obligations, or the issuance of ordersigrirjg operations. These laws and regulations,elsas the adoption of new legal
requirements or other laws and regulations affgatixploration and development of drilling for crumleand natural gas, could adversely affec
our business and operating results by increasinga@sts, limiting the demand for our systems amdises or restricting our operations.

International, national and state governments geth@ies are currently evaluating and/or promulgatgislation and regulations that are
focused on restricting emissions commonly refetoedls greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions. For instamtder the U.S. Clean Air Act, the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPATas made findings that GHG emissions endangerghbllth and the environment, resultin
the EPA’s adoption of regulations requiring constian and operating permit reviews of certain stadiry sources with major emissions of
GHGs, which reviews may require the installatiorbe$t available control technologies typically ayjwed by the states and the monitoring anc
annual reporting of GHG emissions from certain sesyincluding onshore and offshore oil and natgasl production facilities and onshore
and natural gas processing, transmission, stonagj€liatribution facilities. In addition, in JuneZ2Q) the EPA, acting under President Obama’s
Climate Action Plan, proposed its Clean Power Rhdrich would set U.S. state-by-state guidelinegpfmwer plants to reduce their carbon
emissions and cut pollution, nitrogen oxides artlisdioxide. To the extent our customers are stitije these or other similar proposed or
newly enacted laws and regulations, the additionats incurred by our customers to comply with daels and regulations could impact their
ability or desire to continue to operate at cur@ranticipated levels, which would negatively imptheir demand for our systems and servi

In addition, any new laws or regulations establightap-and-trade and those that favor the increaseof non-fossil fuels may dampen
demand for oil and gas production and lead to laspending by our customers for our systems andcgsvSimilarly, to the extent we are or
become subject to any of these or other similap@sed or newly enacted laws and regulations, weabtpat our efforts to monitor, report and
comply with such laws and regulations, and anyteelgaxes imposed on companies by such prograrisnevease our cost of doing business
and may have a material adverse effect on our ¢iahnondition and results of operation.
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Moreover, environmental concerns have been raesgarding the potential impact of hydraulic fraatgrior “fracking” on underground water
supplies. We provide equipment and services to emmes employing this enhanced recovery technigherélhave been several regulatory
governmental initiatives in the United States tgtriet the hydraulic fracturing process, which abbhve an adverse impact on our customers
completion or production activities. For examples tJ.S. Department of the Interior has issued pegaegulations that would apply to
hydraulic fracturing operations on wells that anbject to federal oil and gas leases and that wionebse requirements regarding the
disclosure of chemicals used in the hydraulic franty process, as well as requirements to obtaitaicefederal approvals before proceeding
with hydraulic fracturing at a well site. This aather similar state and foreign regulatory initias, if adopted, would establish additional le
of regulation for our customers that could makadtre difficult for our customers to complete natwas and oil wells and could adversely
affect the demand for our equipment and servicég;hwin turn, could adversely affect our finanaiahdition, results of operations or cash
flows.

Disruptionsin the political, regulatory, economic and social conditions of the countriesin which we conduct business could adversely affect
our business or results of operations.

We operate manufacturing facilities in the UnitedtSs and in various countries across the worktability and unforeseen changes in any of
the markets in which we conduct business, inclugicgnomically and politically volatile areas sushNorth Africa, West Africa, the Middle
East and the Commonwealth of Independent Stateg] bave an adverse effect on the demand for aiesys and services, our financial
condition or our results of operations. These faciaclude, but are not limited to, the following:

* nationalization and expropriatic

» potentially burdensome taxatis

» inflationary and recessionary markets, includingitzd and equity marke!

« civil unrest, labor issues, political instabjliterrorist attacks, cybaerrorism, military activity and wai
» supply disruptions in key oil producing countr

» ability of OPEC to set and maintain production levand pricing

» trade restrictions, trade protection measuresioe montrols

» foreign ownership restrictior

» import or export licensing requiremet

* restrictions on operations, trade practicesidpartners and investment decisions resulting tomestic and foreign laws and
regulations;

* changes in, and the administration of, laws andlegipns

» inability to repatriate income or capi

* reductions in the availability of qualified persef

« foreign currency fluctuations or currency restoos; an

» fluctuations in the interest rate component of fardvforeign currency rate
Because a significant portion of our revenue isod@nated in foreign currencies, changes in exchaatgs will produce fluctuations in our
revenue, costs and earnings and may also affetitotble value of our assets located outside of thisedrStates and the amount of our
stockholders’ equity. Although it is our policy seek to minimize our currency exposure by engaigifgdging transactions where
appropriate, our efforts may not be successful.ddweer, certain currencies, specifically currenaiesountries such as Angola and Nigeria
where we have expanding operations, do not activalfle in the global foreign exchange markets aag subject us to increased foreign
currency exposures. To the extent we sell our prisdand services in foreign markets, currency flattons may result in our products and

services becoming too expensive for foreign custemis a result, fluctuations in foreign currenggleange rates may affect our financial
position or results of operations.
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We may lose money on fixed-price contracts.

As is customary for the types of businesses in whie operate, we often agree to provide produassarvices under fixed-price contracts.
Under these contracts, we are typically responsisleost overruns. Our actual costs and any goosfit realized on these fixegrice contract
may vary from the estimated amounts on which tlteséracts were originally based. There is inherisitin the estimation process, including
significant unforeseen technical and logisticalllemges or longer than expected lead times. A figgde contract may prohibit our ability to
mitigate the impact of unanticipated increasesim material prices through increased pricing. Depenon the size of a project, variations
from estimated contract performance could havgmifitant impact on our financial condition, resudif operations or cash flows.

Disruptionsin the timely delivery of our backlog could affect our future sales, profitability, and our relationshipswith our customers.

Many of the contracts we enter into with our custesirequire long manufacturing lead times due togtex technical and logistical
requirements. These contracts may contain peniatises relating to on-time delivery, and a faillbyeus to deliver in accordance with
customer expectations could subject us to contahpienalties, reduce our margins on these conteactssult in damage to existing customer
relationships. The ability to meet customer delv&rhedules for this backlog is dependent on a mumbfactors, including, but not limited to,
access to the raw materials required for productoradequately trained and capable workforce,anibactor performance, project
engineering expertise, sufficient manufacturingipapacity and appropriate planning and schedwafinganufacturing resources. Failure to
deliver backlog in accordance with expectationddoegatively impact our financial performance tigatarly in light of the current industry
environment where customers may seek to improvergieirns or cash flows.

Dueto the types of contracts we enter into, the cumulative loss of several major contracts or alliances may have an adverse effect on our
results of operations.

We often enter into large, lortgrm contracts that, collectively, represent aificant portion of our revenue. These agreemehtsyiminated ¢
breached, may have a larger impact on our operaggts or our financial condition than shortemtecontracts due to the value at risk. If we
were to lose several key alliances or agreemergsavelatively short period of time we could exgece a significant adverse impact on our
financial condition, results of operations or céskwvs.

Increased costs of raw materials and other components may result in increased operating expenses and adversely affect our results of
operations or cash flows.

Our results of operations may be adversely affelbjedur inability to manage the rising costs andilability of raw materials and components
used in our wide variety of products and systenmexXpected changes in the size and timing of re¢jem@d/or product markets, particularly for
short lead-time products, could affect our resoftsperations or cash flows.

Moreover, in August 2012, the SEC issued its finé to implement Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank\8aeet Reform and Consumer
Protection Act regarding mandatory disclosure ambrting requirements by public companies of ths& of “conflict minerals” (tantalum, tin,
tungsten and gold) originating in the Democratipigic of Congo and adjoining countries. We conddaequired due diligence activities for
the 2013 calendar year and filed our first Formr8port with the SEC in June 2014. While the cobfiinerals rule continues in effect as
adopted, there remains uncertainty regarding hevetmflict minerals rule, and our compliance obiigas, will be affected in the future.
Specifically, the Court of Appeals for the D.C. it largely upheld the conflict minerals rule ip#l 2014, but in November 2014, it granted
the SEC’s and Amnesty International’s petitionsritearing regarding certain disclosure requiremefthe rule. Additional requirements
under the rule could affect sourcing at competifiviees and availability in sufficient quantitiekartain of the conflict minerals used in the
manufacture of our products or in the provisiomof services, which could have a material adveffeeteon our ability to purchase these
products in the future. The costs of complianceluiting those related to supply chain researchliiieed number of suppliers and possible
changes in the sourcing of these minerals, couwe hanaterial adverse effect on our results of atpmrs or cash flows.
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A failure of our information technology infrastructure could adversely impact our business and results of operations.

The efficient operation of our business is depehdarour information technology (“IT”) systems. Aedingly, we rely upon the capacity,
reliability and security of our IT hardware andtsadre infrastructure and our ability to expand apdate this infrastructure in response to our
changing needs. Despite our implementation of $fyameasures, our systems are vulnerable to danfeascomputer viruses, natural
disasters, incursions by intruders or hackergyfad in hardware or software, power fluctuatioybec terrorists and other similar disruptions.
Although no such material incidents have occurceddte, the failure of our IT systems to perfornaascipated for any reason or any
significant breach of security could disrupt ousimess and result in numerous adverse consequémdesling reduced effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, inappropriate disclosafeonfidential information, increased overheadie@®d loss of important information, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busiagd results of operations. In addition, we mayeggiired to incur significant costs to
protect against damage caused by these disrumicsescurity breaches in the future.

Our success depends on our ability to implement new technologies and services.

Our success depends on the ongoing developmeitgheimentation of new product designs and improvesand on our ability to protect
and maintain critical intellectual property asgeiated to these developments. If we are not @bbdtain patent or other protection of our
technology, we may not be able to continue to dgvsl/stems, services and technologies to meetiegdivdustry requirements, and if so, at
prices acceptable to our customers.

Uninsured claims and litigation against us, including intellectual property litigation, could adversely impact our financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows.

We could be impacted by the outcome of pendingdtton, as well as unexpected litigation or progegsl We have insurance coverage agi
operating hazards, including product liability otai and personal injury claims related to our pregiuo the extent deemed prudent by our
management and to the extent insurance is availdbl@ever, no assurance can be given that theenand amount of that insurance will be
sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabiliearising out of pending and future claims anddition. Our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows could be adversely aftebjeunexpected claims not covered by insurance.

In addition, the tools, techniques, methodologiesgrams and components we use to provide ourcgswnay infringe upon the intellectual
property rights of others. Infringement claims gatig result in significant legal and other costslanay distract management from running
core business. Royalty payments under licenses tingoh parties, if available, would increase oustsoIf a license were not available, we
might not be able to continue providing a particslrvice or product, which could adversely affaat financial condition, results of operatic
or cash flows. Additionally, developing non-infring technologies would increase our costs.
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A deterioration in future expected profitability or cash flows could result in an impairment of our recorded goodwill.

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basi more frequently when impairment indicatoisearA lower fair value estimate in the
future for any of our reporting units could resalgoodwill impairments. Factors that could triggelower fair value estimate include changes
in customer demand, cost increases, regulatorglidigal environment changes, and other changesarket conditions, such as decreased
prices in similar market-based transactions, whimhid impact future earnings of the reporting unit.

At December 31, 2014, recorded goodwill of $75.8iom was associated with our completion serviegsorting unit. The recent decline in
crude oil prices has introduced some uncertairdp@ated with certain key assumptions used in adiig fair value of the reporting unit.
Depressed crude oil prices for a prolonged peridine may adversely affect the economics of certdiour customers’ projects, particularly
for shalerelated projects in North America, and may rediigedemand for completion services, negatively irtipg¢he financial results of t|
reporting unit. Management is monitoring the overadrket, specifically crude oil prices, and itéeetf on the estimates and assumptions used
in our goodwill impairment test for completion siees, which may require re-evaluation and couldltés an impairment of goodwill for this
reporting unit.

At December 31, 2014, recorded goodwill of $30.%iom was associated with our automation and cdméporting unit. During 2014 the
automation and control reporting unit realized gigantly lower sales volumes, leading to negatiwperating results for the year and creating
some uncertainty regarding future demand for aepiadducts. Management has undertaken effortsegiate the reporting unit's UCOS
product with our Master Control Station in our sedsystems business to promote cost and efficiganyngs in our subsea product offering by
utilizing the UCOS® Master Control Station as the standard for corgystem applications in subsea production, procgsaid workover
systems. Management is evaluating the realizalufitjese savings and its effect on the estimatdsaasumptions used in our goodwill
impairment test for automation and control, whickymequire re-evaluation and could result in anampent of goodwill for this reporting

unit.

A downgradein the rating of our debt could restrict our ability to access the capital markets.

Changes in the ratings assigned to our debt magdtrqur access to the debt capital markets. tgatfor our debt fall below investment gre
our access to the debt capital markets could becestdcted. Moreover, our revolving credit agreafriacludes an increase in interest rates if
the ratings for our debt are downgraded, whichadalve an adverse effect on our results of operstin increase in the level of our

indebtedness and related interest costs may ireasvulnerability to adverse general economiciaddstry conditions and may affect our
ability to obtain additional financing.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease our corporate headquarters in HoustorgsT&¥e own or lease numerous properties througheuvorld and consider our producti
facilities to be our principal properties. We opiera4 significant production facilities in 14 cories.

We believe our properties and facilities are suédbr their present and intended purposes and@geating at a level consistent with the
requirements of the industry in which we operate. &k60 believe that our leases are at competitiveasket rates and do not anticipate any
difficulty in leasing suitable additional space apexpiration of our current lease terms.

The following table shows our significant produatiproperties by reporting segment at December @142

Subsea Technologies Surface Technologies Energy Infrastructure
United States
Davis, California Oklahoma City, Oklahoma Corpus Christi, Texas
* Houston, Texas Stephenville, Texas Erie, Pennsylvania

Shingle Springs, California

Internationat

* Aberdeen, Scotland Collecchio, Italy Arnhem, The Netherlands
* Bergen, Norway Edmonton, Canada
* Dunfermline, Scotland Jakarta, Indonesia

Kongsberg, Norway + Sens, France

Luanda, Angola

Macaé, Brazil

* Nusajaya, Malaysia
Port Harcourt, Nigeria

* Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

* Singapore

* Stavanger, Norway
Takoradi, Ghana

*These facilities are production properties in SaFechnologies and Surface Technologies.

+This facility is a production property in Surfa€echnologies and Energy Infrastructure.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various pending or potentiablegctions in the ordinary course of our businktmagement is unable to predict the
ultimate outcome of these actions because of terént uncertainty of litigation. However, managatreelieves that the most probable,

ultimate resolution of these matters will not haveaterial adverse effect on our consolidated firdmposition, results of operations or cash
flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stocklange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “FTI.”

2014 2013
4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr. 4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr.
Common stock price:
High $ 57.0C $ 635 $ 61.8¢ $ 5327 $ 59.3¢ % 58.3t $ 58.7: $ 54.3¢
Low $ 42,75 $ 5421 $ 52.1¢ $ 48.37 $ 47.7¢ 3 523t $ 4850 $ 42.9]
Closing stock price at December 31, 2014 $ 46.8¢
Closing stock price at February 18, 2015 $  42.7¢
Number of common stockholders of record at Febra&ry2015 2,931
We have not declared or paid cash dividends in 2022013, and we do not currently have a plan {oqaesh dividends in the future.
As of December 31, 2014, our securities authorieissuance under equity compensation plans wefell@ws:
Number of Securities Number of Securities
to be Issued Weighted Average Remaining Available
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of for Future Issuance
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, under Equity
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérsld — % — 23,564,89
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers — — —
Total — | $ — 23,564,89
® The table includes shares of our common stock availfor future issuance under the Amended andaResEMC Technologies, Inc. Incentive
Compensation and Stock Plan. This number incluges43910 shares available for issuance for nondesttek awards that vest after December 31,
2014.

We had no unregistered sales of equity securitieisg the year ended December 31, 2014.
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The following table summarizes repurchases of oamraon stock during the three months ended DeceB1hez014.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Maximum
Number of Shares
That May Yet
Be Purchased

of Shares Average Price Announced Plans Under the Plans
Period Purchased (a) Paid per Share or Programs or Programs (b)
October 1, 2014 — October 31, 2014 180,08¢ $ 52.1¢ 179,67¢ 10,319,60
November 1, 2014 — November 30, 2014 384,16: $ 54.81 383,88 9,935,721
December 1, 2014 — December 31, 2014 1,903,320 % 45.9¢ 1,903,09: 8,032,63:
Total 2,46757 ¢ 47.7¢ 2,466,65! 8,032,63;
@ Represents 2,466,655 shares of common stock regeedland held in treasury and 920 shares of comnstook purchased and held in an employee

benefit trust established for the FMC Technolodies, NonQualified Savings and Investment Plan. In additmthese shares purchased on the «
market, we sold 25,910 shares of registered constamk held in this trust, as directed by the beegfies, during the three months ended

December 31, 2014.

® In 2005, we announced a repurchase plan approvediBoard of Directors authorizing the repurchafsep to two million shares of our issued and
outstanding common stock through open market pgeshal he Board of Directors authorized extensidtisi® program, adding five million shares
in February 2006 and eight million shares in Fely@#07 for a total of 15 million shares of comnstack authorized for repurchase. As a result of
the two-for-one stock splits (i) on August 31, 200 authorization was increased to 30 millionrebgand (ii) on March 31, 2011, the authorization
was increased to 60 million shares. In Decembel 2t Board of Directors authorized an extensioouo repurchase program, adding 15 million

shares, for a total of 75 million shares.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables set forth selected financialalof the Company for each of the five years englriod ended December 31, 2014. This
information should be read in conjunction with Raitem 1 “Business,” Part Il, Item 7 “ManagemenbDiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the additensolidated financial statements and notes tiné@reluded in Part Il, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(In millions, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Statement of income data:

Total revenue $ 7,942¢ % 7,126.. $ 6,151« $ 5,099.( $ 4,125.¢
Total costs and expenses $ 6,874.. $ 6,378t $ 5,546.t $ 4536.t $ 3,574.(
Income from continuing operations $ 7052  $ 506.¢ $ 434.¢  $ 403t $ 378.2
Net income attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 699.¢ $ 501.¢ $ 430 $ 399¢ $ 375.F
Earnings per share from continuing operations

attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc.: @

Basic earnings per share $ 29¢ $ 210 $ 1.7¢  $ 166 $ 1.5¢
Diluted earnings per share $ 295 $ 21C $ 1.7¢  $ 16 $ 1.5t
Cash dividends declared $ — $ — % — $ — % —
(In millions)

As of December 31 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Balance sheet data:

Total assets $ 71756 % 6,605.¢ $ 5,902¢ $ 4271 $ 3,644..
Net (debt) cask $ (670.0) $ (9739 $ (1,298.) $ (279.6 $ (47.9)
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 1,297 % 1,329.¢ % 1,580.. $ 36.C $ 351.1
Total FMC Technologies, Inc. stockholders’ equity $ 2,456.. $ 2317 $ 1,836.¢ $ 1,424¢ $ 1,311.°
(In millions)

Years Ended December 31 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Other financial information:

Capital expenditures $ 404.. % 3141 $ 4056 $ 2740 % 112.¢
Cash flows provided by operating activities of

continuing operations $ 892t $ 795.¢ % 1382 $ 164.¢  $ 194.¢
Segment operating capital employ&d $ 3,672, $ 3,610.6 $ 3,572 $ 2,204 $ 1,722.¢
Order backlog” $ 6,619.. $ 6,998.. $ 5377.¢ $ 4876 $ 4,171

1)

)

3)

4)

On February 25, 2011, our Board of Directors appdoa two-for-one stock split of our outstandingrekaf common stock. The stock split was
completed in the form of a stock dividend that vezsied on March 31, 2011. All per share informafpicesented has been adjusted to reflect the
split.

Net (debt) cash consists of cash and cash equtgdkss sho-term debt, long-term debt and the current portiblongterm debt. Net (debt) cash i
non-GAAP measure that management uses to evaluatapital structure and financial leverage. Saquidity and Capital Resources” in Part I,
Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for aditiial discussion of net (debt) cash.

We view segment operating capital employed, whifsists of assets, net of liabilities, as the prinlmeasure of segment capital. Segment oper
capital employed excludes corporate debt facilitied certain investments, pension liabilities, deféand currently payable income taxes andifgst-
first-out (“LIFO”) inventory adjustments. See adalital financial information about segment operatiagital employed in Note 19 to our
consolidated financial statements in Part I, I@wof this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Order backlog is calculated as the estimated saleg of unfilled, confirmed customer orders atitbgorting date
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Overview

We design, manufacture and service technologisalphisticated systems and products for customeheienergy industry. We have
manufacturing operations worldwide, strategicatlydted to facilitate delivery of our products, sys$ and services to our customers. We
report the results of operations in the followirgments: Subsea Technologies, Surface TechnolagiéEnergy Infrastructure. Managemsnt’
determination of the Comparsyteporting segments was made on the basis otmategic priorities and corresponds to the manmevtiich oul
chief operating decision maker reviews and evatuaperating performance to make decisions aboauress to be allocated to the segment.

A description of our products and services and ahfinancial data for each segment can be fourtehirt I, Item 1, “Business” and Note 19 to
our consolidated financial statements in Partiéim 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A diséaesand analysis of our consolidated
results and the results of each of our segmenthéoyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 20a%/$.

We focus on economic and industry-specific driveard key risk factors affecting our business segmasitwe formulate our strategic plans an
make decisions related to allocating capital anddmuresources. The following discussion providesygles of economic and industry factors
and key risks that we consider relevant to ourrmss segments.

The results of our businesses are primarily drivgichanges in capital spending by oil and gas camegawhich largely depend upon current
and anticipated future crude oil and natural gasaiel, production volumes, and consequently, comiypdices. We use crude oil and natural
gas prices as an indicator of demand. Additiona¥y,use rig count as an indicator of demand whaitsequently influences the level of
worldwide production activity and spending decision

Our Subsea Technologies business is primarily efteby trends in deepwater oil and natural gasysroon. Our Surface Technologies
business is primarily affected by trends in landdzhand shallow water oil and natural gas prodogctiwluding trends in shale production.

We also focus on key risk factors when determimingoverall strategy and making decisions for @illocation. These factors include risks
associated with the global economic outlook, prodbsolescence and the competitive environmentatldeess these risks in our business
strategies, which incorporate continuing developneéteading edge technologies and cultivatingregroustomer relationships.

We have developed close working relationships withcustomers. Our Subsea Technologies businagssresflect our ability to build long-
term alliances with oil and natural gas comparties are actively engaged in offshore deepwaterldpireent and to provide solutions for their
needs in a timely and cost-effective manner. Weebelthat by closely working with our customers, evdance our competitive advantage,
improve our operating results and strengthen ouketaoositions. Evaluating our share of subseadvesgrds during the year is one way we
evaluate our market position.

As we evaluate our operating results, we considsinigss segment performance indicators like segregahue, operating profit and capital
employed, in addition to the level of inbound osdand order backlog. A significant proportion of oevenue is recognized under the
percentage of completion method of accounting. Cashipts from such arrangements typically occumisgstones achieved under stated
contract terms. Consequently, the timing of revereeegnition is not always correlated with the timof customer payments. We aim to
structure our contracts to receive advance paynibatave typically use to fund engineering eff@tsl inventory purchases. Working capital
(excluding cash) and net (debt) cash are therddmyeperformance indicators of cash flows.

In each of our segments, we serve customers froomdrthe world. During 2014, approximately 72¥%our total sales were recognized outs
of the United States. We evaluate internationaketarand pursue opportunities that fit our techgiclal capabilities and strategies. Based on
the increasing focus by international oil compamiesieepwater development and production, we rergetied opportunities in West Africa,
Brazil, the North Sea and the Asia-Pacific regienduse of the expected offshore drilling potermtighose regions.
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Business Outlook

Overall OutlookWe operate in the commodity-driven, cyclical oidagas industry. Since the beginning of 2011 and tig fourth quarter of
2014, the industry operated in an environment wharde oil prices largely avoided this cycle witir'WWrude oil prices averaging
approximately $96 per barrel over this period. Withde oil prices at such levels, many discovesiess economical for operators to develop.
During the fourth quarter of 2014, crude oil prisggnificantly declined due to continued growthUrs. oil production, weakened outlooks for
the global economy and continued strong internatiorude oil supply, especially from OPEC’s unexpdaecision to maintain oil production
levels. As a result of the weaker crude oil pringienment, many crude oil development prospeasalare becoming less economical for
many operators, leading to an expected downtudemand for our products and services and an owgealker demand for oilfield services.
While the downturn we now face in our industryigngficant, we believe the predominantly supplywer, current market imbalance will
undergo the corrective measures necessary foettowery of commodity prices in the long term. Alilgh the timing of the recovery of crude
oil prices is dependent on many variables, we belés long-term demand rises and production n&utatlines, commodity prices will
recover and our customers will begin to increasé thvestments in new sources of oil productionr @nproved execution in 2014 has set the
stage for us to overcome the challenges in thesinglin 2015, and while certain reductions to oeadicount in the coming year are necessary
to protect our profitability, the measures we expedake will align with our long-term growth stegjies.

Subsea Technologieall of our businesses will be negatively affectgdthe decline in crude oil prices, but the timinij e different for eact
Our 2014 subsea order activity, specifically during fourth quarter related to Chevron’s Agbamideha project, Eni's Block 15/06 East Hub
development and WintershalMaria, led to another year of strong subsea grbjgcklog as of December 31, 2014. However, intiga to the
decline in crude oil prices, many of our custonfege announced reductions to their capital spendi2g15, and we are preparing for the
anticipated slowing of subsea orders in the corggry. We expect subsea revenue in 2015 to bevaiafiat when compared to 2014 in large
part from our conversion of existing backlog, i offset by lower 2015 inbound expectations #mlimpact of a strong U.S. dollar. Our
focus in the coming year will concentrate on legarg our global capabilities and reducing operatiogts. In the long-term, we continue to
believe deepwater development will remain a sigaiit part of our customers’ portfolios. A critigadrt of our long-term strategy to maintain
our subsea market leadership is to continue tosinmethe technologies required to develop ouramasts’ challenging assets and further
expand our capabilities focused on increasing veseproduction over the life of the field. Howeygiven the critical need to reduce costs
the short-term, we are focused on offering costatife approaches to our customers’ project devedoys, including customer acceptance of
new technologies and acceptance of business midieddp achieve their cost-reduction goals. Pathisfstrategy includes standardization of
subsea production equipment as operators undersgtarabst and scheduling benefits that standaidizatings to their projects.

Given the recent decline in crude oil prices araldhapital budget reductions by our customers, vpeeithat growth related to subsea services
in 2015 to be relatively flat when compared to 2(Hdwever, we continue to focus on subsea proogssid subsea services as key long-term
growth platforms so that we can expand our rol&f@®f-field partners with our customers by lowsgitheir costs and improving their
recovery. When crude oil prices recover to levietd support economic field development and thealveil and gas market recovers, opera
will continue to seek ways to reduce costs assediaith developing their deepwater assets, andelieve our continued focus on subsea
processing and subsea services, particularly iresuboosting and well intervention solutions, Wélcritical parts of our continued growth and
success. Overall, we continue to seek ways to &@eeour capacity investments, our talent, and veradl cost structure to drive improvement
in our execution and our financial results in thening year.

Surface Technologie¥he improved operational results we realized ind2@gre the result of North American surface tecbgigs orders
recovering from the slowdown that began in 2012 thiadl continued into mid 2013. However, providee tacent decline in commodity prices,
and consequently, the decline in rig counts, wepagparing for decreased North American land agtivi 2015, which will affect our surface
wellhead, fluid control and completion servicesibasses in North America. Absent a recovery oloil gas prices in the second half of 2015
we believe that commodity prices in 2016 may be latvel to allow recovery in North American actyitn 2015 we expect to continue efforts
to integrate our North American surface wellhead eompletion services businesses to strengthematket presence and service offerings
which we believe will bring increased value to customers. Our international surface wellhead massirelivered strong operational results
from continued strength in international market2@14, and we expect this strength to continueditb2as a result of our strong international
surface wellhead backlog.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In millions, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Revenue $ 7,942¢ $ 7,126 $ 6,151« $ 816. 11% $ 974.¢ 16%
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 5,999.¢ 5,571. 4,832.¢ 428.¢ 8 738.t 15

Selling, general and administrative

expense 750.¢ 694.¢ 596.¢ 55.¢ 8 97.¢ 16

Research and development expense 123.7 112.¢ 116.¢ 11.z 10 (4.9) (4)

Total costs and expenses 6,874.. 6,378.¢ 5,546.¢ 495 8 832.( 15

Gain on sale of Material Handling Product 84.2 — — 84.2 * — *
Other income (expense), net (54.0 5.3 23.C (59.9 * (17.9) *
Net interest expense (32.5) (33.9) (26.6) 1.2 4 (7.3 27)
Income before income taxes 1,066.: 719.2 601.2 347.1 48 118.( 20
Provision for income taxes 361.( 212.¢ 166.4 148.4 70 46.2 28
Net income 705.% 506.€ 434.¢ 198.7 39 71.€ 17
Less: net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests (5.9 (5.2 (4.9) (0.2 (4) (0.9 (8)
Net income attributable to FMC
Techno|ogies, Inc. $ 699.¢ % 501« % 430.C $ 198.t 40% $ 71.4 17%

*Not meaningful
2014 Compared With 2013

Revenue increased by $816.4 million in 2014 congbérehe prior year. Revenue in 2014 included a8%2nillion unfavorable impact of
foreign currency translation. Excluding the impatforeign currency translation, total revenue @ased by $1,034.8 million year-over-year.
Subsea systems and services had another solidfyeater activity in 2014. The impact of higher klag coming into 2014, combined with
strong market activity, led to increased Subsediielogies sales year-over-year. Surface Technaqupsted higher revenue in 2014 due to
conventional wellhead system sales in our surfaglthead business in both domestic and internatioraakets and due to increased sales it
fluid control business as demand for our well sspumps and flowline products recovered from tbedown of the North American shale
markets experienced in the prior year.

Gross profit (revenue less cost of sales) increasealpercentage of sales to 24.5% in 2014 fro8221n the prior year. The increase in gross
profit as a percentage of sales was primarily duggher margin backlog conversion in our WesteegiBn subsea business, higher volumes i
subsea services across all regions and the renesasar of the Multi Phase Meters earn-out consiaeran 2013, partially offset by additional
contract value in 2013 related to an Angolan withny tax adjustment. Additionally, gross profit@apercentage of revenue increased as a
result of higher volumes and higher margin projatthe Middle East and Europe surface wellheagregand due to increased demand for
our well service pumps and flowline products in fluid control business.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expengscreased by $55.8 million year-over-year, dribbgrhigher project tendering costs and
reorganization expenses in our subsea businessas®d sales commissions, costs associated witingting a representative agreement in
surface wellhead business and bonus accruals.

During 2014 we recognized a net $84.3 million gairthe sale of our Material Handling Products besin Further information of the sale is
incorporated herein by reference from Note 5 toamnsolidated financial statements included in Raltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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Other income (expense), net, reflected a $33.4amilbss related to the remeasurement of an intepamy foreign currency transaction and
other foreign currency losses primarily due tosgtrengthening of the U.S. dollar in 2014. Furthiscdssion of our derivative instruments is
incorporated herein by reference from Note 15 tocmunsolidated financial statements included irt Raltem 8 of this Annual Report on Fot
10-K.

Our provision for income taxes reflected an effextax rate of 34.0% and 29.8% in 2014 and 20Xkpeetively. Excluding a retroactive
benefit related to the American Taxpayer Relief 8icR012 recorded in the first quarter of 2013, effiective tax rate was 30.7% in 2013. The
increase in our effective tax rate in 2014 fromdld@isted rate in 2013 was primarily due changééarwegian tax law effective from 2014 ¢
an unfavorable change in mix of earnings. Our ¢iffedax rate can fluctuate depending on our cqumix of earnings, since our foreign
earnings are generally subject to lower tax rdias in the United States. In certain jurisdictigmémarily Singapore and Malaysia, our tax rate
is significantly less than the relevant statut@terdue to tax holidays which are set to expirer&018 and 2015, respectively. The difference
between the effective tax rate and the statutoB €&deral income tax rate primarily related tdetihg foreign and state tax rates.

2013 Compared With 2012

Revenue increased by $974.8 million in 2013 contpbéwehe prior year and reflected revenue growtallineporting segments. Revenue in
2013 included a $136.8 million unfavorable impaiiooeign currency translation. Excluding the impatforeign currency translation, total
revenue increased by $1,111.6 million year-oxear. Subsea systems and services had anotheg gganof order activity in 2013. The imp
of the higher backlog coming into 2013, combinethwobust market activity, led to increased Sulisszhnologies sales year-over-year.
Additionally, revenue increased year-over-year essalt of our acquisition of the remaining 55%&ehilling Robotics during the second
quarter of 2012. Surface Technologies posted highemue in 2013 as a result of our acquisitioawsfcompletion service business in the
fourth quarter of 2012 and higher conventional edld system sales in our surface wellhead busiméiss Middle East and Europe regions.

Gross profit (revenue less cost of sales) increasalpercentage of sales to 21.8% in 2013 frodPR1n the prior year. The increase in gross
profit as a percentage of sales was primarily duadreased utilization and efficiency of enginegriesources in our Western Region subsea
business, improved performance in our subsea ssriigsiness, additional subsea contract valuelid &flated to an Angolan withholding tax
adjustment, a larger remeasurement of the MultsPi\eters contingent earn-out consideration in 2Dit2eased sales volumes and
profitability in our Schilling Robotics businesschforeign exchange gains recognized in 2013, gdbribffset by charges taken on the
ExxonMobil Hibernia Southern Extension project ur subsea business and the slowdown in the Nortarisan shale markets, primarily frc

a lack of capacity expansion, which lowered denfandur well service pumps and flowline products.

SG&A expense increased by $97.9 million year-owvesiry driven by higher bid and proposal expensegeased sales commissions and
additional staffing to support subsea service dmera in our subsea systems business, the fullipgaaict of SG&A expense as the result of
acquisition of our completion services businesthéfourth quarter of 2012, and increased salesrissions in our surface wellhead business

Other income (expense), net, reflected a $20.0amityain related to the fair valuation of our pasly held equity interest in Schilling
Robotics during 2012 and $1.7 million and $1.4 iwrillof gains related to the remeasurement of foreigrency exposures in 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Further discussion of our derivativéruments is incorporated herein by referencenfidote 15 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this AahBeport on Form 10-K.

Our provision for income taxes reflected an effectax rate of 29.8% in 2013. Excluding a chardated to withholding taxes in Angola, our
effective tax rate was 26.7% in 2013. In 2012, eftective tax rate was 28.0%. The decrease in fiectéve tax rate from 2012 to the adjusted
rate in 2013 was primarily due to a more favorabie of earnings. Our effective tax rate can fluétudepending on our country mix of
earnings, since our foreign earnings are genesalbject to lower tax rates than in the United Stdte certain jurisdictions, primarily Singap:
and Malaysia, our tax rate is significantly lesarthhe relevant statutory rate due to tax holidelyieh are set to expire after 2018 and 2015,
respectively. The difference between the effediiverate and the statutory U.S. federal incomeabex primarily related to differing foreign a
state tax rates.
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Operating Results of Business Segments

Segment operating profit is defined as total segmearenue less segment operating expenses. Tloaiof items have been excluded in
computing segment operating profit: corporate staffense, net interest income (expense) assosidgttedorporate debt facilities, income
taxes, and other revenue and other expense, fatmiation about amounts included in corporate ité&snscorporated herein by reference from
Note 19 to our consolidated financial statementiiged in Part I, Item 8 of this Annual Reportieorm 1(-K.

The following table summarizes our operating resfdt the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 @2t 2

Year Ended December 31, Favorable/(Unfavorable)
(In millions, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Revenue
Subsea Technologies $ 5266« $ 4,726¢ $ 4,006& $  539. 11% $ 720.1 18%
Surface Technologies 2,130.° 1,806.¢ 1,598.: 323.¢ 18 208. 13
Energy Infrastructure 557. 617.2 574.1 (59.9) (10) 43.1 8
Other revenue and intercompany eliminations (11.9 (24.9) (27.6€) 12.¢ = 2.8 &
Total revenue $ 7942¢ $ 7,126.. $ 6,151 $ 816. 11% $  974.¢ 16%
Net income
Segment operating profit:
Subsea Technologies $ 7482 $ 54872 $ 4322 $  200.( 36% $ 116.C 27%
Surface Technologies 393.( 257.2 284.: 135.¢ 53 (27.7) (20)
Energy Infrastructure 52.t 74.5 68.2 (21.9) (29) 6.1 9
Intercompany eliminations 0.3 (0.2 — (0.2 * (0.7 *
Total segment operating profit 1,193.. 879.¢ 784.1 313.¢ 36 94.¢ 12
Corporate items:
Corporate expense (66.%) (46.9) (41.9) (20.0 (43) (4.5 (11)
Other revenue and other (expense), net (33.9) (85.6) (119.9 51.¢ 61 34.: 29
Net interest expense (32.5) (33.9) (26.€) 1.2 4 (7.7 27)
Total corporate items (132.5) (165.6 (188.9) 33.1 20 22.7 12
Income before income taxes 1,060.¢ 714.( 596.¢ 346.¢ 49 117.€ 20
Provision for income taxes 361.( 212.¢ 166. (148.9 (70) (46.2) (28)
Net income attributable to FMC Technologies,
Inc. $ 699¢ $ 501z $ 430 $ 198¢t 40% $ 71.4 17%

*Not meaningful

We report our results of operations in U.S. dojlaswvever, our earnings are generated in variougcoies worldwide. For example, we
generate a significant amount of revenue, and iagignificant amount of costs, in Norwegian kroBegzilian real, Singapore dollar,
Malaysian ringgit, British pound, Angolan new kwarend the euro. The earnings of subsidiaries fonictg in their local currencies are
translated into U.S. dollars based upon the avesagleange rate during the period, in order to glewrorldwide consolidated results. While
the U.S. dollar results reported reflect the acteainomics of the period reported upon, the vaegarfiom prior periods include the impact of
translating earnings at different rates.
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Subsea Technologies
2014 Compared With 2013

Subsea Technologies’ revenue increased $539.5mitli 2014 compared to the prior year. Revenu@@d# included a $178.5 million
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translatiBrcluding the impact of foreign currency trangatiSubsea Technologies’ revenue
increased by $718.0 million during 2014 comparethéoprior year. We entered the year with a stioeklog. During the first half of 2014,
high crude oil prices led to solid oil and gas exation and production activity when compared ® phior year; however, a decline in oil pri
that began in mid-2014 and which significantly fhent declined in the fourth quarter of 2014 has vafably affected the subsea market.
Despite the late 2014 decline in crude oil priees had solid order activity during 2014 from higénthnd for subsea systems and services. T
yearover-year increase in revenue was attributabtbeéaconversion of backlog and solid order actiuit014.

Subsea Technologies’ operating profit totaled $Z48illion, or 14.2% of revenue, in 2014, comparedhe prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 11.6%. The margin impr@regiwas primarily driven by our Western Region sahblsusiness from higher margin
project backlog conversion and higher volumes lsssa services, particularly in the Gulf of Mexipartially offset by additional contract
value in 2013 related to an Angolan withholding éalfustment.

Foreign currency translation unfavorably impactpdrating profit in 2014 by $24.9 million comparedte prior year.
2013 Compared With 2012

Subsea Technologies’ revenue increased $720.Jomiti 2013 compared to the prior year. Revenu@®d3 included a $129.1 million
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translatiBrcluding the impact of foreign currency trangatiSubsea Technologies’ revenue
increased by $849.2 million during 2013 comparethéoprior year. With continued high crude oil ps¢oil and gas exploration and
production activity increased in 2013 when compacetthe prior year, as evidenced by increased spgry oil and gas companies. This le
a stronger market for subsea products and serw¢esntered the year with a strong backlog andirmoad to have solid order activity during
2013 from high demand for subsea systems. Thegwesaryear increase in revenue was attributablagabnversion of backlog, combined
with strong order activity in 2013. The revenuer@ase in 2013 was also due in part to our acquisdf the remaining 55% of Schilling
Robotics in the second quarter of 2012.

Subsea Technologies’ operating profit totaled $348illion, or 11.6% of revenue, in 2013, comparedhe prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 10.8%. The margin impr@regiwas primarily driven by our subsea systemsnassi from increased utilization and
efficiency of engineering resources in our Weskegion business, improved results in our subsedcsdousiness, additional contract value ir
2013 related to an Angolan withholding tax adjusttmiewer overall research and development expessédiquidated damage charges
recognized in 2012 in Brazil, partially offset byacges taken on the ExxonMobil Hibernia Southerte&sion project. This increase was
partially offset by the recognition of the gain @ previously held equity interest in Schillingtiaics in 2012.

Foreign currency translation unfavorably impactpdrating profit in 2013 by $14.6 million comparedte prior year.
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Surface Technologies
2014 Compared With 2013

Surface Technologies’ revenue increased $323.%omilh 2014 compared to the prior year. The revanaeease was driven by international
growth in our surface wellhead business, primarnilthe Middle East and Europe regions. Additional@venue in North America increased as
the North American shale markets had higher agtiwdmpared to the prior year which drove additiaterhand for our well service pumps anc
flowline products in our fluid control business asutface wellhead products and services. Foreigreiecy translation unfavorably impacted
revenue by $35.9 million in 2014 compared to therprear.

Surface Technologies’ operating profit totaled $89aillion, or 18.4% of revenue, in 2014, compat@the prior-year's operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 14.2%. The margin imprargrwas primarily driven by the following:

. Surface Wellhead - 2.5 percentage point increaseto higher volumes and higher margin projecthé Middle East and Europe
regions; and

. Fluid Control - 1.7 percentage point increase tluincreased demand for our well service pumpsflawline products resulting from
the improved North American shale markets in 2014.

2013 Compared With 2012

Surface Technologies’ revenue increased $208.Tomilh 2013 compared to the prior year. The revanagease was driven by the acquisition
of our completion service business in the fourthrtgr of 2012 and our surface wellhead businefsiMiddle East and Europe regions due tc
conventional wellhead system sales. These increesespartially offset by a decrease in revenusuinfluid control business resulting from
the slowdown of the North American shale marketgtvihave decreased demand for our well service guangd flowline products. Foreign
currency translation unfavorably impacted revenu&hl.9 million in 2013 compared to the prior year.

Surface Technologies’ operating profit totaled $257illion, or 14.2% of revenue, in 2013, compat@the prior-year's operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 17.8%. The margin dealaxe primarily driven by the following:

. Fluid Control - 2.2 percentage point decreasetdithe slowdown in the North American shale mekerimarily from a lack of
capacity expansion, which lowered demand for odt sezvice pumps and flowline products;

. Completion Services - 1.8 percentage point gemrelue to the inclusion of our completion serbigginess and lower activity in the
Canadian market which impacted results; and

. Surface Wellhead0.5 percentage point increase due to strong salemweentional wellhead systems in the Middle East Europe

29




Energy Infrastructure
2014 Compared With 2013

Energy Infrastructure’s revenue decreased $59I&omih 2014 compared to the prior year. The deseda revenue was due to the sale of our
Material Handling Products business in the secaradtgr of 2014. Foreign currency translation unfatty impacted revenue by $4.1 million
in 2014 compared to the prior year.

Energy Infrastructure’s operating profit totaled$million, or 9.4% of revenue, in 2014, compatethe prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 12.0%. The margin dealaxe primarily driven by the following:

. Automation and Control2.0 percentage point decrease due to lower salemes and the execution of lower margin projeats

. Material Handling - 1.1 percentage point deceedige to the sale of our Material Handling Prodbeisiness in the second quarter of
2014.

2013 Compared With 2012

Energy Infrastructure’s revenue increased $43.lianiln 2013 compared to the prior year. The insee revenue was led by our
measurement solutions business due to the streffitbrth American oil and gas custody and contativity and progress on a loading
systems project with Technip for Shell's Preludealepment. Foreign currency translation favorabiypacted revenue by $4.2 million in 2013
compared to the prior year.

Energy Infrastructure’s operating profit totaledt$& million, or 12.0% of revenue, in 2013, compat@the prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 11.9%. The margin impr@rgrwas primarily driven by the following:

. Separation Systemd$):6 percentage point increase due to higher salesnes and cost reduction efforts in SG&A;

. Measurement Solutiong):7 percentage point decrease due to higher oveidusds related to growth initiativ
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Corporate Items
2014 Compared With 2013

Our corporate items reduced earnings by $132.%amiih 2014, compared to $165.6 million in 2013eTfear-over-year decrease primarily
reflected the following:

. favorable variance related to the gain on saleuofaterial Handling Products business of $84.3iomj
. favorable variance related to the remeasureofahie Multi Phase Meters eaout consideration of $25.1 millic
. unfavorable variance in foreign currency, primargjated to an intercompany foreign currency 10§§59.9 million; and &

. unfavorable variance related to higher corpora#f sikpenses, primarily from increased bonus adsrad $20.0 million

2013 Compared With 2012

Our corporate items reduced earnings by $165.6amiih 2013, compared to $188.3 million in 2012eMear-over-year decrease primarily
reflected the following:

. favorable variance in foreign currency of $21.5lianil;
. favorable variance related to the remeasurewifethe Multi Phase Meters contingent eaut-consideration of $13.2 millic

. unfavorable variance related to stock-based emsgtion expense, primarily from the acceleratetirvg of awards for retirement
eligible grantees, of $13.6 million; and an

. unfavorable variance related to higher intereseagp of $7.1 milliol
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Inbound Orders and Order Backlog

Inbound orders represent the estimated sales vhleenfirmed customer orders received during tip@reéng period.

Inbound Orders
Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013

Subsea Technologies $ 5547.. $ 6,510.:
Surface Technologies 2,070. 2,049.:
Energy Infrastructure 473.3 605.7
Intercompany eliminations and other (6.2 (44.9
Total inbound orders $ 8,084.t $ 9,120.°

Order backlog is calculated as the estimated salkee of unfilled, confirmed customer orders atitgorting date. Translation negatively
affected backlog by $520.8 million and $374.1 raiilifor the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2843ectively.

Order Backlog
December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013

Subsea Technologies $ 5793.. $ 5,988.¢
Surface Technologies 654.2 742.¢
Energy Infrastructure 187.( 288.¢
Intercompany eliminations (14.9 (21.9
Total order backlog $ 6,619.. $ 6,998.:

Order backlog for Subsea Technologies at Decembe2®L4, decreased by $195.7 million compared webwer 31, 2013, primarily due to
the negative impact of foreign exchange translatBubsea Technologies backlog of $5.8 billion atédeber 31, 2014, was composed of
various subsea projects, including BP’s Mad Dogselaand Shah Deniz Stage 2; Chevron’s Aghami; Gi¥nationals Baobab Field Pha
3; Eni’'s Block 15/06 East Hub and Jangkrik; Exxorils Julia; Petrobras’ tree frame agreement amdgait tree and manifold award;
Statoil's Snorre B Platform Workover System; Tatdfdradour and Egina; Tullow Ghana’s TEN; and Wsftall's Maria. We expect to
convert approximately 50% to 55% of December 31428acklog into revenue during 2015.

Order backlog for Surface Technologies at DeceritheR014 decreased by $88.2 million compared teebder 31, 2013. The decrease was
due to high conversion of backlog in the Middle tzawd the negative impact of foreign exchange tadias.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Substantially all of our cash balances are heldideatthe United States and are generally used &b tihe liquidity needs of our non-U.S.
operations. Most of our cash held outside the ldn8tates could be repatriated to the United Sthtegsjnder current law, any such repatriatior
would be subject to U.S. federal income tax, asstdf for applicable foreign tax credits. We hanevjgled for U.S. federal income taxes on
undistributed foreign earnings where we have detexththat such earnings are not indefinitely rested.

We expect to meet the continuing funding requiretmiehour U.S. operations with cash generated bk &§uS. operations, cash from earnings
generated by non-U.S. operations that are notiimitidfy reinvested and our existing revolving ctddcility. If cash held by non-U.S.
operations is required for funding operations i thnited States, and if U.S. tax has not previobskn provided on the earnings of such
operations, we would make a provision for additld&. tax in connection with repatriating this lsaghich may be material to our cash flows
and results of operations.

Net debt, or net cash, is a -GAAP measure reflecting cash and cash equivalaptf debt. Management uses this non-GAAP medsure
evaluate our capital structure and financial legerdVe believe net debt, or net cash, is a meauningfasure that will assist investors in
understanding our results and recognizing undeglyiends. Net (debt) cash should not be considesexh alternative to, or more meaningful
than, cash and cash equivalents as determineaddmdsnce with GAAP or as an indicator of our ogapperformance or liquidity.

The following is a reconciliation of our cash ara$le equivalents to net (debt) cash for the perpodsented.

December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 638.6 $ 399.1
Short-term debt and current portion of long-terrbtde (12.9) (42.5)
Long-term debt, less current portion (1,297.9) (1,329.9)
Net debt $ (670.0) $ (973.7)

The change in our net debt position was primarilg tb cash generated from operating activities finigher income from operations, partially
offset by changes in our working capital positipayments for capital expenditures and increasegury stock purchases.

Cash flows for each of the years in the three-peaiod ended December 31, 2014, were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012

Cash provided by operating activities $ 892t $ 795.¢. % 138.4

Cash required by investing activities (285.)) (311.¢) (1,019.9

Cash provided (required) by financing activities (355.9 (422.9) 881.

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiagmnts (12.9) (4.5 (1.8
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 239.7 % 57.C $ 1.9
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Operating Cash Flows

During 2014, we generated $892.5 million in casiwd from operating activities, which representé®@.1 million increase compared to the
prior year. Our cash flows from operating activstina 2013 were $657.0 million higher than 2012. Yhar-over-year increase in 2014 was due
to higher income during the year, partially offegta negative change in our working capital positioiven by our portfolio of projects
resulting from significant advance payments readivethe prior year. The year-over-year increas20ih3 was due to a betterment in our
working capital position driven by our portfolio pfojects and higher income during the year. Theraiwmement in our working capital position
was primarily the result of significant advance p@&ynts and progress billings on projects in 2013pamed to 2012. Our working capital
balances can vary significantly depending on therpt terms and timing on key contracts.

Investing Cash Flows

Our cash requirements for investing activities @12 were $285.1 million, primarily reflecting casgiquired by our capital expenditure prog
of $404.4 million during 2014 related to continiadestments in capacity expansion and service asgettments primarily in our Subsea
Technologies segment, partially offset by $105.Bioni of proceeds related to the sale of our Matddandling Products business in the sec
quarter of 2014.

Our cash requirements for investing activities @12 were $311.6 million, primarily reflecting casiquired by our capital expenditure prog
of $314.1 million during 2013 related to continuadestments in capacity expansion and service asgettments primarily in our Subsea
Technologies segment.

Our cash requirements for investing activities@12 were $1,019.9 million, primarily reflecting baquired by our acquisitions of the
remaining 55% of Schilling Robotics, 100% of PuresEyy and 100% of CSI which amounted to $615.5i@nil/lnet of cash acquired.
Additionally, our capital expenditure program regdi cash of $405.6 million during 2012 relateddattued investments in capacity
expansion, tooling, rental tools and equipment aggs.

Financing Cash Flows

Cash required by financing activities was $355.4ioniin 2014. The decrease in cash required frovarfcing activities from the prior year w
driven by higher payments to reduce our commepagkr position in 2013, payment of our outstandlialggnce under our revolving credit
facility in 2013, partially offset by increased pbases of treasury stock during 2014.

Cash required by financing activities was $422.Bioniin 2013. The decrease in cash provided frorarfcing activities from the prior year
was driven by the public offering of $800.0 milliaggregate principal amount of our senior notdsitd capital expenditures, acquisitions anc
working capital needs in 2012 and a net decreasaricommercial paper position in 2013 compared net increase in commercial paper in
2012.

Debt and Liquidity

Total borrowings at December 31, 2014 and 2013 peim@d the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Revolving credit facility $ —  $ —
Commercial paper 469.] 501.
2.00% Notes due 2017 299.¢ 299.t
3.45% Notes due 2022 499.7 499.¢
Term loan 22.¢ 25.¢
Foreign uncommitted credit facilities 7.6 31.¢€
Property financing 9.7 13.¢
Total borrowings $ 1,308.¢ $ 1,372..
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Credit Facility -On March 26, 2012, we entered into a new $1.5dnillievolving credit agreement (“credit agreemewntith JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The creditegment is a five-year, revolving credit facilitypésing in March 2017. Subject to certain
conditions, at our request and with the approvahefAdministrative Agent, the aggregate commitreemtder the credit agreement may be
increased by an additional $500.0 million.

Borrowings under the credit agreement bear interieatbase rate or the London interbank offeresl faiBOR”), at our option, plus an
applicable margin. Depending on our total levenag®, the applicable margin for revolving loansiea (i) in the case of LIBOR loans, from
1.125% to 1.750% and (ii) in the case of baseloaes, from 0.125% to 0.750%. The base rate iidpeest of (1) the prime rate announced b
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., (2) the Federal Funds flas 0.5% or (3) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0%.

In connection with the credit agreement, we terteidand repaid all outstanding amounts under cvigusly existing $600.0 million five-
year revolving credit agreement and our $350.0ianilthre«-year revolving credit agreement.
The following is a summary of our revolving crefditility at December 31, 2014:

Commercial
Paper
(In millions) Debt Outstanding Letters Unused
Description Amount Outstanding (a) of Credit Capacity Maturity
Five-year revolving credit
facility $ 1,500.C $ — % 469.1 $ — % 1,030.¢ March 2017
@ Under our commercial paper program, we have tHéatn access up to $1.0 billion of financing thgh our commercial paper dealers. Our

available capacity under our revolving revolvingdit facility is reduced by any outstanding comnangaper.

Committed credit available under our revolving dréakility provides the ability to issue our comroil paper obligations on a long-term
basis. We had $469.1 million of commercial papsuésl under our facility at December 31, 2014. Adw both the ability and intent to
refinance these obligations on a long-term basiscommercial paper borrowings were classifiecbagiterm in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2014.

Among other restrictions, the terms of the credieament include negative covenants related te kenl a financial covenant related to our
debt-to-earnings ratio. As of December 31, 2014yweee in compliance with all restrictive covenamtsler our revolving credit facility.

Senior Notes ©n September 21, 2012, we completed the publicinffeof $300.0 million aggregate principal amouh2d0% senior notes
due October 2017 and $500.0 million aggregate jpai@amount of 3.45% senior notes due October Z68%ectively, the “Senior Notes”).
Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-ahnunairrears on April 1 and October 1 of each ybaginning April 1, 2013. Net proceeds
from the offering of $793.8 million were used foetrepayment of outstanding commercial paper atebitedness under our revolving credit
facility. Additional information about the Seniool¢s is incorporated herein by reference from N6téo our consolidated financial statement:
included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report Borm 10-K.
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Outlook for 2015

Historically, we have generated our liquidity arapital resources primarily through operations aviien needed, through our credit facility.
We have $1,030.9 million in capacity available undler revolving credit facility that we expect tblize if working capital needs temporarily
increase in response to market demand. The vbfatilicredit, equity and commodity markets crea@sie uncertainty for our businesses.
However, management believes, based on our cdimanicial condition, existing backlog levels andremt expectations for future market
conditions, that we will continue to meet our shartd long-term liquidity needs with a combinatifrcash on hand, cash generated from
operations and access to capital markets. Altheugyiwvill continue to reach payment milestones onyrafrour projects, we expect our
consolidated operating cash flow position in 204Slightly decrease as a result of the negativeaghghe decline in commaodity prices will
have on our overall business.

We expect to make contributions of approximatel§.9Imillionto our international pension plans during 2015.uattontribution amounts &
dependent upon plan investment returns, changasrision obligations, regulatory environments ameioeconomic factors. We update our
pension estimates annually or more frequently uperoccurrence of significant events. Additionallig expect to make contributions of
approximately $4.0 million to our U.S. Non-Qualdi®efined Benefit Pension Plan during 2015.

We project spending approximately $300 million 018 for capital expenditures, largely towards auwgh of our subsea service offerings.
During the second quarter of 2015, we expect tatrerost of the $10 million withheld purchase prie¢ated to the acquisition of our

automation and control business. Additional infotiorais incorporated herein by reference from Nbte our consolidated financial stateme
included in Part I, Item 8 of this Annual Report Borm 10K. Further, we expect to continue our stock repasels authorized by our Board
Directors, with the timing and amounts of thesaurepases dependent upon market conditions andlitgyuhowever, we expect to repurchase
approximately $100 million of common stock durin@ls.

We continue to evaluate acquisitions, divestitaned joint ventures that meet our strategic priesitiOur intent is to maintain a level of
financing sufficient to meet these objectives.
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Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obtigns at December 31, 2014:

Payments Due by Period

(In millions) Total Less than 1-3 3-5 After 5
Contractual obligations payments 1 year years years years
Long-term debf® $ 1,301.C $ 3. % 797.4 01 $ 499.7
Short-term debt 7.6 7.6 — — —
Interest on long-term delst 156.( 23.2 46.5 34.5 51.7
Operating lease® 647.7 108.¢ 155.¢ 100.¢ 282.¢
Purchase obligatior@ 1,344 1,216.( 128.¢ — —
E)ensmn and other post-retirement benefits 15.¢ 15.¢ . . .
Unrecognized tax benefif® 41.C 41.C — — —
Total contractual obligations $ 3,514( $ 1,416 $ 1,128.( 135  $ 833.¢
@ Our available long-term debt is dependent uporcourpliance with covenants, including negative ceves related to liens, and a financial covenan

related to our debt-to-earnings ratio. Any violataf covenants or other events of default, whigrat waived or cured, or changes in our credit

rating could have a material impact on our abiiitynaintain our committed financing arrangements.

Only interest on our Senior Notes is included iatidble. During 2014, we paid $31.6 million forarest charges, net of interest capitalized.

® During 2014 we entered into construction and ojregdease agreements to finance the constructionasfufacturing and office facilities on land

purchased in 2012 and located in Houston, TX. Ugpiration of the lease term in September 2021hawe the option to renew the lease, purchase

the facilities or re-market the facilities on bdhaflthe lessor, including certain guarantees sideal value under the re-marketing option.

© In the normal course of business, we enter intee@gents with our suppliers to purchase raw maseoiaservices. These agreements include a

requirement that our supplier provide productsesvises to our specifications and require us toerakrm purchase commitment to our supplier. As
substantially all of these commitments are assediaith purchases made to fulfill our customersless, the costs associated with these agreement
will ultimately be reflected in cost of sales orr gonsolidated statements of income.

@ We expect to contribute approximately $15.9 milltorour international pension plans, representimgarily the U.K. and Norway qualified pension
plans, in 2015. Required contributions for futueags depend on factors that cannot be determirtbésaime. Additionally, we expect to contribute

$4.0 million to our U.S. Non-Qualified Defined Béinéension Plan in 2015.

© It is reasonably possible that $41.0 million oblldies for unrecognized tax benefits will be ssdtduring 2015, and this amount is reflected in

income taxes payable in our consolidated balaneetsis of December 31, 2014. Although unrecogrteetbenefits are not contractual obligations,
they are presented in this table because theysepreemands on our liquidity.
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Other Off -Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following is a summary of other off-balanceath@rangements at December 31, 2014:

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

(In millions) Total Less than 1-3 3-5 After 5
Other off-balance sheet arrangements amount 1 year years years years
Letters of credit and bank guarantées  $ 812.¢ % 358.t $ 260.2 $ 134 $ 58.¢
Surety bond§’ 1.€ 1.€ — — —
Third party guarante€® 20.C — 20.C — —
Total other off-balance sheet arrangemergts 833.¢ $ 360z $ 280« $ 134  $ 58.¢

@ As collateral for our performance on certain salastracts or as part of our agreements with insir@ompanies, we are liable under letters of ¢r

surety bonds and other bank guarantees. In ordstsin these financial instruments, we pay feest@us financial institutions in amounts
competitively determined in the marketplace. Odulitglio generate revenue from certain contractdapendent upon our ability to obtain these off-
balance sheet financial instruments. These offrza@aheet financial instruments may be renewedseaé\wr released based on changes in the
underlying commitment. Historically, our commeraammitments have not been drawn upon to a matexteht; consequently, management

believes it is not likely there will be claims agsti these commitments that will have a negativeathpn our key financial ratios or our ability to
obtain financing.

®) In August 2014 FMC Technologies entered into aaregement to jointly guarantee the debt obligatiomder a revolving credit facility of FMC

Technologies Offshore, LLC (“FTO Services”), ouinjoventure with Edison Chouest Offshore LLC. Imf@tion regarding our guarantee is
incorporated herein by reference from Note 18 tocomsolidated financial statements included irt Raltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form X0-
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequires management to make certain
estimates, judgments and assumptions about furergsthat affect the reported amounts of assetdianilities at the date of the financial
statements, the reported amounts of revenue arehs&p during the periods presented and the releldsures in the accompanying notes tc
the financial statements. Management has revielesktcritical accounting estimates with the Auditrinittee of our Board of Directors. We
believe the following critical accounting estimatesed in preparing our financial statements addikésportant accounting areas where the
nature of the estimates or assumptions is magulo the levels of subjectivity and judgment 8segy to account for highly uncertain mat

or the susceptibility of such matters to change. [Sete 1 to our consolidated financial statemamthided in Part I, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for a description of our sigraht accounting policies.

Percentage of Completion Method of Accounting

We recognize revenue on construction-type manufiactyrojects using the percentage of completiothoek of accounting whereby revenue
is recognized as work progresses on each confiriaete are several acceptable methods under U.8rajgnaccepted accounting principles of
measuring progress toward completion. Most freduewe use the ratio of costs incurred to datetaltestimated contract costs at completior
to measure progress toward completion.

We execute contracts with our customers that glei$cribe the equipment, systems and/or seniegsate will provide and the amount of
consideration we will receive. After analyzing trmwings and specifications of the contract reanemrts, our project engineers estimate total
contract costs based on their experience with aimpitojects and then adjust these estimates faifgpasks associated with each project, such
as technical risks associated with a new desigetsGassociated with specific risks are estimateadsgssing the probability that conditions
arising from these specific risks will affect ootal cost to complete the project. After work opraject begins, assumptions that form the basi
for our calculation of total project cost are exaet on a regular basis and our estimates are upttateflect the most current information and
management’s best judgment.

Revenue recognized using the percentage of corapletethod of accounting was approximately 52%, 5% 51% of total revenue
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2@ and 2012, respectively. A significant portidroor total revenue recognized under the
percentage of completion method of accounting eésléd our Subsea Technologies segment, primarilgdbsea exploration and production
equipment projects that involve the design, engingemanufacturing and assembly of complex, custespecific systems. The systems are
not entirely built from standard bills of materaid typically require extended periods of time ésign and construct.

Total estimated contract cost affects both themageecognized in a period as well as the repgtefit or loss on a project. The determinatior
of profit or loss on a contract requires considerabf contract revenue, change orders and cldess,costs incurred to date and estimated

to complete. Profits are recognized based on timated project profit multiplied by the percentagemplete. Adjustments to estimates of
contract revenue, total contract cost, or extemrogress toward completion are often required @ wrogresses under the contract and as
experience is gained, even though the scope of vegiiired under the contract may not change. Tha@af accounting for contracts under
the percentage of completion method of accounsrsych that refinements of the estimating proaasstfanging conditions and new
developments are continuous and characteristiceoptocess. Consequently, the amount of revenogméed using the percentage of
completion method of accounting is sensitive tonges in our estimates of total contract costs.€agh contract in progress at December 31,
2014, a 1% increase or decrease in the estimategimesarned on each contract would have increasddaeased total revenue and pre-tax
income by $33.1 million for the year ended Decengier2014.

The total estimated contract cost in the percentdgempletion method of accounting is a criticet@unting estimate because it can materiall
affect revenue and profit and requires us to malgments about matters that are uncertain. Thermany factors, including, but not limited
to, the ability to properly execute the engineedng designing phases consistent with our customepgctations, the availability and costs of
labor and material resources, productivity and thegtthat can affect the accuracy of our cost eg#s) and ultimately, our future profitability.
In the past, we have realized both lower and higfeen expected margins and have incurred lossasemult of unforeseen changes in our
project costs; however, historically, our estimdtage been reasonably dependable regarding thgni¢iom of revenue and profit on contracts
using the percentage of completion method of adiogin
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I nventory Valuation

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or eetlizable value. In order to determine net realzahlue, we evaluate each component of
inventory on a regular basis to determine whethisréxcess or obsolete. We record the declinkércarrying value of estimated excess or
obsolete inventory as a reduction of inventory as@n expense included in cost of sales in thegariwhich it is identified. Our estimate of
excess and obsolete inventory is a critical acdngrastimate because it is highly susceptible #ngle from period to period. In addition, the
estimate requires management to make judgments gimfuture demand for inventory.

In order to quantify excess or obsolete inventary begin by preparing a candidate listing of theponents of inventory that have a quantity
on hand in excess of usage within the most regesyear period. The list is reviewed with salegjiarering, production and materials
management personnel to determine whether theflmdtential excess or obsolete inventory itemecisurate. As part of this evaluation,
management considers whether there has been aechmatig market for finished goods, whether theitebg future demand for on-hand
inventory items and whether there are componenisvehtory that incorporate obsolete technologpahly, an assessment is made of our
historical usage of inventory previously writterf a excess or obsolete, and a further adjustmédhgtestimate is made based on this histc
experience. As a result, our estimate of excesbsolete inventory is sensitive to changes in apsioms about future usage of inventory. See
Note 6 to our consolidated financial statementtubhed in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report oorfa 1(-K for additional information relate
to inventory valuation adjustments.

I mpairment of Long-Lived and I ntangible Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant andipment, identifiable intangible assets being aimed and capitalized software costs are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chaimgescumstances indicate the carrying amount efltimg-lived asset may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-liveseass not recoverable if it exceeds the sum ofitidiscounted cash flows expected to resul
from the use and eventual disposition of the a#sietis determined that an impairment loss hasuoed, the loss is measured as the amount |
which the carrying amount of the long-lived asseteeds its fair value. The determination of futcash flows as well as the estimated fair
value of long-lived assets involves significanirastes on the part of management. Because theatlysua lack of quoted market prices for
long-lived assets, fair value of impaired assetgpg&ally determined based on the present valfiexmected future cash flows using discount
rates believed to be consistent with those usqgtibgipal market participants, or based on a midtqf operating cash flow validated with
historical market transactions of similar assetengtpossible. The expected future cash flows useidnipairment reviews and related fair ve
calculations are based on judgmental assessmefuicé productivity of the asset, operating castd capital decisions and all available
information at the date of review.

I mpairment of Goodwill

Goodwill is not subject to amortization but is &gkfor impairment on an annual basis, or more ®atjy if impairment indicators arise. We
have established October 31 as the date of ourahtest for impairment of goodwill. Reporting unitith goodwill are tested for impairment
by first assessing qualitative factors to determwvhether the existence of events or circumstarezdslto a determination that it is more likely
than not that the fair value of the reporting usiess than its carrying amount. If after assestie totality of events or circumstances, or b
on management’s judgment, we determine it is nikedyl than not that the fair value of a reportingtus less than its carrying amount, a two-
step quantitative impairment test is performed.

When using the two-step quantitative impairmert, @stermining the fair value of a reporting usijudgmental in nature and involves the use
of significant estimates and assumptions. We estittiee fair value of our reporting units using scoiunted future cash flow model. The
majority of the estimates and assumptions useddis@unted future cash flow model involve unobabte inputs reflecting management'’s
own assumptions about the assumptions market jpanits would use in estimating the fair value dluginess. These estimates and
assumptions include revenue growth rates and apgnaiargins used to calculate projected future ¢asts, discount rates and future
economic and market conditions. Our estimates asedupon assumptions believed to be reasonablehizh are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable and do not reflect unanticipated &s/and circumstances that may occur.
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At December 31, 2014, recorded goodwill of $75.8iom was associated with our completion serviegsorting unit. The recent decline in
crude oil prices has introduced some uncertairgp@ated with certain key assumptions used in estimg fair value of the reporting unit.
Depressed crude oil prices for a prolonged perfdan® may adversely affect the economics of cartdiour customers’ projects, particularly
for shalerelated projects in North America, and may rediigedemand for completion services, negatively irtipg¢he financial results of tl
reporting unit. Management is monitoring the oVararket, specifically crude oil prices, and itfeef on the estimates and assumptions used
in our goodwill impairment test for completion siees, which may require re-evaluation and couldlteés an impairment of goodwill for this
reporting unit.

At December 31, 2014, recorded goodwill of $30.Wiom was associated with our automation and cdméporting unit. During 2014 the
automation and control reporting unit realized gigantly lower sales volumes, leading to negatwperating results for the year and creating
some uncertainty regarding future demand for aepadducts. Management has undertaken effortsegiate the reporting unit's UCTS
product with our Master Control Station in our sedsystems business to promote cost and efficissndpgs in our subsea product offering by
utilizing the UCOS® Master Control Station as the standard for corstystem applications in subsea production, procgssil workover
systems. Management is evaluating the realizalifithese savings and its effect on the estimatdsaasumptions used in our goodwill
impairment test for automation and control, whiclymequire re-evaluation and could result in anammpent of goodwill for this reporting

unit.

A lower fair value estimate in the future for arfyoorr reporting units, specifically our completiservices and automation and control repor
units, could result in goodwill impairments. Fasttinat could trigger a lower fair value estimatelude sustained price declines of the repoi
unit’s products and services, cost increases, adgyl or political environment changes, changesustomer demand, and other changes in
market conditions, which may affect certain magaticipant assumptions used in the discounteddutash flow model. We did not recogr
any goodwill impairment for the years ended Decan®ie 2014 or 2013, as the fair values of our répgrunits with goodwill balances
exceeded their carrying amounts. In addition, tiwegee no negative conditions, or triggering evettitat occurred in 2014 or 2013 requiring us
to perform additional impairment reviews.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets anitities, and reserves for uncertain tax positiceflect management’s best assessment of
estimated future taxes to be paid. We are subjeiccome taxes in the United States and numeragegyfojurisdictions. Significant judgments
and estimates are required in determining our dased income tax expense.

In determining our current income tax provision, agsess temporary differences resulting from diffetreatments of items for tax and
accounting purposes. These differences resultferigel tax assets and liabilities, which are reedrih our consolidated balance sheets. Whel
we maintain deferred tax assets, we must asse$ikehieood that these assets will be recoveredugh adjustments to future taxable income.
To the extent we believe recovery is not likely, @gtablish a valuation allowance. We record amaiiae reducing the asset to a value we
believe will be recoverable based on our expectaiidfuture taxable income. We believe the accagnéstimate related to the valuation
allowance is a critical accounting estimate becéisehighly susceptible to change from periog&iod, requires management to make
assumptions about our future income over the lofébe deferred tax assets, and finally, the impéatcreasing or decreasing the valuation
allowance is potentially material to our resultoperations.

Forecasting future income requires us to use afignt amount of judgment. In estimating futureame, we use our internal operating
budgets and long-range planning projections. Weldgvour budgets and long-range projections baseéaent results, trends, economic and
industry forecasts influencing our segments’ peni@nce, our backlog, planned timing of new prodashthes and customer sales
commitments. Significant changes in the expectalizahility of a deferred tax asset would requirattwe adjust the valuation allowance
applied against the gross value of our total detktax assets, resulting in a change to net income.
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As of December 31, 2014, we believe that it ismote likely than not that we will generate futuagdble income in certain foreign
jurisdictions in which we have cumulative net opieiglosses and, therefore, we have provided aatiain allowance against the rela
deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2014, lievbehat it is more likely than not that we whikve future taxable income in the United
States to utilize our domestic deferred tax as3dtsrefore, we have not provided a valuation alloegaagainst any domestic deferred tax
assets.

The need for a valuation allowance is sensitivehianges in our estimate of future taxable incofmeuld estimate of future taxable income was
25% lower than the estimate used, we would stitiegate sufficient taxable income to utilize suciméstic deferred tax assets.

The calculation of our income tax expense involdesling with uncertainties in the application ofrgmex tax laws and regulations in
numerous jurisdictions in which we operate. We geize tax benefits related to uncertain tax pasgiohen, in our judgment, it is more likely
than not that such positions will be sustainedxam@nation, including resolutions of any relateg@gls or litigation, based on the technical
merits. We adjust our liabilities for uncertain faositions when our judgment changes as a resukwfinformation previously unavailable.
Due to the complexity of some of these uncertasntieeir ultimate resolution may result in paymehts are materially different from our
current estimates. Any such differences will béeed as adjustments to income tax expense ipahieds in which they are determined.

Accounting for Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

Our pension and other post-retirement (health aacklife insurance) obligations are described iteNi? to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this AahBeport on Form 10-K.

The determination of the projected benefit obligasi of our pension and other post-retirement bepkfins are important to the recorded
amounts of such obligations on our consolidatedrx sheet and to the amount of pension experme tonsolidated statements of income.
In order to measure the obligations and expenseimisd with our pension benefits, management mage a variety of estimates, including
discount rates used to value certain liabilitieqezted return on plan assets set aside to furse thests, rate of compensation increase,
employee turnover rates, retirement rates, moytediies and other factors. We update these essnoatan annual basis or more frequently
upon the occurrence of significant events. Thesewtting estimates bear the risk of change dulegaancertainty and difficulty in estimating
these measures. Different estimates used by mamsyemuld result in our recognition of different@mts of expense over different period
time.

Due to the specialized and statistical nature ef¢hcalculations which attempt to anticipate fuawents, we engage third-party specialists to
assist management in evaluating our assumptiongkss appropriately measuring the costs and atiigs associated with these pension
benefits. The discount rate and expected long-tatenof return on plan assets are primarily baseitheestment yields available and the
historical performance of our plan assets, respelgti These measures are critical accounting etggrizecause they are subject to
management’s judgment and can materially affectnostme.

The discount rate affects the interest cost comptomienet periodic pension cost and the calculatibtie projected benefit obligation. The
discount rate is based on rates at which the petgaefit obligation could be effectively settled @ present value basis. Discount rates are
derived by identifying a theoretical settlementtfio of long-term, high quality (“AA” rated) cograte bonds at our determination date that i
sufficient to provide for the projected pension &ffrpayments. A single discount rate is determitied results in a discounted value of the
pension benefit payments that equate to the maekee of the selected bonds. The resulting discmatetis reflective of both the current
interest rate environment and the pension’s distiability characteristics. Significant changediie discount rate, such as those caused by
changes in the yield curve, the mix of bonds abélan the market, the duration of selected bomdkthe timing of expected benefit payments
may result in volatility in our pension expense gedsion liabilities.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan asset component of net periodic pension cost.é3timate of the expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets is primarily based on th®tiisl performance of plan assets, current mar&etitions, our asset allocation and Idegn
growth expectations. The difference between theebgu return and the actual return on plan assetmortized over the expected remaining
service life of employees, resulting in a lag tioetween the market's performance and its impagtlam results.
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Holding other assumptions constant, the followiglgie illustrates the sensitivity of changes indiseount rate and expected long-term return
on plan assets on pension expense and the projeetedit obligation:

Increase (Decrease) in

Increase (Decrease) in Projected Benefit
2014 Pension Expense Obligation at December
(In millions, except basis points) Before Income Taxes 31,2014
50 basis point decrease in discount rate $ 9.7 $ 95.7
50 basis point increase in discount rate $ 9.9 $ (86.2)
50 basis point decrease in expected long-ternofateturn on plan assets $ 4.€
50 basis point increase in expected long-termahteturn on plan assets $ (4.€)

The actuarial assumptions and estimates made bggearent in determining our pension benefit oblayatimay materially differ from actual
results as a result of changing market and econoamditions and changes in plan participant assiamgt\While we believe the assumptions
and estimates used are appropriate, differencastiral experience or changes in plan participasuraptions may materially affect our
financial position or results of operations.
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Other Matters

During the second quarter of 2014, the Companyivedean inquiry and a subpoena from the SEC sedhiilogmation about accruals within
the automation and control business unit for piang toff (“PTO"). The inquiry addressed the reversian accrual for PTO which understated
the liability for PTO in the business unit for thearter ended March 31, 2013. During the fourthrigwanf 2014, the Company informed the
SEC about an additional matter the Company idextiiithin the automation and control business diie Company received a second
subpoena in the fourth quarter of 2014. The Compesycooperated and fully responded to all reqdestaformation. The Company has
assessed the matters individually and collectiaelg concluded the impact is immaterial to the Camgjzaconsolidated financial statements as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2014. Thep@ay discussed these matters with its independgigtered public accounting firm and
the Company’s Audit Committee.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standargddadtie (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customé&rshis update
requires an entity to recognize revenue to depettansfer of promised goods or services to custemm an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to bétledtin exchange for those goods or services. ABE will supersede most existing GAAP
related to revenue recognition and will supersexeescost guidance in existing GAAP related to aoresibn-type and production-type
contract accounting. Additionally, the ASU will sijicantly increase disclosures related to reveregegnition. The amendments in the ASU
are effective for the Company on January 1, 20&rlyEapplication is not permitted. Entities arerpited to apply the amendments either
retrospectively to each prior reporting period praed or retrospectively with the cumulative effetinitially applying the ASU recognized at
the date of initial application. The Company hasdaiermined the method to be utilized upon adopfitne impacts that adoption of the ASU
is expected to have on the Company’s consolidateah€ial statements and related disclosures argleialuated. Additionally, the Company
has not determined the effect of the ASU on itsrimal control over financial reporting or other abas in business practices and processes.

M anagement believes that other recently issued atiogustandards, which are not yet effective, wit have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We are subject to financial market risks, includitugtuations in foreign currency exchange rates iaterest rates. In order to manage and
mitigate our exposure to these risks, we may usgal®e financial instruments in accordance wisitablished policies and procedures. We dc
not use derivative financial instruments wheredhjctive is to generate profits solely from tragactivities. At December 31, 2014 and 2013
substantially all of our derivative holdings comsisof foreign currency forward contracts and fgneturrency instruments embedded in
purchase and sale contracts.

These forward-looking disclosures only addressmi@kimpacts from market risks as they affect fi@ncial instruments and do not include
other potential effects that could impact our basgas a result of changes in foreign currencyamgdrates, interest rates, commaodity prices
or equity prices.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We conduct operations around the world in a numbéifferent currencies. Most of our significanté@n subsidiaries have designated the
local currency as their functional currency. Oumn@ags are therefore subject to change due touhtins in foreign currency exchange rates
when the earnings in foreign currencies are tréadlato U.S. dollars. We do not hedge this tramsiampact on earnings. A 10% increase or
decrease in the average exchange rates of alfjfooeirrencies at December 31, 2014 , would havegdthour revenue and income before
income taxes attributable to FMC Technologies, bycapproximately 4% and 3%, respectively.

When transactions are denominated in currencies tttlan our subsidiaries’ respective functionateuncies, we manage these exposures
through the use of derivative instruments to mtegaur risk. We use foreign currency forward cortsdo hedge the foreign currency
fluctuation associated with firmly committed anddoasted foreign currency denominated paymentseaipts. The derivative instruments
associated with these anticipated transactiondesignated and qualify as cash flow hedges, asdasthe gains and losses associated with
these instruments are recorded in other compreleirgiome until such time that the underlying teti®ns are recognized. When an
anticipated transaction in a currency other thanftimctional currency of an entity is recognizecassset or liability on the balance sheet, we
also hedge the foreign currency fluctuation withidive instruments after netting our exposuresldwide. These derivative instruments do
not qualify as cash flow hedges.

Occasionally, we enter into contracts or otherrageanents that are subject to foreign exchangeufidicins that qualify as embedded derivative
instruments. In those situations, we enter intavdéive foreign exchange contracts that hedge ttee ffluctuations due to movements in the
foreign exchange rates. These hedges are notdrasteash flow hedges.

We have prepared a sensitivity analysis of ourifmreurrency forward contracts hedging anticipdatadsactions that are accounted for as cas
flow hedges. This analysis assumes that each forigency rate would change 10% against a stroengegthen weaker U.S. dollar. A 10%
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar would Heisuan additional loss of $107.4 million in thetrfair value of cash flow hedges reflected in
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 20tkess these contracts are deemed to be ineffechanges in the derivative fair value
will not have an immediate impact on our resultepérations since the gains and losses associdttethese instruments are recorded in othel
comprehensive income. When the anticipated traimsecbccur, these changes in value of derivatimssument positions will be offset against
changes in the value of the underlying transaction.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2014 , we had unhedged variabdedeidt of $469.1 million with a weighted averageriest rate of 0.52% . Using sensitivity
analysis to measure the impact of a 10% adversement in the interest rate, or five basis pointsyle result in an increase to interest
expense of $0.2 million.

We assess effectiveness of forward foreign curreocyracts designated as cash flow hedges baseldamges in fair value attributable to
changes in spot rates. We exclude the impact atélite to changes in the difference between thersp® and the forward rate for the
assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognizdahge in fair value of this component immediatelgarnings. Considering that the
difference between the spot rate and the forwasdisgproportional to the differences in the instmates of the countries of the currencies k
traded, we have exposure to relative changeséndst rates between countries in our results afatipas. To the extent any one interest rate
increases by 10% across all tenors and other desritriterest rates remain fixed, and assuming no chandiscount rates, we would expec
recognize a decrease of $0.4 million in earninghénperiod of change. Based on our portfolio adetember 31, 2014 , we have material
positions with exposure to the interest rates iUited States, Brazil, the United Kingdom, Sirmyap the European Community and Norway
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financigading, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedin@arnal control over financial reporting is apess designed under the supervision @
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offiderprovide reasonable assurance regarding trebiity of financial reporting and the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemémticcordance with U.S. generally accepted adamuprinciples. All internal control
systems, no matter how well designed, have inhdiraitations. Therefore, even internal control gyss determined to be effective can proy
only reasonable assurance with respect to finastaéément preparation and reporting.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomainagement, we conducted an evaluation of thetafémess of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the frameworlriternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998%ued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basedurrevaluation, we concluded that our internal @raver financial reporting was
effective in providing this reasonable assurancef &ecember 31, 2014.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accagnfirm, has audited the Company’s consolidatedrfaial statements as of and for the
three-year period ended December 31, 2014, ans$ized an audit report on the Company'’s internatrobover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, which is included herein.

/s/ JOHN T. GREMP /s/ MARYANN T. SEAMAN
John T. Gremp Maryann T. Seaman
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 20, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FMC Texthgies, Inc.:

We have audited FMC Technologies, Inc.’s intermaitol over financial reporting as of December 2114, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) isshgdhe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations eftheadway Commission (COSO).
FMC Technologies, Inc.’s management is responséilslenaintaining effective internal control overdincial reporting and for its assessment o
the effectiveness of internal control over finaheggporting, included in the accompanying ManagetseReport on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exggen opinion on the FMC Technologies, Inc.’s imicontrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald@ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetssofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, FMC Technologies, Inc. maintainedall material respects, effective internal cohtreer financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria establishéttennal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issbg the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of FMC Technologies, Inc. and sisivid as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and theedeconsolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and awimgstockholders’ equity for each of the yearthanthree-year period ended
December 31, 2014, and our report dated Februgr@® expressed an unqualified opinion on thossadalated financial statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 20, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FMC Texbgies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of FMC Technologies, Inc. and subsidigtiee Company) as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statsmé&income, comprehensive income, cash flowd,cdmanges in stockholders’ equity for
each of the years in the three-year period endegi@ber 31, 2014. In connection with our auditsheftonsolidated financial statements, we
also have audited financial statement schedulehiése consolidated financial statements and fimhstatement schedule are the responsibilit
of the Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these consolidated fimhstatements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, ana¢huéts of their operations and their cash flowsefach of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity Wwit8. generally accepted accounting principles. Asour opinion, the related financial
statement schedule I, when considered in reldtidhe basic consolidated financial statementsrtasea whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014, based on criteria establishedtémrial Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgdiuns of the Treadway Commission, and our regiated February 20, 2015 expressed
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of@mnpany’s internal control over financial reporting

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 20, 2015

48




FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue:

Product revenue $ 6,335." $ 5724, $ 5,198..

Service revenue 1,276.t 1,066.( 656.¢

Lease and other revenue 330.4 335.t 296.¢

Total revenue 7,942.¢ 7,126.: 6,151..

Costs and expenses:

Cost of product revenue 4,860.( 4,562. 4,155.°

Cost of service revenue 925.( 792.7 486.¢

Cost of lease and other revenue 214.¢ 216.% 190.¢

Selling, general and administrative expense 750.¢ 694.¢ 596.¢

Research and development expense 123.7 112.¢ 116.¢

Total costs and expenses 6,874.: 6,378.¢ 5,546.¢

Gain on sale of Material Handling Products (Note 5) 84.2 — —
Other income (expense), net (54.0 5.2 23.C
Income before interest income, interest expenseraine taxes 1,098.¢ 752.¢ 627.¢
Interest income 1.1 0.7 (0.9
Interest expense (33.¢) (34.9 (26.2)
Income before income taxes 1,066.! 719. 601.z
Provision for income taxes 361.( 212.¢ 166.¢
Net income 705.% 506.€ 434.¢
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (5.4 (5.2 (4.9
Net income attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 699.¢ $ 501.¢ $ 430.(
Earnings per share attributable to FMC Technolqdres (Note 3):

Basic $ 29¢ $ 21C $ 1.7¢

Diluted $ 29t % 21C $ 1.7¢
Weighted average shares outstanding (Note 3):

Basic 236.% 238.% 239.7

Diluted 236.¢ 239.] 240.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 705.2 % 506.¢ $ 434.¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustmefits (107.6 (99.7) (1.9
Net gains (losses) on hedging instruments:
Net gains (losses) arising during the period (108.9 27.1 29.C
Reclassification adjustment for net gains inclugedet income (0.9 (5.2 (2.3
Net gains (losses) on hedging instrumétts (209.9) 21.¢ 26.7
Pension and other post-retirement benefits:
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the period (152.%) 1125 (5.2
Prior service cost arising during the period 1.7 (0.9 —
Reclassification adjustment for settlement loseekided in net income 15.7 3.2 9.€
Reclassification adjustment for amortization obpiservice cost (credit)
included in net income 0.2 0.3 (0.7)
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of aetiuarial loss included
in net income 12.c 18.2 19.:
Reclassification adjustment for amortization ohgiéion asset included in
net income (0.7) (0.3 0.9
Net pension and other post-retirement bené&fits (126.2) 133.] 22.¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (343.0 55.2 47.¢
Comprehensive income 362.: 561.¢ 482.¢
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolimgrest (5.9 (5.2 (4.9
Comprehensive income attributable to FMC Techn@sginc. $ 356.¢ $ 556.71 $ 477.¢
® Net of income tax (expense) benefil$7.2 , $(1.6) and $(2.2) for the years ended Deeeidb, 2014 , 2013 and 201 Bespectively
@ Net of income tax (expense) benefii$25.7 , $1.0 and $(12.3) for the years ended DeeeBSih 2014 , 2013 and 2012:spectively
® Net of income tax (expense) benefil$56.9 , $(81.8) and $(6.5) for the years ended Bbee 31, 2014 , 2013 and 201 spectively

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(In millions, except par value data) 2014 2013
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 638.¢ $ 399.]
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $9.4 ind28d $7.4 in 2013 (Note 21) 2,127.( 2,067.:
Inventories, net (Note 6) 1,021.. 980.«
Derivative financial instruments (Note 15) 197.¢ 165.¢
Prepaid expenses 48.F 41k
Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 70.€ 59.1
Other current assets 332t 309.¢
Total current assets 4,436. 4,023.(
Investments 35.¢ 44
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 7) 1,458.. 1,349.:
Goodwill (Note 8) 552.1 580.7
Intangible assets, net (Note 8) 282.¢ 315.:
Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 106.5 36.¢
Derivative financial instruments (Note 15) 134.¢ 68.5
Other assets 168.t 187.¢
Total assets $ 7,175¢ % 6,605.¢
Liabilities and equity
Short-term debt and current portion of long-terrhtdélote 10) $ 117 $ A2F
Accounts payable, trade 723.F 750.7
Advance payments and progress billings 965.2 803.2
Accrued payroll 256.¢ 222.(
Derivative financial instruments (Note 15) 230.2 171.2
Income taxes payable 152.¢ 138.1
Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 54.2 66.2
Other current liabilities 389.1 420.t
Total current liabilities 2,783.¢ 2,614,
Long-term debt, less current portion (Note 10) 1,297.: 1,329.¢
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benédits, current portion (Note 12) 236.7 84.C
Derivative financial instruments (Note 15) 220.: 47.1
Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 54.7 90.2
Other liabilities 105.¢ 103.4

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 18)

Stockholders’ equity (Note 14):

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 12.0 shares améb no shares issued in 2014 or 2013 _ _
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 600.0 shares aggwimn 2014 and 2013; 286.3 shares issued in 2042@13; and 231.5 and

235.8 shares outstanding in 2014 and 2013, respbcti 2.¢ 2.€
Common stock held in employee benefit trust, at;&2 shares in 2014 and 2013 (8.0 (7.7)
Treasury stock, at cost, 54.6 and 50.3 sharesli4 a0d 2013, respectively (1,431.) (1,196.¢
Capital in excess of par value of common stock 731.¢ 713.2
Retained earnings 3,844.; 3,146.:
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (683.7) (340.%)

Total FMC Technologies, Inc. stockholders’ equity 2,456.: 2,317..
Noncontrolling interests 214 19.1

Total equity 2,477. 2,336.
Total liabilities and equity $ 7,175  $ 6,605.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Cash provided (required) by operating activities:
Net income $ 705.% % 506.¢ $ 434.¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash pravigequired) by operating activities:
Depreciation 170.¢ 156.( 113.]
Amortization 61.7 53.¢ 33.1
Employee benefit plan and stock-based compensadisis 89.c 93.t 110.¢
Deferred income tax benefit (18.1) (20.9) (9.6)
Unrealized loss (gain) on derivative instruments 54.4 (5.7 13t
Gain on sale of Material Handling Products (84.9) — —
Multi Phase Meters contingent earn-out considenatialigation 3.7 28.¢ 42.C
Other 7.1 1.6 (6.2)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts of acquisitions:
Trade receivables, net (243.0 (391.0 (B81)
Inventories, net (99.9 (28.9) (206.€)
Accounts payable, trade 33.¢ 103.¢ 83.(
Advance payments and progress billings 225.( 329.( 25.¢
Income taxes 4.4 77.€ (71.9)
Payment of Multi Phase Meters earn-out consideratio (43.¢) (32.2) —
Accrued pension and other post-retirement beneiés, (32.0 (60.2) (63.2)
Other assets and liabilities, net 57.4 (17.0 (23.0
Cash provided by operating activities 892.¢ 795. 138.¢
Cash provided (required) by investing activities:
Capital expenditures (404.9) (314.]) (405.€)
Acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalentsieadju — — (615.5)
Proceeds from sale of Material Handling Produats,of cash divested 105.¢ — —
Proceeds from disposal of assets 16.2 7.4 3.z
Other (2.5) (4.9 (2.0
Cash required by investing activities (285.)) (311.¢) (1,019.9
Cash provided (required) by financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in short-term debt (25.¢) 8.5 13.¢
Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper (32.9) (168.9) 189.1
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt — 26.2 1,068.¢
Repayments of long-term debt (1.€) (136.0) (288.¢)
Purchase of treasury stock (247.¢) (116.9) (91.1)
Payment of Multi Phase Meters earn-out considaratio (31.0 (25.7) —
Payments related to taxes withheld on stock-basegbensation (13.0 7.5 (34.9)
Excess tax benefits 2.3 8.C 27.1
Other (6.4 1.9 (3.0
Cash provided (required) by financing activities (355.9 (422.%) 881.
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casratants (12.9) 4.5 (1.
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 239.% 57.C 2.9
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 399.1 342.1 344.(
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 638.6 $ 399.1 $ 342.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common
Stock Held in Accumulated
Treasury and Capital in Other
Employee Excess of Par Comprehensive Non- Total
Common Benefit Value of Retained Income controlling Stockholders’
(In millions) Stock Trust Common Stock Earnings (Loss) Interest Equity
Balance at December 31, 2011$ 2¢ % (1,047°) $ 698t $ 2,214° $ (443 9 131  $ 1,437
Net income — — — 430. — 4.8 434.
Other comprehensive income — — — — 47.€ _ 47.€
Issuance of common stock _ _ 0.7 _ _ _ 0.7
Excess tax benefits on stock-
based payment arrangements — — 27.1 — — — 27.1
Taxes withheld on issuance of
stock-based awards — — (34.9) — — — (34.9)
Purchases of treasury stock
(Note 14) — (91.) — — — — (91.])
Reissuances of treasury stock
(Note 14) — 30.£ (30.9 — — — —
Net purchases of common stoc
for employee benefit trust — (2.0) 0.€ — — — (1.9)
Stock-based compensation
(Note 13) — — 34.C — — — 34.C
Other — — — — — (1.6) (1.6)
Balance at December 31, 2012% 2¢ 3 (1,110.9) $ 6957 $ 2,644, $ (396.0 $ 16.2  $ 1,853..
Net income — — — 501.2 — 5.2 506.¢
Other comprehensive income _ _ _ _ 55.2 _ 55.2
Issuance of common stock — — 0.€ — — _ 0.€
Excess tax benefits on stock-
based payment arrangements — — 8.C — — — 8.C
Taxes withheld on issuance of
stock-based awards — — (17.5) — — — (17.5)
Purchases of treasury stock
(Note 14) — (116.9 — — — — (116.9
Reissuances of treasury stock
(Note 14) — 22 (22.9) — — — —
Net purchases of common stock
for employee benefit trust — 0.1 1.C — — — 11
Stock-based compensation
(Note 13) — — 477 — — — 47
Other — — — — — (2.4 (2.9
Common
Stock Held in Accumulated
Treasury and Capital in Other
Employee Excess of Par Comprehensive Non- Total
Common Benefit Value of Retained Income controlling Stockholders’
(In millions) Stock Trust Common Stock Earnings (Loss) Interest Equity
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 2¢ $ (1,204 $ 7132 $ 3,146.. $ (340.) $ 191 $ 2,336.:
Net income — — — 699.¢ — 5.4 705.
Other comprehensive loss _ _ _ _ (343.0 — (343.0
Issuance of common stock — — 0.2 — — — 0.2
Excess tax benefits on stock-
based payment arrangements — — 2.2 — — — 2.5
Taxes withheld on issuance of
stock-based awards — — (13.0 — — — (13.0
Purchases of treasury stock
(Note 14) — (247.¢) — — — — (247.6)
Reissuances of treasury stock
(Note 14) — 13.1 (23.3) — — — —

Net purchases of common stoc

far amnlnvaa hanafit trin — may ne — — — n<s



Stock-based compensation

(Note 13) — — 44.¢ — — — 44.¢
Purchase of noncontrolling

interest — — 3. — — 0.1 3.0
Other — — — 1.7 — (3.2) 4.9
Balance at December 31’ 2014$ 2. $ (1,439.:) $ 731.¢ $ 3,844.: $ (6837) $ 21.4 $ 2,477.-

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of operatior—FMC Technologies, Inc. and consolidated subsidafiEMC Technologies,” “we” or “us”) designs, maacfures and
services technologically sophisticated systemspaaducts for our customers in the energy industrgugh our business segments: Subsea
Technologies, Surface Technologies and Energydtrfrature. We have manufacturing operations wodewstrategically located to facilitate
delivery of our products, systems and servicesutccastomers.

Basis of presentati— Our consolidated financial statements have beguaped in U.S. dollars and in accordance with Uebiegally accepte
accounting principles (“GAAP").

On February 25, 2011, our Board of Directors appdoa two -for-one stock split of our outstandingrels of common stock. The stock split
was completed in the form of a stock dividend; hesveupon issuance of the common stock pursuathietgtock split, an amount equal to the
aggregate par value of the additional shares ohtomstock issued was not reclassified from capitakcess of par value to common stock
during the first quarter of 2011. This adjustmeatswnade during the first quarter of 2014. All priy@ar amounts have been revised to conforr
to the current year presentation. This adjustmedtrio overall effect on total equity and did nopaut our overall financial position or results
of operations for any period presented.

Principles of consolidatio—The consolidated financial statements includeait@unts of FMC Technologies and its majority-owned
subsidiaries and affiliates. Intercompany accoantstransactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates-The preparation of financial statements in confgriwith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets antlitie® and disclosures of contingent assets aatdilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expensieg dioe reporting period. Actual results couldfeliffrom those estimates. Such estimates
include, but are not limited to, estimates of ta@htract profit or loss on long-term constructigpe contracts; estimated realizable value on
excess and obsolete inventory; estimates relatpdnision accounting; estimates related to fairevédu purposes of assessing goodwill, long-
lived assets and intangible assets for impairnesiimates related to income taxes; and estimal@gdeto contingencies, including liquidated
damages.

Investments in the common stock of unconsoliddféidis —The investments in, and the operating resultsimépnsolidated affiliates are
included in the consolidated financial statememtshe basis of the equity method of accountindierdost method of accounting, dependint
specific facts and circumstances.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates are asgb&w impairment whenever events or changes its fatd circumstances indicate the carr
value of the investments may not be fully recovikrad/hen such a condition is judgmentally deterrditeebe other than temporary, the
carrying value of the investment is written dowrfdw value. Management's assessment as to whathedecline in value is other than
temporary is based on our ability and intent talhtbk investment and whether evidence indicatiegetirrying value of the investment is
recoverable within a reasonable period of time eigvs evidence to the contrary. Management gegeazalisiders our investments in equity
method investees to be strategic long-term investsnend completes its assessments for impairméntaNong-term viewpoint.

Reclassification—Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassifiedbnform to the current year’'s presentation.

Revenue recognitic—Revenue is generally recognized once the folloviing criteria are met: i) persuasive evidencerohaangement
exists, i) delivery of the equipment has occurf@dich is upon shipment or when customer-specifieatance requirements are met) or
services have been rendered, iii) the price oktiidpment or service is fixed and determinable,ighdollectibility is reasonably assured. We
record our sales net of any value added, saleseotax.

For certain construction-type manufacturing aneasy projects that involve significant design amdjineering efforts in order to satisfy
detailed customesupplied specifications, revenue is recognizedgugie percentage of completion method of accountimgler the percenta
of completion method, revenue is recognized as Wwoolgresses on each contract. We primarily apgyrditio of costs incurred to date to total
estimated contract costs at completion to meas$isedtio. If it is not possible to form a relialdstimate of progress toward completion, no
revenue or costs are recognized until the progecbmplete or substantially complete. Any expetiisdes on construction-type contracts in
progress are charged to earnings, in total, irpgred the losses are identified.
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Modifications to construction-type contracts, re¢erto as “change orders,” effectively change ttawigions of the original contract, and may,
for example, alter the specifications or designthoé or manner of performance, equipment, matesaiss and/or period for completion of 1
work. If a change order represents a firm price mitnent from a customer, we account for the revisgiinate as if it had been included in
original estimate, effectively recognizing the pata impact of the new estimate on our calculatibprogress toward completion in the period
in which the firm commitment is received. If a charorder is unpriced: (1) we include the costsoritiact performance in our calculation of
progress toward completion in the period in whioh tosts are incurred or become probable; andt{2hwt is determined that the revenue is
probable of recovery, we include the change oreleemue, limited to the costs incurred to date edléd the change order, in our calculation of
progress toward completion. Unpriced change orighefaded in revenue were immaterial to our consaid revenue for all periods presented.
Margin is not recorded on unpriced change ordelsssirealization is assured beyond a reasonablg.dbioe assessment of realization may be
based upon our previous experience with the customigased upon our receipt of a firm price comreitirfrom the customer.

Progress billings are generally issued upon conapletf certain phases of the work as stipulatetthéncontract. Revenue in excess of progres:
billings are reported in trade receivables in auraplidated balance sheets. Progress billings asldl eollections in excess of revenue
recognized on a contract are classified as advaageents and progress billings within current lieibs in our consolidated balance sheets.
Revenue generated from the installation portiooasfstruction-type contracts is included in prodesenue in our consolidated statements of
income.

Shipping and handling costsShipping and handling costs are recorded as ¢gsbduct revenue in our consolidated statemenisaaime.
Shipping and handling costs billed to customergacerded as a component of revenue.

Cash equivalents—-Cash equivalents are highly-liquid, short-terntrimsients with original maturities of three monthdess from their date of
purchase.

Trade receivables, net of allowancegAn allowance for doubtful accounts is providedtade receivables equal to the estimated uncdilecti
amounts. This estimate is based on historical ctidle experience and a specific review of eachasust’s trade receivable balance.

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orealizable value. Inventory costs include thosstsdirectly attributable to
products, including all manufacturing overhead, éxaluding costs to distribute. Cost is determiaedhe last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis for
all significant domestic inventories, except certaiventories relating to construction-type contsawhich are stated at the actual production
cost incurred to date, reduced by the portion e$¢hcosts identified with revenue recognized. Tiseif, first-out (“FIFO”) method is used to
determine the cost for all other inventories.

Investment—The appropriate classification of investments mrketable equity securities is determined at time tf purchase and re-
evaluated as of each subsequent reporting datarites classified as available-for-sale are cdrdefair value with unrealized holding gains
and losses on these securities recognized in adatedwther comprehensive income (loss), net atedlincome tax. We did not have any
available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2112013 .

Securities classified as trading securities ardexhat fair value with gains and losses on thesearsties recognized through other income
(expense), net. Trading securities are primarilpgosed of marketable equity mutual funds that aepipnate a portion of our liability under ¢
Non-Qualified Savings and Investment Plan (“Non-QuedifPlan”).

Property, plant, and equipme—Property, plant, and equipment is recorded at &epreciation is principally provided on the sjftiline
basis over the estimated useful lives of the agkeid improvements— 20 to 35 years; buildings—®80 years; and machinery and
equipment— 3 to 2@ears). Gains and losses are realized upon th@sedéirement of assets and are recorded in dtiseme (expense), net
our consolidated statements of income. Maintenancerepair costs are expensed as incurred. Expieaslithat extend the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are capitalized aptetiated over the estimated new remaining lifthefasset.
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Impairment of property, plant, and equipm—Property, plant and equipment are reviewed foraimpent whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of tmgitived asset may not be recoverable. The carryatge of a long-lived asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undisclinash flows expected to result from the use &rdtaal disposition of the asset. If it is
determined that an impairment loss has occurredintipairment loss is measured as the amount byhwhi carrying value of the long-lived
asset exceeds its fair value.

Long-lived assets held for sale are reported akaver of carrying value or fair value less cossédl.

Capitalized software costs-Other assets on the consolidated balance she#tsiénthe capitalized cost of internal use softwareluding
Internet websites). The assets are stated atessaccumulated amortization. These software tudtgle significant purchases of software
internal and external costs incurred during thdiegfion development stage of software projecteskhcosts are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the asBetsinternal use software, the useful lives raingm three to ten years. For Internet website
costs, the estimated useful lives do not exceezbthears.

Goodwill and other intangible assetsGoodwill is not subject to amortization but istegbfor impairment on an annual basis (or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise). We hagtablished October 31 as the date of our anasifdr impairment of goodwill. Reporting
units with goodwill are tested for impairment bgsfiassessing qualitative factors to determine draghe existence of events or circumstance
leads to a determination that it is more likelyrtimt that the fair value of the reporting unitass than its carrying amount. If after assessing
the totality of events or circumstances, or basethanagement’s judgment, we determine it is méehlithan not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amourttya-step impairment test is performed. The firepstompares the fair value of the reporting
unit (measured as the present value of expectadefgash flows) to its carrying amount. If the faatue of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, a second step is performed. kstap, the fair value of the reporting unit imedited to its assets and liabilities to determine
the implied fair value of goodwill, which is usealmeasure the impairment loss.

Our acquired intangible assets are amortized dram@bt-line basis over their estimated usefuldiwehich generally range from 7 to 40 years.
Our acquired intangible assets do not have indefliies. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairt whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of tit@nigible asset may not be recoverable. The caygfimount of an intangible asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undisamlinash flows expected to result from the use aadtaal disposition of the asset. If it is
determined that an impairment loss has occurredios is measured as the amount by which theingragnount of the intangible asset
exceeds its fair value.

Fair value measuremen—We record our financial assets and financial liaés at fair value. Fair value is defined as phieze that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfertalilia (an exit price) in an orderly transactiontiveen market participants at the reporting date.
The fair value framework requires the categorizatibassets and liabilities into three levels bagsoh the assumptions (inputs) used to price
the assets or liabilities. Level 1 provides the tmekable measure of fair value, whereas LevetBeagally requires significant management
judgment. The three levels are defined as follc

. Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fenigtal assets and liabiliti¢

. Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices iredud Level 1. For example, quoted prices for simélssets or liabilities in
active markets or quoted prices for identical aseetiabilities in inactive markets.

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s osgumptions about the assumptions market partigpaotld use in
pricing the asset or liability.
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Income taxe—Current income taxes are provided on income regdur financial statement purposes, adjustedréarsactions that do not
enter into the computation of income taxes payabthe same year. Deferred tax assets and liasilare measured using enacted tax rates fo
the expected future tax consequences of tempoitieyahces between the carrying amounts and théaars of assets and liabilities. A
valuation allowance is established whenever managebelieves that it is more likely than not thatedred tax assets may not be realizable.

U.S. income taxes are not provided on our equitynidistributed earnings of foreign subsidiariesaffitiates to the extent we have determined
that the earnings are indefinitely reinvested. th8ome taxes are provided on such earnings ip¢hied in which we can no longer support
that such earnings are indefinitely reinvested.

Tax benefits related to uncertain tax positionsraocegnized when it is more likely than not, basedhe technical merits, that the position will
be sustained upon examination.

We classify interest expense and penalties recedron underpayments of income taxes as incomexjzense.

Stock-based employee compensatidiVe measure stock-based compensation expensetdotessstock awards based on the market price a
the grant date and the number of shares awardedstobk-based compensation expense for each asverddgnized ratably over the
applicable service period, after taking into aceastimated forfeitures, or the period beginninthatstart of the service period and ending
when an employee becomes eligible for retirement.

Common stock held in employee benefit tra&thares of our common stock are purchased by #regdministrator of the Non-Qualified Plan
and placed in a trust owned by us. Purchased shexggcorded at cost and classified as a reducfistockholders’ equity on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Earnings per common shar‘EPS”) —Basic EPS is computed using the weighted-averag®er of common shares outstanding during the
year. Diluted EPS gives effect to the potentialititiin of earnings that could have occurred if addal shares were issued for stock op
exercises and restricted stock under the treasock snethod. The treasury stock method assumeggpdsdhat would be obtained upon
exercise of common stock options and issuancestficeed stock are used to buy back outstandingnoomstock at the average market price
during the period.

Warranty obligations—We provide warranties of various lengths and tetortertain of our customers based on standard tentigonditions
and negotiated agreements. Estimated cost of warsaasre accrued at the time revenue is recogriargetoducts where reliable, historical
experience of warranty claims and costs existstmnadditional specific obligations are identifigtie obligation reflected in other current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheetsasel on historical experience by product and censifhilure rates and the related costs in
correcting a product failure. Should actual prodagtire rates or repair costs differ from our emtrestimates, revisions to the estimated
warranty liability would be required.

Foreign currency—Financial statements of operations for which th®.Ulollar is not the functional currency, andlamated in non-highly
inflationary countries, are translated into U.Slafs prior to consolidation. Assets and liabilitiare translated at the exchange rate in effect a
the balance sheet date, while income statementiatsare translated at the average exchange ratadb period. For these operations,
translation gains and losses are recorded as aa@npof accumulated other comprehensive inconss)iim stockholders’ equity until the
foreign entity is sold or liquidated. For operagdn highly inflationary countries and where thedbcurrency is not the functional currency,
inventories, property, plant and equipment, an@witoneurrent assets are converted to U.S. dollars airfdal exchange rates, and all gain
losses from conversion are included in net incdroeeign currency effects on cash, cash equivalemsdebt in hyperinflationary economies
are included in interest income or expense.
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Derivative instrumen— Derivatives are recognized on the consolidatednicalaheets at fair value, with classification asent or noneurrent
based upon the maturity of the derivative instruin€hanges in the fair value of derivative instrumseare recorded in current earnings or
deferred in accumulated other comprehensive inddmss), depending on the type of hedging transacitd whether a derivative is design:
as, and is effective as, a hedge. Each instrureexttdounted for individually and assets and liagdiare not offset.

Hedge accounting is only applied when the derieaisvdeemed to be highly effective at offsettingraies in anticipated cash flows of the
hedged item or transaction. Changes in fair vafudedvatives that are designated as cash flow éedge deferred in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) until the underlyimgsactions are recognized in earnings. At such, tietgted deferred hedging gains or losse:s
are also recorded in operating earnings on the §amas the hedged item. Effectiveness is assessbé inception of the hedge and on a
quarterly basis. Effectiveness of forward contiath flow hedges are assessed based solely oneshianfgir value attributable to the change
in the spot rate. The change in the fair valuéhefdontract related to the change in forward riategcluded from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness. Changes in this excluded comporfahealerivative instrument, along with any ineffeeness identified, are recorded in
operating earnings as incurred. We document okmnanagement strategy and hedge effectiveness aidbption of, and during the term of,
each hedge.

We also use forward contracts to hedge foreignecuaryr assets and liabilities, for which we do ngilghedge accounting. The changes in fair
value of these contracts are recognized in otlemmie (expense), net on our consolidated stateroéirisome, as they occur and offset gains
or losses on the remeasurement of the related askability.

Cash flows from derivative contracts are reportethe consolidated statements of cash flows irséime categories as the cash flows from the
underlying transactions.

NOTE 2. RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted Accountirap@ards Update (“ASU”) No. 2013-11Ptesentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit
When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similax Toss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Existissued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”). This update requiresrtbiting of unrecognized tax benefits against ardedietax asset for a loss or other
carryforward that would apply in settlement of thecertain tax positions. Under the amended guidanuecognized tax benefits are netted
against all available same-jurisdiction loss oreottax carryforwards that would be utilized, rattfean only against carryforwards that are
created by the unrecognized tax benefits. The gddgtidance is applied prospectively, effectivauday 1, 2014. The adoption of this update
concerns presentation and disclosure only asateglto our consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted ASU No. 2084 Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures o

Disposals of Components of an En” issued by the FASB. This update changes the reménts of reporting discontinued operations. Undel
the amended guidance, a disposal of a component ehtity or a group of components of an entityeguired to be reported in discontinued
operations if the disposal represents a stratdaificteat has (or will have) a major effect on aniy’s operations and financial results. The
amendments in this update are effective for appakisls (or classifications as held for sale) of ponents of an entity that occur within annual
periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014, iaterim periods within those years, with earlpption permitted. The adoption of this
update concerns presentation and disclosure ontyelates to our consolidated financial stateraent

Effective December 31, 2014, we adopted ASU No4208, “Presentation of Financial Statements - Going ConckT his update provides
guidance about management’s responsibility to etalwhether there is substantial doubt about dtysnability to continue as a going
concern and on determining when and how entitiest mlisclose going concern uncertainties in therfiie statements. The update requires
management to perform interim and annual assessrméanh entity’s ability to continue as a going cem within one year of the date of
issuance of the entity’s financial statements. dfmendments in this ASU are effective for the Congdfanannual periods ending after
December 15, 2016, and interim periods thereatfiih, early adoption permitted. The adoption of thiglate concerns disclosure only and did
not have any financial impact on our consolidatedricial statements.
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NOTE 3. EARNINGS PER SHARE

A reconciliation of the number of shares used lfiertbasic and diluted earnings per share calculatamas follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2014 2013 2012

Net income attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 699.¢ $ 501.¢ $ 430.(
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 236.¢ 238.¢ 239.7
Dilutive effect of restricted stock units and stagitions 0.€ 0.8 1.2
Total shares and dilutive securities 236.¢ 239.1 240.¢

&

29¢ $ 21C $ 1.7¢
29t § 21C % 1.7¢

Basic earnings per share attributable to FMC Teldyies, Inc.
Diluted earnings per share attributable to FMC Thedbgies, Inc.

&

NOTE 4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Schilling Robotics, LLG—On January 3, 2012, we exercised our option tahmasge the remaining 55% of outstanding sharesufliig
Robotics, LLC (“Schilling Robotics”), a Delawarenited liability company, for $282.8 million in castind closed the transaction on April 25,
2012. Prior to April 25, 2012, we owned 45% of Hofg Robotics. Schilling Robotics is a supplierazfvanced robotic intervention products,
including a line of remotely operated vehicle sysg“ROV”), manipulator systems and subsea costystems. The acquisition of the
remaining interests in Schilling Robotics is allagius to grow in the expanding subsea environmédmre demand for ROVs and the need fo
maintenance activities of subsea equipment is éggdeo increase.

Schilling Robotics is included among the consobdasubsidiaries reported in our Subsea Technolegigment. The acquisitiatate fair value
of our previously held equity interest in SchilliRpbotics was $144.9 million with the fair valueénparily estimated through an income
approach valuation. In 2012 we recorded a gairR6fGmillion in other income (expense), net ondbesolidated statement of income related
to the fair value remeasurement of our previously lequity interest in Schilling Robotics.

Control Systems International, Ine-On April 30, 2012, we acquired 100% of Control 8yss International, Inc. (“CSI”) for $59.0 millian
consideration transferred, comprised of $49.0 arilin cash and $10.0 million withheld ("holdbackYrsuant to the terms of the stock
purchase agreement. The holdback amount will bet dredl maintained by FMC Technologies as securityhfe payment of any and all
amounts to which CSI indemnifies us, including fiwarking capital adjustments and other indemntfimas as listed in the stock purchase
agreement. We may deduct from the holdback anybidigmounts and pay CSI the net amount three ydtsthe closing date.

CSl is included among the consolidated subsidiagpsrted in our Energy Infrastructure segment. &guisition of CSl is enhancing our
automation and controls technologies and is bengffiroduction and processing businesses such asurament solutions through
comprehensive fuel terminal and pipeline automasigstems. Additionally, the acquired technologigsp®rt our long-term strategy to expand
our subsea production and processing systems.

Pure Energy Services Lt—On October 1, 2012, we acquired 100% of Pure Bn8agvices Ltd. (“Pure Energy”) for $287.0 milliamcash,
which is included among the consolidated subsiesaréported in our Surface Technologies segmesedi Calgary, Alberta, Canada, and
operating in multiple field locations in both Camaahd the United States, Pure Energy is a prowtifowback services and wireline services.
The acquisition of Pure Energy is complementingekisting products and services of our Surface meltgies segment and is expected to
create client value by providing an integrated wi# solution.

Goodwill recognized for Schilling Robotics, CSI aRdre Energy as of the acquisition dates were $2hlion , $30.7 million , and $85.5
million , respectively. The goodwill recognizedasmarily attributable to expected synergies argkathled workforce acquired. The majority
of the combined goodwill recognized for SchillinglBdtics and CSl is deductible for tax purposes.dsalbrecognized for Pure Energy is not
deductible for tax purposes.
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NOTE 5. SALE OF MATERIAL HANDLING PRODUCTS

On April 30, 2014, we completed the sale of ourigguaterests of Technisys, Inc., a Utah corporatiand FMC Technologies Energy Holdil
Ltd., a private limited liability company organizedder the laws of Hong Kong, and assets primagityesenting a product line of our materia
handling business (“Material Handling Products”Blyntron Material Handling, LLC, an affiliate of li@e Leichtman Capital Partners Private
Capital Solutions 11, L.P. Material Handling Prodisigvas historically reported in our Energy Infrasture segment. Net of working capital
adjustments, we recognized a pretax gain of $84ll®mon the sale during the year ended DecemiiefB814.

NOTE 6. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Raw materials $ 196.¢ $ 186.:
Work in process 166.] 141.¢
Finished goods 849.¢ 830.:
1,212.¢ 1,158.(
LIFO and valuation adjustments (191.9 (177.¢)
Inventory, net $ 1,021.: $ 980.¢

Net inventories accounted for under the LIFO mettaddled$370.8 million and $336.4 million at December 3012 and 2013, respectively.
The current replacement costs of LIFO inventoriezeeded their recorded values by $94.6 million $®tl.5 million at December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. There were no reductions tddse LIFO inventory in 2014 or 2012. In 2013 theas a reduction in certain LIFO
inventories which were carried at costs lower tbament replacement costs. The result was a dexierdke cost of sales by $0.1 million for
2013.

NOTE 7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consisted of thevdhg:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Land and land improvements $ 83.¢ $ 83.C
Buildings 410.¢ 379.¢
Machinery and equipment 1,530.! 1,438.¢
Construction in process 266.¢ 218.c
2,291.¢ 2,119.:
Accumulated depreciation (833.9) (770.2)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,458.c $ 1,349.:

Depreciation expense was $170.8, million , $15610am and $113.1 million in 2014, 2013 and 201@&spectively. The amount of interest cost
capitalized was $0.9 million , $0.7 million and &illion in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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NOTE 8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill—The carrying amount of goodwill by reporting segreas as follows:

Subsea Surface Energy
(In millions) Technologies Technologies Infrastructure Total
December 31, 2013 $ 396.¢ $ 924 $ 914 $ 580.7
Material Handling Products divestitute — — (6.0 (6.0
Translation (18.2) (4.5 — (22.6)
December 31, 2014 $ 378.¢ $ 87.¢ § 85.4 % 552.1

(O See Note 5 for additional disclost

We have not recognized any impairment for the yeaded December 31, 2014 or 2013, as the fair salfieur reporting units with goodwiill
balances exceeded our carrying amounts. In additiene were no negative conditions, or triggegrgnts, that occurred in 2014 or 2013
requiring us to perform additional impairment revie

Intangible asset—The components of intangible assets were as fstlow

December 31,

2014 2013
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

(In millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Customer lists $ 1422 $ 33L % 148.¢ $ 27.7
Patents and acquired technology 217.¢ 70.¢ 221.¢ 56.t
Trademarks 35.¢ 9.4 36.2 7.€
Other 5.¢ 5.k 6.C 5.k
Total intangible assets $ 402.1 $ 1192 $ 412.¢ $ 97.5

We did not have any material additions to our igthle assets during 2014 or 2013. All of our acediidentifiable intangible assets are subjec
to amortization and, where applicable, foreign ency translation adjustments. We recorded $25.8omij $26.9 million and $20.8 million in
amortization expense related to intangible assgisgithe years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h2l , respectively. During the years
2015 through 2019 , annual amortization expensgpgcted to be as follows: $24.9 million in 20824.3 million in 2016 , $23.5 million in
2017 , $23.3 million in 2018, $23.2 million in 2D&nd $163.7 million thereafter.

NOTE 9. SALE LEASEBACK TRANSACTION

In March 2007, we sold and leased back propertydaston, Texas, consisting of land, offices andlpotion facilities primarily related to the
Subsea Technologies and Surface Technologies s¢égrivéa received net proceeds of $58.1 million inrextion with the sale. The carrying
value of the property sold was $20.3 million . Wee@unted for the transaction as a sale leasebaakirg in (i) first quarter 2007 recognition
of $1.3 million of the $37.4 million gain on thairsaction and (ii) the deferral of the remaining.£3illion of the gain, which will be
amortized to rent expense over the lease termd&fesred gain is presented in other liabilitieshie consolidated balance sheet. The lease
expires in 2022 and provides for two 5 -year omlaxtensions. Annual rent of $4.2 million escaa®e€0% per year, and beginning in April
2017, annual rent will be re-established at $4 fianiand escalate 2.0% per year. The lease wasded as an operating lease.
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NOTE 10. DEBT

Credit facility—On March 26, 2012, we entered into a $1.5 billiewolving credit agreement (“credit agreemenifth JPMorgan Chase Bar
N.A., as Administrative Agent. The credit agreemisrafive -year, revolving credit facility expiring in &fch 2017. Subject to certain
conditions, at our request and with the approvdhefAdministrative Agent, the aggregate commitraemider the credit agreement may be
increased by an additional $500.0 million .

Borrowings under the credit agreement bear interieatbase rate or the London interbank offeresl faiBOR”), at our option, plus an
applicable margin. Depending on our total levenag®, the applicable margin for revolving loansiga (i) in the case of LIBOR loans, from
1.125% to 1.750% and (ii) in the case of baselcates, from 0.125% to 0.750% . The base rate isitpgest of (1) the prime rate announced
by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., (2) the Federal Firats plus 0.5% or (3) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0% .

Senior Notes—On September 21, 2012, we completed the publieriofj of $300.0 million aggregate principal amoah®.00%senior note
due October 2017 (the “2017 Notes”) and $500.0ionilaggregate principal amount of 3.45% senior sidige October 2022 (the “2022 Notes
and, collectively with the 2017 Notes, the “Seniwtes”). Interest on the Senior Notes is payabhaisanually in arrears on April 1 a
October 1 of each year, beginning April 1, 2013et Nroceeds from the offering of $793.8 millimere used for the repayment of outstan
commercial paper and indebtedness under our rengbriedit facility.

The terms of the Senior Notes are governed bynithenture (the “Base Indenture”), dated as of Seip¢erdl, 2012 between FMC
Technologies and U.S. Bank National Associatiortriastee (the “Trustee”as amended and supplemented by the First Supplahiedénture
between FMC Technologies and the Trustee (thet‘Bupplemental Indenture”) relating to the issuasfcihe 2017 Notes and the Second
Supplemental Indenture between FMC Technologieglamdrustee (the “Second Supplemental Indentuegdting to the issuance of the 2022
Notes.

At any time prior to their maturity in the casetibé 2017 Notes, and at any time prior to July 220n the case of the 2022 Notes, we may
redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at the retlemprices specified in the First Supplementaeimure and Second Supplemental
Indenture, respectively. At any time on or aftdyJy 2022, we may redeem some or all of the 208f8lat the redemption price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the 2022 Notes eaded. The Senior Notes are our senior unsecuréghtibhs. The Senior Notes will rank
equally in right of payment with all of our exisgirand future unsubordinated debt, and will rankagen right of payment to all of our future
subordinated debt.

Commercial paper—Under our commercial paper program, we have tligyato access $1.0 billion of short-term finangithrough our
commercial paper dealers subject to the limit afs@u capacity of our revolving credit agreemenm@ercial paper borrowings are issued at
market interest rates. Commercial paper borrowasysf December 31, 2014, had a weighted averagesgitrate of 0.52% .

Term loan—In August 2013 , we entered into a R $60.7 millierm loan agreement in Brazil maturing on Augist2016 with Itad BBA., as
Administrative Agent. Under the loan agreemengri@st accrues at an annual rate of 5.50% . Prinisiplie at maturity and interest is paid
quarterly.

Property financinc—In September 2004we entered into agreements for the sale anddeakenf an office building having a net book vadi
$8.5 million . Under the terms of the agreemerg,lihilding was sold for $9.7 million in net procsexhd leased back under a 10 -year lease.
We subleased this property to a third party undease agreement that was accounted for as antiogelease. We accounted for the
transaction as a financing transaction and weretgzimg the related obligation using an effectivenaal interest rate of 5.37% . In September
2014, the sale and leaseback expired and result&ad immaterial noncash gain. In addition, propérgncing includes our obligations under
capital lease arrangements.

Uncommitted credi—=We have uncommitted credit lines at many of oterimational subsidiaries for immaterial amounts. Wikze these
facilities to provide a more efficient daily sourgliquidity. The effective interest rates depanmbn the local national market.
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Short-term debt and current portion of long-ternbde-Short-term debt and current portion of long-terebtdconsisted of the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Property financing $ 3.8 $ 10.t
Foreign uncommitted credit facilities 7.6 31.¢
Other — 0.1
Total short-term debt and current portion of loegi debt $ 117 $ 42k

Long-term debt—Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Revolving credit facility $ —  $ —
Commercial pap€el 469.1 501.
2.00% Notes due 2017 299.¢ 299.t
3.45% Notes due 2022 499.7 499.¢
Term loan 22.¢ 25.¢
Property financing 9.7 13.¢
Total long-term debt 1,301.( 1,340.:
Less: current portion (3.9 (10.5)
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 1,297.; $ 1,329.¢
@ At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , committed creditlable under our revolving credit facility providi¢he ability to refinance our commercial papert

obligations on a long-term basis. As we have blo¢hability and intent to refinance these obligation a long-term basis, our commercial paper
borrowings were classified as long-term in the otidated balance sheets at December 31, 2014 &®81.20

Maturities of total long-term debt as of Decembgy 2014, are payable as follows: $3.8 million i120$25.7 million in 2016, $771.7 million
in 2017, $0.1 million in 2018, and $499.7 million2022.
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NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES

Domestic and foreign components of income befocernme taxes are shown below:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012

Domestic $ 3532 % 150.7 $ 125t

Foreign 707.7 563.: 470.¢
Income before income taxes attributable to FMC Tetbgies, Inc. $ 1,060.¢ $ 714.C % 596.¢

The provision for income taxes consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federal $ 139.¢ $ 776 $ 41.t
State 11.7 5.€ 2.¢
Foreign 227.¢ 149.¢ 131.¢
Total current 379.1 233.( 176.2
Deferred:
Increase in the valuation allowance for deferredassets 34.1 0.t 0.t
Decrease of deferred tax liability for change i tates 2.3 4.3 1.3
Other deferred tax (benefit) expense (49.9 (16.€) (9.0
Total deferred (18.7) (20.9 (9.9
Provision for income taxes $ 361.C $ 212¢ % 166.4
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Significant components of our deferred tax assadsliabilities were as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets attributable to:
Accrued expenses $ 58.C $ 56.€
Non deductible interest 29.2 —
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 29.2 14.C
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits 91.¢ 26.t
Stock-based compensation 28.¢ 25.2
Net operating loss carryforwards 48.7 47.¢
Inventories 31.7 25.¢
Norwegian correction tax 50.4 61.¢
Foreign exchange 40.2 3.7
Deferred tax assets 408.2 261.7
Valuation allowance (38.9) 4.7
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 369.% 257.(

Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:
Revenue in excess of billings on contracts accalftteunder the percentage of completion

method 105.2 137.(
U.S. tax on foreign subsidiaries’ undistributedn&ags not indefinitely reinvested 52.t 43.F
Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and ottssess 142.¢ 137.2
Deferred tax liabilities 300.t 317.3
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 68.6 $ (60.7)

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the carrying amofinet deferred tax assets and the related valuatiowance included the impact of
foreign currency translation adjustments. Inclughedur deferred tax assets at December 31, 2014 WeSs. foreign tax credit carryforwards of
$29.3 million , which, if not utilized, will begito expire after 2015 . Realization of these defbtex assets is dependent on the generation of
sufficient U.S. taxable income prior to the aboated Based on long-term forecasts of operatingtsgsnanagement believes that it is more
likely than not that domestic earnings over thedast period will result in sufficient U.S. taxableome to fully realize these deferred tax
assets. In its analysis, management has consitlerexifect of foreign deemed dividends and oth@eeted adjustments to domestic earnings
that are required in determining U.S. taxable ineoRoreign earnings taxable to us as dividendfjdieg deemed dividends for U.S. tax
purposes, were $186.6 million , $196.2 million &1d.8.3 million , in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , resvetyi.

Also included in deferred tax assets are tax benedlated to net operating loss carryforwardstaitable to foreign entities. If not utilized,
these net operating loss carryforwards will begiestpire in 2017 . Management believes it is mikedyl than not that we will not be able to
utilize certain of these operating loss carryfomgbefore expiration; therefore, we have estalfishealuation allowance against the related
deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets also include tax benefits 8fZillion related to certain intercompany interest costs hie not currently deductible, |
which may be deductible in future periods. If netidcted, these costs will become permanently naradikde beginning in 2025. Management
believes that it is more likely than not that wel wot be able to deduct these costs before expiratf the carry forward period; therefore, we
have established a valuation allowance againstetfated deferred tax assets.

65




The following table presents a summary of changesir unrecognized tax benefits and associatetksttand penalties:

Federal, Accrued Total Gross

State and Interest Unrecognized

Foreign and Income Tax
(In millions) Tax Penalties Benefits
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 39¢ % 6.2 $ 46.1
Additions for tax positions related to prior years (0.7 2.1 2.C
Reductions for tax positions due to settlements 9.3 (1.9 (11.2)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 30 % 64 $ 36.¢
Additions for tax positions related to prior years 3.1 0.4 3.E
Additions for tax positions related to current year 3.t 0.2 3.€
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 371 % 71 % 44.2
Additions for tax positions related to prior years 0.€ 0.4 1.C
Reductions for tax positions due to settlements (1.9 (0.3 .7
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 36.5 $ 7.2 $ 43.t

At December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , there w&Bel$million , $41.7 million and $36.4 million ,gpectively, of unrecognized tax benefits
that if recognized would affect the annual effeetiax rate.

It is reasonably possible that within twelve montihsecognized tax benefits related to certain ¢grorting positions taken in prior periods
could decrease by up to $41.0 million , due toegithe expiration of the statute of limitationscirtain jurisdictions or the resolution of current
income tax examinations, or both.

Our U.S. federal income tax returns for our 2010 2011 tax years are under examination by the NRSiagement believes that we are
adequately reserved for any matters that may &ose this examination.

In April 2013 we filed a protest with the IRS Appe®ffice with respect to proposed adjustmentsuicfederal income tax returns for our 2C
2008 and 2009 tax years related to our treatmeint@fcompany transfer pricing. The ultimate outeoofi this matter is uncertain. However,
management believes we are adequately reservédiganatter as of December 31, 2014.

The following tax years and thereafter remain stiifje examination: 2004 for Norway, 2009 for Braaild 2007 for the United States.
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The effective income tax rate was different frora #ftatutory U.S. federal income tax rate due tddhewing:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35% 35% 3%
Net difference resulting from:

Foreign earnings subject to different tax rates (8 (13 (12
Foreign earnings subject to U.S. tax 2 2 4
Non deductible Multi Phase Meters earn-out adjustsie — 1 2
Settlement of foreign audits — 1 —
Foreign withholding taxes 2 3 —
Change in valuation allowance 3 — —
Other — 1 @
Effective income tax rate 34% 30% 28 %

We have provided U.S. income taxes on $1,571.6anibf cumulative undistributed earnings of cert@ireign subsidiaries where we have
determined that the foreign subsidiaries’ earnaugsnot indefinitely reinvested. No provision forSJincome taxes has been recorded on
earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are indefigiteinvested. The cumulative balance of foreigmings with respect to which no provision
for U.S. income taxes has been recorded was $2 édiflion at December 31, 2014rhe amount of applicable U.S. income taxes thatld/be
incurred if these earnings were repatriated is @pprately $491.5 million .

We benefit from income tax holidays in Singapord Bfalaysia which will expire after 2018 for Singap@nd 2015 and 2018 for Malaysia.
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 20#&3e thx holidays reduced our provision for incoaxes$ by $1.3 million , or $0.Qder shar
on a diluted basis, and $12.7 million , or $0.06g#®are on a diluted basis, respectively.
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NOTE 12. PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

We have funded and unfunded defined benefit pendemms which provide defined benefits based ons/efservice and final average salary.
In October 2009, the Board of Directors amendedt®& Qualified and Non-Qualified Defined BeneférBion Plans (“U.S. Pension Plansy)
freeze participation in the U.S. Pension Plansafonew nonunion employees hired on or after JaniaR010, and current nonunion employ
with less than five years of vesting service aBefember 31, 2009 (“frozen participants”). For eatrnonunion employees with less than five
years of vesting service as of December 31, 2089¢efits accrued under the U.S. Pension Plans andceas of that date were frozen base
credited service and pay as of December 31, 2009.

In 2014 the Company amended the U.S. Qualified iBerian, and effective June 1, 2014, the assetdianilities attributable to participants
who are (i) either frozen participants or particifsathat had terminated service and subsequentgnbe re-employed on or after January 1,
2010, and (ii) active employees of FMC Technologie®f June 1, 2014 were transferred from the Qualified Pension Plan to the FMC
Technologies, Inc. Frozen Retirement Plan (“Fra2im”). Under the Frozen Plan, participants had the ogticaccept cash or an annuity uj
the Frozen Plan’s termination. In December 201#lesaeent payments were made based on frozen geatits’ elections and settlement costs
were recorded during 2014.

Foreign-based employees are eligible to participateMC Technologies-sponsored or government-spaasbenefit plans to which we
contribute. Several of the foreign defined benafitsion plans sponsored by us provide for emplogagibutions; the remaining plans are
noncontributory.

We have other post-retirement benefit plans cogesirbstantially all of our U.S. employees who wered prior to January 1, 2003. The post-
retirement health care plans are contributory pihet-retirement life insurance plans are noncoutoity.

We are required to recognize the funded statugfifed benefit post-retirement plans as an asd@hility in the consolidated balance sheet
and recognize changes in that funded status in mmepsive income in the year in which the changesro Further, we are required to
measure the plan’s assets and its obligationgditetmine its funded status as of the date of dhedalidated balance sheet. We have applied
this guidance to our domestic pension and othermetisement benefit plans as well as for manywfon-U.S. plans, including those in the
United Kingdom, Norway, Germany, France and CanBéasion expense measured in compliance with GAAEhE other non-U.S. pension
plans is not materially different from the locatlported pension expense.
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The funded status of our U.S. Pension Plans, cefdagign pension plans and U.S. post-retiremeattheare and life insurance benefit plans,
together with the associated balances recognizedrigonsolidated financial statements as of Deegr@h, 2014 and 2013 , were as follows:

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013

(In millions) u.S. Int'l u.S. Int'l

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 552.¢ $ 406.. $ 513.¢ $ 360.1

Projected benefit obligation at January 1 $ 585.C $ 438.¢ $ 692.¢ $ 3720 $ 6.7 $ 8.7
Service cost 13.€ 16.7 16.E 147 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 29.1 18.t 25.¢ 16.1 0.2 0.2
Actuarial (gain) loss 101.¢ 71.€ (119.9 45.€ 4.C 2.7)
Amendments 2.4 0.3 — 0.€ 0.2 —
Settlements (63.€) — (11.7) = = =
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — (53.¢) — (2.5) — —
Plan participants’ contributions — 2.4 — 2.2 — —
Benefits paid (27.7) (12.2) (19.9 (10.2) (0.€) (0.6

Projected benefit obligation at December 31 640.€ 482.F 585.( 438.¢ 10.4 6.7

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 576.¢ 400.¢ 462.F 327.¢ — —
Actual return on plan assets 8.5 13t 115.2 52.2 — —
Company contributions 11.C 22.¢ 29.F 30.1 0.€ 0.6
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — (40.9 — (1.9 = =
Settlements (63.€) — (11.7) — — —
Plan participants’ contributions — 2.4 — 2.2 — —
Benefits paid (27.7) (12.2) (19.9 (10.2) (0.€) (0.6

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 504.¢ 386.% 576.¢ 400.¢ = =

Funded status of the plans (liability) at Decen@ifer $ (135.9) $ (95.¢) $ 82 $ (38.0) % (109 $ (6.7)

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013

(In millions) u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l

Other assets $ — 3 — 3 38 % 3¢ $ — 3 =

Current portion of accrued pension and other post-

retirement benefits (4.7 (0.9 (9.2 1.9 (0.9 (0.€)

Accrued pension and other postirement benefits, n

of current portion (131.9) (95.9 (37.9 (40.5) (9.6 6.2

Funded status recognized in the consolidated balanc

sheets at December 31 $ (135 $ (956) $ 82 $ (380 % (109 % (6.7)
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The following table summarizes the pre-tax amoimtccumulated other comprehensive (income) lo§eaember 31, 2014 and 2013 that
have not been recognized as components of netdiebenefit cost:

(In millions)

Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive (income) loss:

Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss $
Unrecognized prior service (credit) cost
Unrecognized transition asset

Accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss a
December 31 $

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l
234¢ $ 187.¢ % 130.1  $ 113¢ % 11 % 3.2
0.2 1.3 0.1 1.t (0.2) —
— (0.2 — (0.9 — —
2351 $ 188.¢ $ 1302 $ 11457 % 1C $ (3.2

The following tables summarize the projected arclamlated benefit obligations and fair values afnphssets where the projected or
accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fauealf plan assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 :

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
(In millions) u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l
Plans with underfunded or non-funded projected
benefit obligation:
Aggregate projected benefit obligation $ 640.6 $ 482+t $ 46.2 $ 151¢  $ 104 $ 6.7
Aggregate fair value of plan assets $ 504.¢ $ 386.1 $ — 110.1  $ — 3 =
Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
(In millions) u.s. Int'l uU.S. Int'l
Plans with underfunded or non-funded accumulate:
benefit obligation:
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation $ 552 $ 145.( $ 36.2 $ 28.¢
Aggregate fair value of plan assets $ 504.¢ $ 103.1 $ —  $ 9.C
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The following table summarizes the components opreeodic benefit cost (income) for the years ehBecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012:

Other Post-retirement

Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
(In millions) u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l
Components of net periodic
benefit cost (income):
Service cost $ 13.¢ 167 $ 16t $ 147  $ 14¢ $ 372 $ 01 $ 01 $ 0.1
Interest cost 29.1 18.t 25.¢ 16.1 26.¢ 21/ 0.2 0.2 0.4
Expected return on plan
assets (46.9) (30.0 (41.¢ (23.7) (39.9 (26.9) — — —
Settlement cost 22.F — 5.1 — 5.€ 8.5 — — =
Curtailment cost 2.4 — — — — — — — _
Amortization of
transition asset — (0.2) — (0.2) — (0.2 — — —
Amortization of prior
service cost (credit) (0.7 0.4 (0.3 0.1 (0.3 0.1 — (0.5) (2.2
Amortization of net
actuarial loss (gain) 12.2 6.7 26.€ 58 23.C 8.1 0.9 0.2 0.2
Net periodic benefit cost _
(income) 33.€ 12z % 322 % 122 $ 31.C % 48.1 % 01 % 0.9 $ 0.8

The following table summarizes changes in plantassed benefit obligations recognized in other cahpnsive income (loss) for the years
ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :

Pensions

Other Post-retirement
Benefits

2014

2013

2012

2014 2013 2012

(In millions)

u.sS.

Int'l

uU.S.

Int'l

uU.S.

Int'l

Changes in plan assets and
benefit obligations recognize
in other comprehensive incor
(loss):
Net actuarial gain (loss)
arising during period  $
Prior service (cost) cred
arising during period
Settlements and
curtailments

Amortization of net
actuarial loss (gain)

Amortization of prior
service cost (credit)

Amortization of
transition asset

(139.6)
2.9
24.¢
12.

0.7)

(80.9)

0.3

6.7
0.4

(0.7)

$ 193

5.1
26.€

(0.7)

$  (15.6

(0.6)

0.1

(0.7)

$

(68.9 $

5.€
23.€

(0.7)

8.C
0.1

0.2)

$

@0 $ 1.7 $ —

0.9 0.2) 0.2)

— (0.5) (1.7)

Total recognized in other
comprehensive income (Ioss)$

(104.9)

(74.2)

$ 224«

$  (10.9

$

(395 $

70.2

$

@2 $ 1C $ (13
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Included in accumulated other comprehensive inclass) at December 31, 2014 , are noncash, prelarges which have not yet been
recognized in net periodic benefit cost (incomdje Estimated amounts expected to be amortizedtfierportion of each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)casn@onent of net period benefit cost (income), mythe next fiscal year are as follows:

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
(In millions) u.s. Int'l
Net actuarial losses (gains) $ 195 % 13.C % —
Prior service cost (credit) $ — 3 01 $ —
Transition asset $ — 3 (0.2 $ _
Key assumptio— The following weighted-average assumptions were tiseletermine the benefit obligations:
Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
uU.S. Int'l uU.S. Int'l
Discount rate 4.2(% 3.21% 5.1(% 4.3(% 4.2(% 5.1(%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 3.84% 4.0(% 4.29% — —
The following weighted-average assumptions werel tgeletermine net periodic benefit cost:
Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
u.S. Int'l uU.S. Int'l u.S. Int'l

Discount rate 5.1(% 4.3(% 3.9(% 4.4€¢% 4.6(% 4.5% 5.1(% 3.9(% 4.6(%
Rate of compensation increase  4.0(% 4.29% 4.0(% 3.9¢% 4.0(% 4.05% — — —
Expected rate of return on pl
assets 9.0(% 7.61% 9.0(% 7.48% 9.0(% 7.62% — — —

Our estimate of expected rate of return on plartass primarily based on the historical perforneantplan assets, current market conditions,
our asset allocation and long-term growth expemtati
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Plan asset—Our pension investment strategy emphasizes makxignieturns consistent with balancing risk. Exchglour international plans
with insurance-based investments, 89% of our fgakion plan assets represent the U.S. qualifead e U.K. plan and the Canadian plan.
These plans are primarily invested in equity séi@srito maximize the long-term returns of the plar®e investment managers of these assets
including the hedge funds and limited partnershigg, Graham and Dodd fundamental investment asdlysielect securities that have a
margin of safety between the price of the secuanitgt the estimated value of the security. This valiented approach tends to mitigate the risl
of a large equity allocation.

The following is a description of the valuation medologies used for the pension plan assets. Taare been no changes in the methodolc
used at December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

. Cash is valued at cost, which approximates faue

. Equity securities are comprised of common stpciferred stock, registered investment compamdsammon/collective trusts. The
fair values of equity securities are valued atdlesing price reported on the active market on Whiie securities are traded. The fair
values of registered investment companies and corfunlective trusts are valued based on quoted etgmices, which represent the
net asset value (“NAV”) of shares held, and prittyariclude investments in equity securities.

. The fair values of hedge funds are valued usind\t#i¥ as determined by the administrator or custodifithe func
. The fair values of limited partnerships are valusohg the NAV as determined by the administratorustodian of the fun

. Insurance contracts are valued at book valugwdipproximates fair value, and is calculated gisire prior-year balance plus or
minus investment returns and changes in cash flows.

. Emerging market bonds are comprised of regidtergestment companies. The fair values of registémvestment companies are
valued based on quoted market prices, which reptélse NAV of shares held.
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Our pension plan assets measured at fair valuasafi@lows at December 31, 2014 and 2013 . Ref&fao value measurements” in Note 1 to
these consolidated financial statements for a g®gur of the levels.

u.s. International
December 31, 2014
(In millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash $ 1212 $ 1212 $ — — % 03 $ 02 $ — 3 —
Equity securities:
U.S. companies:
Large cap 54.7 54.7 — — 44.C 44 .C — —
Mid cap 13.1 13.1 — — 0.1 0.1 — —
Small cap 102.1 102.1 — — — — — —
International companies 83.7 83.7 — — 241.¢ 241.¢ — _
Hedge funds 65.7 — — 65.7 _ _ — _
Limited partnerships 60.2 — — 60.7 — — — —
Insurance contracts — — — — 100.< — 100.¢ —
Emerging market bonds 4.8 4.8 — — — — — _
Total assets $ 504.¢ $ 379.2 % — % 1256 $ 386.7 $ 286.0 % 1002 % —
December 31, 2013
(In millions)
Cash $ 324 $ 324 $ — 3 — 3 11 $ 11 $ — 3 —
Equity securities:
U.S. companies:
Large cap 169.¢ 169.¢ — — 60.7 60.7 — —
Mid cap 12.1 12.1 — — 0.1 0.1 — —
Small cap 98.C 98.C — — — — — _
International companies 142.¢ 142.¢ — — 231.¢ 231.¢ — —
Hedge funds 64.€ — — 64.C — — — _
Limited partnerships 52.1 — — 52.1 — — — _
Insurance contracts — — — — 107.C — 107.C —
Emerging market bonds 4.5 4.5 — — — — — _
Total assets $ 576.6 $ 459.¢ % — 117.C  $ 400.6 % 293¢ % 107.C % —

The summary of changes in the fair value of thesmanplan Level 3 assets for the years ended Deee81) 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

(In millions) Level 3 Assets

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 95.7
Unrealized gains relating to instruments still haidhe reporting date 21.2
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 117.C
Unrealized gains relating to instruments still haidhe reporting date 1.€
Purchases, sales, and settlements, net 7.C
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 125.¢
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Contributions—We expect to contribute approximately $15.9 milltorour international pension plans, representimgarily the U.K. and
Norway qualified pension plans, and approxima$4.0 million to our U.S. Non-Qualified Defined Béinéension Plan in 2015 . All of the
contributions are expected to be in the form ohcés 2014 we contributed $33.6 million to the penglans. In 2013 we contributed $59.6
million to the pension plans, which included $18illion to the U.S. Qualified Defined Benefit PemsiPlan.

Estimated future benefit payme— The following table summarizes expected benefinpanyts from our various pension and post-retirement
benefit plans through 2024. Actual benefit paymemdy differ from expected benefit payments.

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits

(In millions) u.s. International

2015 $ 247 % 10.€¢ $ 0.7
2016 $ 26.C $ 112 $ 0.6
2017 $ 39.¢ §$ 121  $ 0.€
2018 $ 26.€ $ 136 $ 0.6
2019 $ 28z $ 147 $ 0.6
2020-2024 $ 1627 % 92¢ $ 3.€

Savings plans—Fhe FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings and Investméart PQualified Plan”), a qualified salary reduatiplan under

Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, isfndd contribution plan. Additionally, we have enaqualified deferred compensation plan,
the Non-Qualified Plan, which allows certain highlympensated employees the option to defer thépteafea portion of their salary. We
match a portion of the participants’ deferrals sohoplans. In October 2009, the Board of Directggproved amendments to the U.S. Qualified
Plan and Non-Qualified Plan (“Amended Plans”). Unitie Amended Plans, we are required to make alecthe contribution every pay
period to all new nonunion employees hired on terafanuary 1, 2010, and current nonunion employébdess than five years of vesting
service as of December 31, 2009. Nonelective dautiins under the Amended Plans vest with threesyafaservice with FMC Technologies.

Participants in the Non-Qualified Plan earn a retased on hypothetical investments in the samerapas our 401(k) plan, including FMC
Technologies stock. Changes in the market valdubkesfe participant investments are reflected aglprstanent to the deferred compensation
liability with an offset to other income (expensegt. As of both December 31, 2014 and 2013 ,iability for the Non-Qualified Plan was
$38.5 million and was recorded in other non-curtiatilities. We hedge the financial impact of chas in the participants’ hypothetical
investments by purchasing the investments thapdinécipants have chosen. With the exception of FM€hnologies stock, which is
maintained at its cost basis, changes in the &irevof these investments are recognized as agtodfother income (expense), net. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had investmenthédlon-Qualified Plan totaling $30.7 million a$29.1 million , respectively, at fair
market value and FMC Technologies stock held isttaf $8.0 million and $7.7 millionrespectively, at its cost basis. Refer to Notéol#hese
consolidated financial statements for fair valuscltisure of the Non-Qualified Plan investments.

We recognized expense of $28.4 million , $23.5iorilland $18.4 million , for matching contributioiasthese plans in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively. Additionally, we recognized expent818.9 million , $16.2 million and $11.8 milliolf nonelective contributions in 2014 ,
2013 and 2012, respectively.
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NOTE 13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We sponsor a stock-based compensation plan, whidéscribed below, and have primarily granted asvardhe form of nonvested stock units
(also known as restricted stock units in the placudnent) and stock options. The compensation explnsawards under the plan is as follo

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Stock-based compensation expense $ 4¢ % 477 % 34.C
Income tax benefits related to stock-based compiensaxpense $ 145 % 16.2 $ 11.F

Stock-based compensation expense is recognizedtovégsser of the stated vesting period ( thrfewryears) or the period until the
employee reaches age 62 (the retirement eligitdeuager the plan). As of December 31, 2014, aqodf the stock-based compensation
expense related to outstanding awards remains tedognized in future periods. The compensatioreesp related to nonvested awards to
employees yet to be recognized totaled $43.6 mifiay restricted stock units. These costs are g@rpeo be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.2 years.

Incentive compensation and stock |— The Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inentince Compensation and Stock Plan (the
“Plan”) provides certain incentives and awardsfficers, employees, directors and consultants oCFMechnologies or its affiliates. The Plan
allows our Board of Directors to make various typeawards to non-employee directors and the Cosgten Committee (the “Committee”)
of the Board of Directors to make various typeswérds to other eligible individuals. Awards incuthanagement incentive awards, stock
options, stock appreciation rights, performancésysiock units, restricted stock or other awardb@ized under the Plan. All awards are
subject to the Plan’s provisions.

Under the Plan, 48.0 million shares of our comnmoglswere authorized for awards. These sharesaddition to shares previously granted
by FMC Corporation and converted into approximatey0 million shares of our common stock. As of &maber 31, 2014, 3.3 million shares
were reserved to satisfy existing awards and 2@I®m shares were available for future awards.

Management incentive awards may be awards of casiimon stock, restricted stock or a combinationetbie Grants of stock options may be
incentive and/or nonqualified stock options. Thereise price for options are determined by the Cdtembut cannot be less than the fair
market value of our common stock at the grant dRéstricted stock and restricted stock unit grapeify any applicable performance goals,
the time and rate of vesting and such other prorgsas determined by the Committee. Restricted stoit grants generally vest after three to
four years of service. Additionally, most awardsrigdiately vest upon a change of control as defindde Plan document.

Under the Plan, our Board of Directors has thea@itthto grant noremployee directors stock options, restricted stowk restricted stock uni
Unless otherwise determined by our Board of Dines;tawards to non-employee directors generally @eshe date of our annual stockholder
meeting following the date of grant. Restrictectktanits are settled when a director ceases sarticthe Board of Directors. However, a
director may elect to settle restricted stock ueitiser (i) in a calendar year no later than a yeawhich such restricted stock units are payable
or (i) in annual installments over a period of éiwith such installments commencing no later thgaaa for which such restricted stock units
are payable. At December 31, 2014, outstandingdsita active and retired non-employee directotBinied 861 thousand stock units.
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Restricted stock un— A summary of the nonvested restricted stock unitsmployees as of December 31, 2014, and changeg) dine year
is presented below:

Weighted-

Average Grant

(Shares in thousands) Shares Date Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 2,46 $ 48.0¢
Granted 95 $ 51.2(
Vested (749) % 40.1¢
Cancelled/forfeited 119 $ 49.6¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2014 2,554 ¢ 51.4¢

For current-year performance-based awards, theupayas dependent upon our performance relativeptea group of companies with respect
to earnings growth and return on investment foryéber ended December 31, 2Q1Based on results for the performance periodpty®ut will
be 342 thousand shares at the vesting date inidJaR0&a7 . Compensation cost was measured for 283ddion the actual outcome of the
performance conditions.

For current-year market-based awards, actual payoat vary from zero to 172 thousand shares, ageninupon our performance relative to
the same peer group of companies with respectabgbareholder return (“TSR”) for a three yearnqaending December 31, 2016. In 2012,
the Committee changed the payout with respected®R metric to make it possible to have a payegardless of whether our TSR for the
year is positive or negative. If our TSR for anyagi year is not positive, the payout with respedhe TSR is limited to the target previou
established by the Committee. In 2014, the Committeanged the performance evaluation period froenyesar to three years. Compensation
cost for these awards was calculated using thet gege fair market value, as estimated using a ®l@a#rlo simulation, and is not subject to
change based on future events.

The following summarizes values for restricted ktonit activity to employees:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Weighted average grant date fair value of restlisteck units granted $ 51.2C $ 53.01 $% 49.8¢
Vest date fair value of restricted stock units gdgin millions) $ 391 $ 51t % 100.¢

On January 2, 2015, restricted stock units vestedapproximately 0.5 million shares were issuednployees.
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NOTE 14. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital stock—The following is a summary of our capital stockiwty for the years ended December 31, 2014, 20182012 :

Common Stock

Common E}-rirfplfljo;]ee
(Number of shares in thousands) Stock Issued Benefit Trust Treasury Stock
December 31, 2011 286,31¢ 16¢ 48,31¢
Stock awards — — (1,399
Treasury stock purchases — — 2,13¢
Net stock purchased for (sold from) employee bémefst — 27 —
December 31, 2012 286,31¢ 19¢€ 49,06:
Stock awards — — (99¢)
Treasury stock purchases — — 2,25¢
Net stock purchased for (sold from) employee bémwefst — (16) —
December 31, 2013 286,31¢ 18C 50,31¢
Stock awards — — (547)
Treasury stock purchases — — 4,85k
Net stock purchased for (sold from) employee bémefst — 13 —
December 31, 2014 286,31¢ 167 54,62¢

The plan administrator of the Non-Qualified Plamghases shares of our common stock on the operem&ulch shares are placed in a trust
owned by FMC Technologies.

As of December 31, 2014, the Board of Directors &atthorized 75 million shares for repurchase. Vpeirehased $247.6 million , $116.3
million and $91.1 million of common stock during12h) 2013 and 2012, respectively, under the autednizpurchase program. As of
December 31, 2014, approximately 8.0 million shaeesained available for purchase under the cupmrgram which may be executed from
time to time in the open market. We intend to heldurchased shares in treasury for general cospraposes, including issuances under out
employee incentive compensation and stock plareastry shares are accounted for using the cosbrheth

No cash dividends were declared on our common sto2k1d, 2013 or 2012.

78




Accumulated other comprehensive I—Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistedeofollowing:

Defined Pension and

Foreign Currency Other Accumulated Other

(In millions) Translation Hedging Post-Retirement Benefits Comprehensive Loss
December 31, 2012 $ (104.¢) $ 10.C $ (301.9) $ (396.0
Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications, net of tax (99.7) 27.1 112.1 39.t
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains)

losses included in net income, net of tax — (5.2 21.C 15.¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (99.7) 21.¢ 133.] b5.2
December 31, 2013 (204.9) 31.¢ (168.9) (340.7)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications, net of tax (107.¢ (108.9 (154.9 (370.9
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains)

losses included in net income, net of tax — (0.9 28.2 27.4
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (107.6) (109.7) (126.7) (343.0
December 31, 2014 $ (3119 $ (77.5) 9 (2945 % (683.9)

Reclassifications out of accumulated other compneive los«—Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprsive loss consisted of tl
following:

Year Ended
(In millions) December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss Amount Reclassified out of Accumulated Other Affected Line Item in the Consolidated
Components Comprehensive Loss Statement of Income
Gains (losses) on hedding instruments
Foreign exchange contracts: $ (36.2 $ (11.7 Revenue
34.2 14.€ Costs of sales
Selling, general and administrative
(0.2) —  expense
(2.2 3.1 Income before income taxes
3.C 2.1 Income tax (expense) benefit
$ 0.8 $ 5.2 Netincome
Defined pension and other pastirement benefits
Settlements $ (249 $ (5.1) @®
Amortization of actuarial loss (18.€) 317 @
Amortization of prior service credit 0.9 0t @
Amortization of transition asset 0.1 01 @
(43.7) (36.2) Income before income taxes
15t 15.2 Income tax (expense) benefit
$ (28.2 $ (21.0 Netincome
@ These accumulated other comprehensive income canpoare included in the computation of net pecigdinsion cost (see Note 12 for additional
details).
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NOTE 15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We hold derivative financial instruments for thepase of hedging the risks of certain identifiattel anticipated transactions. The types of
risks hedged are those relating to the variabilftfuture earnings and cash flows caused by movésnerioreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. We hold the following types of dafive instruments:

Foreign exchange rate forward contraefBhe purpose of these instruments is to hedgagkef changes in future cash flows of anticipated
purchase or sale commitments denominated in foraigrencies. At December 31, 2014, we held thefalig material positions:

Notional Amount

Bought (Sold)

(In millions) USD Equivalent

Australian dollar 31.¢ 26.1
British pound 73.% 114.]
Canadian dollar (150.0 (129.))
Euro 151.¢ 183.:
Kuwaiti dinar (5.9 (20.2)
Malaysian ringgit 107.¢ 30.¢
Norwegian krone 2,859.( 383.¢
Singapore dollar 222.: 167.5
U.S. dollar (929.7) (929.))

Foreign exchange rate instruments embedded in asechnd sale contraetsThe purpose of these instruments is to matcletiifigy currency
payments and receipts for particular projects,oongly with government restrictions on the currensgd to purchase goods in certain
countries. At December 31, 2014, our portfoliolw#ge instruments included the following materiaifions:

Notional Amount

Bought (Sold)
(In millions) USD Equivalent
Brazilian real (105.6) (39.7)
Norwegian krone (77.€ (10.9
U.S. dollar 34.€ 34.¢

The purpose of our foreign currency hedging adgsits to manage the volatility associated withcipaited foreign currency purchases and
sales created in the normal course of businessp@iay is to hold derivatives only for the purpasfehedging risks and not for trading
purposes where the objective is solely to gengraifit. Generally, we enter into hedging relatiopstsuch that changes in the fair values or
cash flows of the transactions being hedged areatzg to be offset by corresponding changes ifain@alue of the derivatives. For derivat
instruments that qualify as a cash flow hedgegeffective portion of the gain or loss of the detive, which does not include the time value
component of a forward currency rate, is reported aomponent of other comprehensive income (“Oéng reclassified into earnings in the
same period or periods during which the hedged#etion affects earnings.
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The following table of all outstanding derivativestruments is based on estimated fair value amadbatfave been determined using availabl
market information and commonly accepted valuatimthodologies. Refer to Note 16 to these cons@dlfihancial statements for further
disclosures related to the fair value measuremmaaess. Accordingly, the estimates presented mapaondicative of the amounts that we
would realize in a current market exchange and nude indicative of the gains or losses we maynaltely incur when these contracts settle
or mature.

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(In millions) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts:
Current — Derivative financial instruments $ 1721 $ 207.1 $ 149.: $ 152.k
Long-term — Derivative financial instruments 129.¢ 214.¢ 65.4 441
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments 301.t 421.7 214 196.¢
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts:
Current — Derivative financial instruments 25.t 23.1 16.€ 18.¢
Long-term — Derivative financial instruments 5.t 5.€ 3.1 3.C
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instnts 31.C 28.7 19.7 21.¢
Total derivatives $ 332t % 450.2 % 234 $ 218.¢

We recognized gains of $0.9 million , $0.1 milliand $4.4 million on cash flow hedges for the yemmded December 31, 2014, 2013 20d2
respectively, due to hedge ineffectiveness as st pvabable that the original forecasted transaatiould not occur. Cash flow hedges of
forecasted transactions, net of tax, resulted cumeilated other comprehensive loss of $77.3 millind gain of $31.9 million at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. We expect to traresfeapproximate $17.3 million loss from accumula®el to earnings during the next 12
months when the anticipated transactions actualtyio All anticipated transactions currently belregiged are expected to occur by the end o
2016.
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The following tables present the impact of derivatinstruments in cash flow hedging relationshipg #heir location within the accompanying

consolidated statements of income.

(In millions)
Interest rate contracts
Foreign exchange contracts

Total

Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulad OCI into Income

(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:

Revenue

Cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative expense

Total

Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:
Revenue

Cost of sales

Total

Gain (Loss) Recognized in OCI (Effective Portion)
Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ — % — % 1.€
(137.) 24.1 41.¢
$ (137.) $ 241 $ 43.F

Gain (Loss) Reclassified From Accumulated
OCI into Income (Effective Portion)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ (36.2) $ (117 $ 6.€
34.2 14.€ 1.9
(0.2) — 0.2)
$ 22 $ 31 $ 4F

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income (Ineffective Poxtn
and Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testing)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 247 $ 27 $ 13.7
(24.9) (11.0 (17.6)
$ 0.2 $ 83 $ (3.9

Instruments that are not designated as hedgingimshts are executed to hedge the effect of expsesnrthe consolidated balance sheets, ant
occasionally forward foreign currency contract€omency options are executed to hedge exposuriehwb not meet all of the criteria to

qualify for hedge accounting.

Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:
Revenue

Cost of sales

Other income (expense), net

Total

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on
Derivatives (Instruments Not Designated
as Hedging Instruments)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 4.0 $ 0.6 $ 4.c
0.7 (0.2) (0.2)
35.4 (15.0 6.4
$ 321 $ (14.6 $ 11.1
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Balance Sheet OffsettingWe execute derivative contracts only with coundetips that consent to a master netting agreemieichvpermits
net settlement of the gross derivative assets spginss derivative liabilities. Each instrumenaégounted for individually and assets and
liabilities are not offset. As of December 31, 2@h# 2013 , we had no collateralized derivativetramts. The following tables present both
gross information and net information of recognidedivative instruments:

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Gross Amount

Gross Amounts
Not Offset
Permitted Under
Master Netting

Gross Amount

Gross Amounts
Not Offset
Permitted Under
Master Netting

(In millions) Recognized Agreements Net Amount Recognized Agreements Net Amount
Derivative assets $ 3325 % (3215 $ 11.C 234.¢ % (198.5) $ 35.¢
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Amounts Gross Amounts
Not Offset Not Offset
Permitted Under Permitted Under
Gross Amount Master Netting Gross Amount Master Netting

(In millions) Recognized Agreements Net Amount Recognized Agreements Net Amount
Derivative liabilities $ 450.. $ (3215 $ 128.¢ 218.¢ $ (198.5) $ 19.¢
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NOTE 16. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oacarring basis were as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(In millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments:
Equity securities $ 225 % 225 % — 3 — 3 21z % 21z % — $ =
Fixed income 7.1 7.1 — — 13.2 13.2 — —
Money market fund 3.4 — 3.4 — 3.€ — 3.8 —
Stable value fund 0.7 — 0.7 — 1.C — 1.C —
Other 2.1 2.1 — — 2.4 2.4 — —
Derivative financial
instruments:
Foreign exchange
contracts 332.t — 332.t — 234.¢ — 234.¢ —
Total assets $ 368:° % 317 $ 336 $ — ¢ 276.C $ 36.6 $ 239.2 % —
Liabilities
Derivative financial
instruments:
Foreign exchange
contracts 450.£ — 450.¢ — 218.¢ — 218.¢ —
Contingent earn-out
consideration — — — — 70.1 — — 70.1
Total liabilities $ 450.¢ % — $ 450 $ — $ 288f % — $ 2182 $ 70.1

Investmen— The fair value measurement of our equity securifized income and other investment assets is baseaglioted prices that we
have the ability to access in public markets. Qaible value fund and money market fund are valteldeanet asset value of the shares held at
the end of the year, which is based on the faue/alf the underlying investments using informatieported by the investment advisor at yeatr-
end. See Note 12 to these consolidated finana@tdrsients for additional disclosure related to aur-qualified deferred compensation plan
investments.

Derivative financial instrumen—We use the income approach as the valuation teear@measure the fair value of foreign currency
derivative instruments on a recurring basis. Thigraach calculates the present value of the futasé flow by measuring the change from the
derivative contract rate and the published marditative currency rate, multiplied by the contmagtional values. Credit risk is then
incorporated by reducing the derivative’s fair \&aln asset positions by the result of multiplyihg present value of the portfolio by the
counterparty’s published credit spread. Portfoiioa liability position are adjusted by the samkewkation; however, a spread representing out
credit spread is used. Our credit spread and #dit@pread of other counterparties not publiclgilable are approximated by using the spreac
of similar companies in the same industry, of simflize and with the same credit rating.

At the present time, we have no credit-risk-relatedtingent features in our agreements with thanfimal institutions that would require us to
post collateral for derivative positions in a liélyiposition .

See Note 15 to these consolidated financial statenfer additional disclosure related to derivativancial instruments.
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Multi Phase Meters contingent ei-out consideration—We determined the fair value of the contingent earnconsideration using a
discounted cash flow model. The key assumptiond usapplying the income approach were the expeatefitability and debt, net of cash, of
the acquired company during the earn-out periodtaadliscount rate which approximates our debtitrating. The fair value measurement
was based upon significant inputs not observableammarket. Changes in the value of the contingan-out consideration were recorded as
cost of service revenue in our consolidated stat¢snaf income.

Changes in the fair value of our Level 3 contingeartn-out consideration obligation were as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013

Balance at beginning of year $ 701 $ 105.¢
Remeasurement adjustment 3.€ 28.7
Payment (74.€) (57.9)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.¢ (6.€)
Balance at end of year $ — % 70.1

Fair value of deb—The fair value, based on Level 1 quoted markestsiadf our 2.00% Notes due 2017 and 3.45% Noteg0d22
(collectively, “Senior Notes”) was approximately@75 million and $767.6 million as of December 2014 and 2013, respectively, as
compared to the $800.0 million face value of thetdeet of issue discounts, recorded in the codat#d balance sheets.

Other fair value disclosures-Fhe carrying amounts of cash and cash equivaleati receivables, accounts payable, short-terrty deb
commercial paper, debt associated with our term,loavolving credit facility as well as amountslirded in other current assets and other
current liabilities that meet the definition of incial instruments, approximate fair value.

Credit risk—BYy their nature, financial instruments involve riskluding credit risk for non-performance by caenparties. Financial
instruments that potentially subject us to creigk primarily consist of trade receivables and dgive contracts. We manage the credit risk or
financial instruments by transacting only with whanagement believes are financially secure copatges, requiring credit approvals and
credit limits, and monitoring counterparties’ firtgal condition. Our maximum exposure to credit losthe event of non-performance by the
counterparty is limited to the amount drawn andtautding on the financial instrument. Allowanceslésses on trade receivables are
established based on collectability assessmentsnitigate credit risk on derivative contracts bgeuting contracts only with counterparties
that consent to a master netting agreement whighitsethe net settlement of the gross derivatisetsagainst the gross derivative liabilities.
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NOTE 17. WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS

Warranty cost and accrual information is as follows

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013

Balance at beginning of year $ 18.C $ 15.4
Expenses for new warranties 30.t 27.C
Adjustments to existing accruals 0.7 1.t
Claims paid (26.2) (25.9)
Balance at end of year $ 23.C 18.C

NOTE 18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Commitments associated with leasedfe-lease office space, manufacturing facilities eadous types of manufacturing and data processing
equipment. Leases of real estate generally prdeidpayment of property taxes, insurance and regairus. Substantially all of our leases are
classified as operating leases. Rent expense opaeating leases amounted to $136.8 million , $L4sllion and $133.9 million in 2014 ,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

In March 2014 we entered into construction and atieg lease agreements to finance the construofiomnufacturing and office facilities
located in Houston, TX. Upon expiration of the keéarm in September 2021, we have the option tewehe lease, purchase the facilities or
re-market the facilities on behalf of the lessocluding certain guarantees of residual value utttere-marketing option.

At December 31, 2014 , future minimum rental payreemder noncancellable operating leases were:

(In millions)
2015 $ 108.¢
2016 87.1
2017 67.¢
2018 b5.Z
2019 45.¢
Thereafter 282.¢
Total 647.7
Less income from subleases 1.2
Net minimum operating lease payments $ 646.-
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Contingent liabilities associated with guaranteeb+the ordinary course of business with customeradors and others, we issue standby
letters of credit, performance bonds, surety bambother guarantees. These financial instrumeémgseember 31, 2014 , represented $755.4
million for guarantees of our future performance &78.4 million of bank guarantees and lettersreflit to secure a portion of our existing
financial obligations. The majority of these fina@alénstruments expire within three years, and wjgeet to replace them through the issuance
of new or the extension of existing letters of @radd surety bonds.

In August 2014 FMC Technologies entered into anragement to guarantee the debt obligations underadving credit facility of FMC
Technologies Offshore, LLC (“FTO Services”), ouinjoventure with Edison Chouest Offshore LLC. Unttex terms of the guarantee, FMC
Technologies and Edison Chouest Offshore LLC jpiatid severally guaranteed amounts under the riegpbredit facility with a maximum
potential amount of future payments of $40.0 millthat would become payable if FTO Services dedanlpayment under the terms of the
revolving credit facility. The approximate termtbe guarantee is two years . The liability recogdiat inception for the fair value of our
obligation as a guarantor was not material, an@éxyect our future performance under the guaraotée remote.

Management believes the ultimate resolution ofkmawn contingencies will not materially affect aonsolidated financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Contingent liabilities associated with legal magterWe are involved in various pending or potentiableactions in the ordinary course of our
business. Management is unable to predict the alérautcome of these actions, because of the inheneertainty of litigation. However,
management believes that the most probable, ukimesolution of these matters will not have a niatexdverse effect on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or casiws.

Contingent liabilities associated with liquidatedrdages—Some of our contracts contain penalty provisioas thquire us to pay liquidated
damages if we are responsible for the failure tetrspecified contractual milestone dates and tpécable customer asserts a conforming
claim under these provisions. These contracts défia conditions under which our customers may neiims against us for liquidated
damages. Based upon the evaluation of our perfarenand other commercial and legal analysis, managebelieves we have appropriately
accrued for probable liquidated damages at DeceBthe2014 and 2013, and that the ultimate resoiutf such matters will not materially
affect our consolidated financial position, resolt®perations, or cash flows.
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NOTE 19. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We report the results of operations in the follogveegments: Subsea Technologies, Surface Techeslagd Energy Infrastructure.
Management’s determination of our reporting segsemts made on the basis of our strategic priontigsin each segment and corresponds t
the manner in which our chief operating decisiorkenaeviews and evaluates operating performancestke decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment.

Our reportable segments are:

. Subsea Technologies—designs and manufacturdsigigand systems and provides services used bydijlas companies involved
in deepwater exploration and production of crudeund natural gas.

. Surface Technologies—designs and manufactuisgsersg and provides services used by oil and gapawoies involved in land and
offshore exploration and production of crude ol @as; designs, manufactures and supplies technaltygadvanced high pressure
valves and fittings for oilfield service companiasd also provides flowback and wireline serviaegseikploration companies in the oil
and gas industry.

. Energy Infrastructure—manufactures and supfiliesd and gas measurement and transportation ewgripand systems to customers
involved in the production, transportation and ssing of crude oil, natural gas and petroleum+bastned products and the mining
industry.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2013 and in cawjiion with management's efforts to acceleratadthelopment and commercialization of
subsea boosting technology for subsea marketgsimat drive systems technology development, prgslioreported in Energy Infrastructure,
is now reported in Subsea Technologies. All prieatyinformation has been adjusted to reflect thieeati presentation.

Total revenue by segment includes intersegmensg,saleich are made at prices approximating thosetiigaselling entity is able to obtain on
external sales. Segment operating profit is defaetbtal segment revenue less segment operatiemeas. The following items have been
excluded in computing segment operating profitpooate staff expense, net interest income (experssejciated with corporate debt facilities,
income taxes, and other revenue and other expease,
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Segment revenue and segment operating profit

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012

Segment revenue

Subsea Technologié€s $ 5,266.. $ 4,726.¢ $ 4,006.¢

Surface Technologies 2,130.° 1,806.¢ 1,598.:

Energy Infrastructure 557. 617.2 574.1

Other revenu® and intercompany eliminations (11.9 (24.7) (27.6)
Total revenue $ 7,942¢ $ 7,126.. $ 6,151.

Income before income taxes:
Segment operating profit:

Subsea Technologies $ 748.2 % 548.. $ 432.2
Surface Technologies 393.( 257.2 284.:
Energy Infrastructure 52.t 74.% 68.2
Intercompany eliminations 0.3 0.7 —
Total segment operating profit 1,193. 879.¢ 784.1
Corporate items:
Corporate expensd (66.9) (46.9) (41.9)
Other revenu® and other expense, riét (33.7) (85.9) (119.9
Net interest expense (32.9) (33.7) (26.€)
Total corporate items (132.5) (165.6) (188.9)
Income before income taxes attributable to FMC Tetdgies, Inc® $ 1,060.¢ § 714.C $ 596.4

1)

()

3)

4)

®)

We had one customer in our Subsea Technologieses#dhat comprised approximately $875.9 million @5.9 million of our consolidated
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 at?| 28spectively.

Other revenue comprises certain unrealized gaid$cmses on derivative instruments related to unigeel sales contrac
Corporate expense primarily includes corporate stgfense:

Other expense, net, generally includes stock-besegpensation, other employee benefits, LIFO adjasts certain foreign exchange gains and
losses, and the impact of unusual or strategica@ions not representative of segment operations.

Excludes amounts attributable to noncontrollingiiests
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Segment operating capital employed and segmentsasse

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Segment operating capital employeéb:
Subsea Technologies $ 2,175.. $ 2,126.:
Surface Technologies 1,183.¢ 1,139.:
Energy Infrastructure 313.¢ 345.¢
Total segment operating capital employed 3,672. 3,610.¢
Segment liabilities included in total segment ofiatacapital employeé 2,402.: 2,272.¢
Corporate® 1,100.¢ 722.(
Total assets $ 7,175.¢  $ 6,605.¢
Segment assets:
Subsea Technologies $ 4,066.. $ 3,923.¢
Surface Technologies 1,587.¢ 1,484.(
Energy Infrastructure 442 496.4
Intercompany eliminations (21.2) (20.9)
Total segment assets 6,075.( 5,883.¢
Corporate® 1,100.¢ 722.(
Total assets $ 7,175.¢ $ 6,605.¢
® FMC Technologies’ management views segment operatipital employed, which consists of assets, figs Giabilities, as the primary measure of
segment capital. Segment operating capital empleyetlides debt, certain investments, pension itas) income taxes and LIFO and valuation
adjustments.
@ Segment liabilities included in total segment ofiegacapital employed consist of trade and otheoants payable, advance payments and progress

billings, accrued payroll and other liabilities.

® Corporate includes cash, LIFO adjustments, defémamme tax balances, property, plant and equipmenassociated with a specific segment,
pension assets and the fair value of derivativanfonal instruments.
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Geographic segment information

Geographic segment sales were identified basedelotation where our products and services wdreetled. Geographic segment long-lived
assets represent property, plant and equipment, net

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue:
United States $ 2,245 % 1,940.. $ 1,541.¢
Norway 1,023.: 1,217 1,231.:
Brazil 831.¢ 689.( 561.2
Nigeria 627.( 335.( 192.%
Angola 406.7 516.( 598.(
All other countries 2,808." 2,428.. 2,026.¢
Total revenue $ 7,942.¢ % 7,126.. $ 6,151.

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Long-lived assets:
United States $ 490.5 $ 443.¢
Norway 250.¢ 223.:
Brazil 169.1 166.:
United Kingdom 147.C 137.2
Malaysia 112.¢ 100.¢
All other countries 288.¢ 278.1
Total long-lived assets $ 1,458 § 1,349.

Other business segment information

Depreciation and Research and
Capital Expenditures Amortization Development Expense
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Subsea Technologies $ 268.7 $ 235.( $ 257.¢ $ 138.( $ 119t $ 89.: $ 92z $ 871 $ 93¢
Surface Technologies 124.¢ 70.1 110.1 72.C 68.C 38.¢ 21.¢ 15.¢ 12.2
Energy Infrastructure 10.5 8.2 10.2 16.€ 16.5 14.C 11.2 12.2 10.7
Corporate 0.€ 0.7 27.2 5.¢ 5.8 4.1 — — —
Intercompany eliminations — — — — — — (1.9 (2.5) —

Total $ 404« $ 3141 $ 405.€ $ 2325 $ 209.¢ $ 146z $ 1237 $ 1122 $ 116.¢
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NOTE 20. QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2014 2013
(In millions, except per share
data) 4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr. 4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr.
Revenue $ 2,156 $ 1976.° $ 19850 $ 1,824. $ 2,047.¢ $ 1,724f $ 1,707.¢ $ 1,646.(
Cost of sales 1,608.¢ 1,479.¢ 1,507.¢ 1,403t 1,560.! 1,353.¢ 1,350.: 1,307..
Net income 170.¢ 170.t 2271 136.£ 179.1 117.4 106.5 103.¢
Net income attributable to
FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 1686 $ 169.¢ $ 226 $ 1352 ¢ 177.¢ $ 116 $ 105z $ 102«
Basic earnings per shafé $ 0.7z $ 0.7z $ 0.9¢ $ 057 $ 0.7 $ 0.4¢ $ 044 $ 0.4<
Diluted earnings per shaféd $ 0.7z $ 07z $ 09t $ 057 $ 07 % 0.4¢ $ 04z % 0.42
@ Basic and diluted EPS are independently computedéch of the periods presented. Accordingly, tiva ef the quarterly EPS amounts may not
agree to the annual total.
NOTE 21. OTHER INFORMATION
Year Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest (net of interest capitaljzed $ 316 $ 271 % 18.t
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds recgived $ 370.C $ 1372 § 225.¢
December 31,
(In millions) 2014 2013
Other reportable information:
Unbilled receivables included in trade receivables $ 804.: $ 777.C
Trading securities included in investments $ 358 $ 41.€
Net capitalized software costs included in otheets $ 57.2 % 56.¢
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2014 , and under the directfayuo principal executive officer and principal éincial officer, we have evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and pracesi as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15@gnthe Exchange Act. Based upon this
evaluation, our principal executive officer andngipal financial officer have concluded as of Debem31, 2014 , that our disclosure controls
and procedures were:

i) effective in ensuring that information requiredbe disclosed in reports that we file or subumider the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieniods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms; and

i) effective in ensuring that information requireco®disclosed in reports that we file or submit urtle Exchange Act is accumula
and communicated to management, including our jpéhexecutive officer and principal financial aiir, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There were no changes in internal controls overrfial reporting identified in the evaluation foetquarter ended December 31, 2014 , that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

This report is included in Part Il, Item 8 of tlisnual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated imebg reference.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our directors is incorporakexein by reference from the section entitled ¢Eén of Directors (Item 1 on the Proxy
Card)” of our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annuadiing of Stockholders.

Our Board of Directors has three standing comnsttaa Audit Committee, a Compensation CommitteeaaNo@minating and Governance
Committee. Each of these committees operates pursma written charter setting out the functiond aesponsibilities of the committee. The
charters for the Audit Committee, the Compensafiommittee and the Nominating and Governance Coreendf the Board of Directors may
be found on our website at www.fmctechnologies.comer “About Us—Corporate Governance” and are alsdlable in print to any
stockholder upon request without charge by submgitéi written request to our Senior Vice Presidéeneral Counsel and Secretary, FMC
Technologies, Inc., 5875 North Sam Houston ParkWagt, Houston, Texas 77086. Information regardivayeholder nominating procedures
is incorporated herein by reference from the sadtiatitled “Corporate Governance—Committees of8bard of Directors—Nominating and
Governance Committee” of the Proxy Statement fera®15 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Informatimmcerning audit committee
financial experts on the Audit Committee of the Rbaf Directors is incorporated herein by referefioen the section entitled “Corporate
Governance—Committees of the Board of Directors—iAGdmmittee” of the Proxy Statement for the 201th&al Meeting of Stockholders.

Information regarding our executive officers isgepted in the section entitled “Executive Officefshe Registrant” in Part I, Item 1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Information regarding compliance by our directamsl @xecutive officers with Section 16(a) of the Béies and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, is incorporated herein by reference fl@rséction entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ovaingp Reporting Compliancesf our Prox
Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockhdde

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHthie “Code”), which is applicable to our priraligxecutive officer and other senior
financial officers, who include our principal fingial officer, principal accounting officer or coalier, and persons performing similar
functions. The Code may be found on our websitevat.fmctechnologies.com under “About Us—Corporat@/€nance” and is available in
print to stockholders without charge by submittingequest to the address set forth above. To teatesequired by SEC rules, we intend to
disclose any amendments to this Code and any waheeprovision of the Code for the benefit of puincipal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer oontroller, or persons performing similar functipna our website within four business days
following any such amendment of waiver, or withinyather period that may be required under SEGsrintam time to time.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporatestdin by reference from the sections entitled “Bioe Compensation,” “Corporate
Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks asidén Participation in Compensation Decisions” &axkecutive Compensation” of our
Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stadders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item is incorporateztdin by reference from the section entitled “Seg@wnership of Our Management and
Holders of More Than 5% of Outstanding Shares ah@on Stock” of our Proxy Statement for the 2015 éalrMeeting of Stockholders.
Additionally, Equity Plan Compensation Informatisnpresented in Part I, Item 5 of this Annual Repm Form 10-K.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporateztéin by reference from the sections entitled “Seations with Related Persons” and
“Corporate Governance—Director Independence” ofRnaxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting otcBtmlders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incorporatestdin by reference from the section entitled “Psaddo Ratify the Appointment of KPMG
LLP as Our Independent Registered Public Accourftingy for 2015 (Item 2 on the Proxy Card)” of oun®y Statement for the 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@)

The following documents are filed as parthi$ tAnnual Report on Form 1=

1.

The following consolidated financial statemewit&MC Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries aefihs part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under Part Il, Item 8:

Management’s Report on Internal Control over FimgrReporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn on Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Yearse8mEcember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomthéoYears Ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&12013

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&®psity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 20182012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule and related Repdndefpendent Registered Public Accounting F

See “Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accoundsid the related Report of Independent RegistenbtidPAccounting
Firm included herein. All other schedules are amdlithecause of the absence of conditions under vitéghare required or
because information called for is shown in the otidated financial statements and notes thereRait 11, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibits
See “Index of Exhibits” filed as part of this AnfiReport on Form 10-K.
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Schedule [—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In thousands) Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to
Beginning of Costs Other Deductions Balance at

Description Period and Expenses Accounts @ and Adjustments @ End of Period
Year ended December 31, 2012:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 7,79¢ % 1,757 % 71 % 3471 % 6,14¢

Inventory valuation reserve $ 63,77 $ 30,66( $ 1352 $ 25,92¢ $ 69,85¢

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets $ 3,697 $ 1,73: % 9 3 1,17:  $ 4,26
Year ended December 31, 2013:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6,14¢ $ 3,03¢ $ 144 % 1,887 $ 7,441

Inventory valuation reserve $ 69,85¢ $ 37,62¢ $ (319 $ 21,13 $ 86,03¢

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets $ 4,265 3 1,77¢  $ (15 % 1,302 $ 4,725
Year ended December 31, 2014:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 7441 % 3,57« % (555 % 1,03¢ $ 9,421

Inventory valuation reserve $ 86,03t $ 47,57¢ $ (8,68¢) $ 28,11¢ $ 96,81(

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets $ 4,727 $ 39,93 $ —  $ 5762 $ 38,891
@ “Additions charged to other accounigtludes translation adjustments and allowancesiea|through business combinatic
®) “Deductions and adjustments” includes writifs, net of recoveries, and reductions in thevedinces credited to exper

See accompanying Report of Independent RegistarblicRPAccounting Firm.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ MARYANN T. SEAMAN

Maryann T. Seaman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

Date: February 20, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oréte indicated.

Date Signature

February 20, 2015 /sl JOHN T. GREMP

John T. Gremp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 20, 2015 /sl MARYANN T.SEAMAN

Maryann T. Seaman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 20, 2015 /sl JAay A.NUTT

Jay A. Nutt
Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 20, 2015 /sl ELEAZAR DE CARVALHO FILHO

Eleazar De Carvalho Filho,
Director

February 20, 2015 /s/  CLARENCE P. CAZALOT, JR.

Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.,
Director

February 20, 2015 /s/  C.MAURY D EVINE

C. Maury Devine,
Director

February 20, 2015 /'s!/ CLARE S. FARLEY

Claire S. Farley,
Director

February 20, 2015 /sl THOMAS M. H AMILTON

Thomas M. Hamilton,
Director

February 20, 2015 /'s!/ PETER M ELLBYE

Peter Mellbye,
Director

February 20, 2015 /sl EDWARD J. MOONEY




February 20, 2015

February 20, 2015

February 20, 2015

Director

/s!/  JOSEPHH. N ETHERLAND

Joseph H. Netherland,
Director

/'s/ PETER O OSTERVEER

Peter Oosterveer,
Director

/s!/  JAMES M. RINGLER
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filed on February 22, 2013) (File No. 001-16489).

First Amendment of Amended and Restated FMC Teduyies, Inc. Employees’ Retirement Program Partrliod Hourly
Employees’ Retirement Plan, dated November 14, 2014
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Second Amendment to the FMC Technologies, Inc.rieal&mployees’ Equivalent Retirement Plan, datete 22, 2010
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 te Ainnual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 221 3) (File No.
001-16489).
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reference from Exhibit 10.7.a to the Annual Report-orm 10-K filed on March 1, 2010) (File No. 006489).

Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inc. Sawingdnvestment Plan, dated January 28, 2013 (ocated by
reference from Exhibit 10.20 to the Annual Repart@rm 10-K filed on February 22, 2013) (File N01616489).

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated FM@r@ogies, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan, d@igidber 3, 201
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FMC Technologies, Inc. Frozen Retirement Plan,dldtee 30, 2014 (incorporated by reference fromitiixh0.1 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 25, 20(File No. 001-16489).

First Amendment of FMC Technologies, Inc. Frozetir@ment Plan, dated September 29, 2014 (incorpdray reference
from Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Forf:Q filed on October 24, 2014) (File No. 001-16489)

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement 4(2) ProgramdmstvBanc of America Securities LLC and FMC Techgias Inc.,
dated January 24, 2003 (incorporated by referemre Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on Form 1@H&d on March 1,
2010) (File No. 001-16489).

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement 4(2) ProgramdxstwVells Fargo Brokerage Services, LLC and FMGhiielogies,
Inc., dated December 21, 2007 (incorporated byeefee from Exhibit 10.11 to the Annual Report omrd0-K filed on
March 1, 2010) (File No. 001-16489).

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement 4(2) Programdxiwl.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and FMC Technosodie., dated
March 7, 2008 (incorporated by reference from EitHiB.12 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filedMarch 1, 2010)
(File No. 001-16489).

C.ommercial Paner NDealer Anreement 4(2) Pranramdwaiitinronin (Glnhal Markete Ine and EMC. Technidanine
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10.28

10.29
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10.31

21.1
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31.2
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101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
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dated January 2010 (incorporated by reference Erhibit 10.13 to the Annual Report on Form 10-kedilon March 1,
2010) (File No. 001-16489).

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement 4(2) ProgramdxtiviRBS Securities Inc. and FMC Technologies, tated July 13,
2012 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1&@&e Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on Februa®y 2013) (File
No. 001-16489).

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement by and betWéelts Fargo Bank, National Association and FMC Tresihgies,
Inc., dated January 3, 2004 (incorporated by ref@drom Exhibit 10.14 to the Annual Report on FAorK filed on
March 1, 2010) (File No. 001-16489).

$1,500,000,000 Credit Agreement by and among FMehielogies, Inc., as Borrower; JPMorgan Chase BHnk,, as
Administrative Agent; The Royal Bank of Scotland,@s Syndication Agent; The Bank of Tokyo-MitstibigFJ, Ltd.,
DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch, and Wells FaBgok, National Association, as Co-Documentationiigel.P.
Morgan Securities LLC, RBS Securities Inc., The BahTokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., DNB Markets, Inand Wells Fargo
Securities, LLC, as Joint Bookrunners and Co-Leadw#gers; and the other lenders party theretodddsech 26, 2012
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to @wrent Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2D(le No. 001-
16489).

Securities Purchase Agreement by and among FMCnbémties, Inc., Schilling Robotics, Inc., SchilliRpbotics, LLC
and Tyler Schilling, dated December 24, 2008 (ipooated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the AadriRieport on Form
10-K filed on February 27, 2009) (File No. 001-16418

Securities Purchase Agreement by and among FMCnbémgies, Inc., Schilling Robatics, Inc. and Ty&ehilling, dated
April 25, 2012 (incorporated by reference from Bbihi0.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fidJuly 27, 2012)
(File No. 001-16489).

Purchase Agreement by and between FMC Technoldgies Direct Drive Systems, Inc., (‘DDS”), eacllstholder in
DDS signatory thereto (each, a “Seller”) and Vatélnian as the Sellers’ Representative, datedeSeper 9, 2009
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 te @uarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Novemhe2@®)9) (File No.
001-16489).

Form of Voting and Support Agreement between FMEhhelogies, Inc. and the directors and officerBafe Energy
Services Ltd., dated August 17, 2012 (incorporatedeference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Re¢por Form 8-K filed
on August 20, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).

Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Puld@pAnting Firm.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a).
Certification of Chief Financial OfficeuBuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a).
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Under Siect 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.3.350.
Certification of Chief Financial Officdgnder Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£220@ U.S.C. 1350.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Schema Document
XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

* Indicates a management contract or compensatarygr arrangement
** Furnished with this Form 10-K

99



THIRD AMENDMENT OF

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. EMPLOYEES’' RETIREMENT PROGRA M

PART | SALARIED AND NONUNION HOURLY EMPLOYEES ' RETIREMENT PLAN

WHEREAS , FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) maintaihe FMC Technologies, Inc. Employeé&tirement Program Pal
Salaried and Nonunion Hourly Employees’ Retirentélan, as amended and restated effective Janu@f13,(the “Plan™);

WHEREAS , the Company now deems it necessary and desitaldenend the Plan to (a) offer a ditee lump sum election
certain eligible Participants during a window pdriand (b) raise the mandatory cashout thresho®bt600 and provide for a corresponc
automatic rollover provision; and

WHEREAS , this Third Amendment shall supersede the pronsiof the Plan to the extent those provisions meerisistent with tt
provisions of the amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE , by virtue and in exercise of the powers resemgethe Company under Section 1BPlan Amendment |

Terminationof the Plan, the Plan is hereby amended as folleffesctive September 1, 2014:

1. Effective as of September 1, 2014, Section 3.2islhy added to the Plan to read as folls

3.7 2014 LUMP SUM OPTION WINDOW

The purpose of this Section 3.7 is to modify thevisions of the Plan to offer a one-time lusym election t
Qualifying Participants during a window period. Ti®visions of this Section 3.7 shall apply onlypersons who meet t
requirements of a “Qualifying Participant.”

€) Definitions. In addition to the definitions in Article | of ¢hPlan, the following definitions shall apply
purposes of this Section 3.7:

(1) The term “Qualifying Participantshall mean a Participant (A) who can be locatedthe
Company by September 26, 2014, after a diligentcbeavho terminated employment with the Companyar
Affiliate on or before April 30, 2014 with a vestadcrued benefit and who has not been subsequetiltgd by th
Company or an Affiliate, (B) who is not currentlgceiving a benefit from the Plan as of September2Ré4, (C
who is not scheduled to commence payment of hisfitedrom the Plan on or before October 1, 2014, \{po is na
age 70 % or older as of September 26, 2014, (E) iwimot eligible as of September 26, 2014 to rexeiisability
payments under the Lonterm Disability Plan for Employees of FMC Technabsy Inc., and (F) who is not
Beneficiary. Additionally, alternate payees of Rapants whose benefit is subject to a qualifiedndstic relation
order (as defined under Section 12.3 of the Pldadl fwith the Employer before May 1, 2014 shall deeme
Qualifying Participants.




(2) The term “Benefit Election Windowshall mean the special election period during w
Qualifying Participants may elect to receive paytmen commence to receive payment of their vesteduat
benefit, either as an annuity or as a lusyps payment, even if such Qualifying Participard hat reached age
and is not eligible for immediate commencementiefdtcrued benefit other than for the provisionshid Sectio
3.7. The Benefit Election Window shall begin on teember 26, 2014 and shall expire on October 3042pfovidel
however, that any Qualifying Participant who ma&aselection to receive payment or commence to veqeymer
pursuant to the Benefit Election Window shall hawil December 1, 2014 to revoke any such elediprontactin
the Plan Administrator.

3) The term “Special Benefit Electiorshall mean the valid election made by a Qualif
Participant to receive or commence to receive hisier vested accrued benefit pursuant to the Befdsdictior
Window.

(4) Any Qualifying Participant who makes a valid Spé@anefit Election shall have an Annt

Starting Date of December 1, 2014 (the “Limited 8f@rElection Annuity Starting Date”).

(b) Calculation and Distribution of BenefitsFor any Qualifying Participant who makes a vaigecia
Benefit Election, the following provisions will aypin determining his or her benefits during thisrfit Election Window:

(1) For Participants who have not yet attained agess& ®ecember 1, 2014, the single life anr
will be equal to the Actuarial Equivalent of thecaed benefit payable at Normal Retirement Date.Heaaticipant
who have attained age 55 by December 1, 2014 nigéedife annuity will be equal to the amount deteed usin
the Plan’s early retirement factors set forth ictle® 3.2 and Section 4.2 of the Plan (as appleabl

(2) The single life annuity may be converted into atiaval benefit available under Section 6.
the Plan. The optional form of benefit will be thetuarial Equivalent of the single life annuity.

3) A Qualifying Participant may elect to receive hiiaied benefit as an immediate single |
sum payment, but only during the Benefit Electiomd@éw. The lump sum optional form of payment wil equal t
the Present Value of the Normal Retirement Bendétermined using factors based on the applicatibrdst rat
and applicable mortality table as defined undeichetl of the Plan. For Participants who have agdiage 55 as
December 1, 2014, the lump sum optional form ofnpayt cannot be less than the Present Value ofahteipants
single life annuity payable at December 1, 2014emeined using factors based on the applicabledstaate ar
applicable mortality table as defined under Artict# the Plan.

(4) Any lump sum paid under this Section shall be dekme eligible rollover distribution unc
Section 12.10 of the Plan, but only to the extemtrptted by Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal RaxeRode.

(5) A Qualifying Participans benefit must be definitely determinable basetherdata available
the Plan Administrator as of December 1, 2014 rdeoto be paid in accordance with the Benefit tid@cWindow
provisions set forth in this Section 3.7.




(6) Notwithstanding the above, all forms of paymentuded in this Benefit Election Window st
exclude the portion of the accrued benefit accureder the Plan as of November 30, 1985 (to thenéftmded b
the Aetna nonparticipating annuity contract or Rmadential nonparticipating annuity contract).

(c) Death Benefit

(1) If a Qualifying Participang death occurs prior to September 26, 2014, and bkgible for ¢
death benefit payable pursuant to the provisionsrti€le VII of the Plan, the benefit shall be pandaccordance wi
such provisions.

(2 If a Qualifying Participan$ death occurs on or after September 26, 2014sactd Qualifyin
Participant did not elect the Special Benefit Etattany death benefit for which he is eligibleviié paid pursua
to the provisions of Article VIl of the Plan.

3 If a Qualifying Participan$ death occurs on or after September 26, 2014sactd Qualifyin
Participant had timely and properly elected thecgpaBenefit Election hereunder to receive his aedrbenefit, b
did not receive such benefit as of the date ofddath, the benefit so elected will be paid to s@lalifying
Participant’'s spouse, beneficiary, or estate iatance with the following:

(A) Lump Sum Payment: If the Qualifying Participantotéel to receive his accri
benefit in the form of a lump sum payment and thelying Participant has a spouse, the lump
payment shall be made to the spouse or benefiprapgerly designated pursuant to Section 12.4 oPiae
If such Qualifying Participant does not have a sgouthe lump sum payment shall be made t
beneficiary. If such Qualifying Participant doest iiave a spouse or beneficiary, the lump sum paj
shall be made to the Qualifying Participant’s estat

(B) Annuity: If the Qualifying Participant elected teceive his benefit in the form of
annuity, payment of the Special Election Benefélshe made under the terms of the annuity elected.

© For purposes of this Section 3.7, a spouse shalthbeindividual to whom tt
Qualifying Participant is married on September 2614. Further, the beneficiary shall be as defihg
Section 401(a)(9)(E) of the Internal Revenue Code.




2. Effective September 1, 2014, Section 12.8 of theR$ hereby amended to add the following to the thereto to read
follows:

12.8  Effective September 1, 2014, if the lump sum AdtlaEquivalent value of a Normal, Early, or Defal
Retirement Benefit under Article Ill, TerminationeBefit under Article 1V, or Survivos' Benefit unde
Article VII, excluding any previously annuitized &® or Prudential nonparticipating annuity, is dqo
$5,000, or less, such amount shall be paid in gplsom as soon as administratively practicable fatig
the Participans retirement, termination of employment or deatowiver, if the amount to be distribute:
more than $1,000 and the Participant does not &ebtve such distribution paid directly to aglidible
retirement plan”specified by the Participant in a direct rollovém Gccordance with the direct rollo
provisions of the Plan) or to receive the distiibnitdirectly, then the Administrator shall pay thistributior
in a direct rollover to an individual retiremengapldesignated by the Administrator.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has caused this amendment to betexeloy a duly authorized representative thid' tldy

of November, 2014.

FMC Technologies, Inc.

By: /s/ Maryann T. Seaman
Its: Executive Vice President & CFO



FIRST AMENDMENT OF

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. EMPLOYEES’' RETIREMENT PROGRA M

PART 1l UNION HOURLY EMPLOYEES ' RETIREMENT PLAN

WHEREAS , FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) maintaihe FMC Technologies, Inc. Employed®tirement Program P.
[l Union Hourly Employees’ Retirement Plan, as adexhand restated effective January 1, 2013 (thenl

WHEREAS , the Company now deems it necessary and desitakdenend the Plan to (a) offer a divee lump sum election
certain eligible Participants during a window pdriand (b) raise the mandatory cashout thresho&bt000 and provide for a corresponc
automatic rollover provision; and

WHEREAS , this First Amendment shall supersede the promssiof the Plan to the extent those provisions maeerisistent with tf
provisions of the amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE , by virtue and in exercise of the powers resemgethe Company under Section 1BPlan Amendment |

Terminationof the Plan, the Plan is hereby amended as folleffsctive September 1, 2014:

1. Effective as of September 1, 2014, Section 3. &islhy added to the Plan to read as folls
3.7 2014 LUMP SUM OPTION WINDOW

The purpose of this Section 3.7 is to modify thevisions of the Plan to offer a one-time lump-suat#on to
Qualifying Participants during a window period. Tpr@visions of this Section 3.7 shall apply onlyptrsons who meet the
requirements of a “Qualifying Participant.”

€) Definitions. In addition to the definitions in Article | of ¢hPlan, the following definitions shall apply
purposes of this Section 3.7:

(1) The term “Qualifying Participantshall mean a Participant (A) who can be locatedthe
Company by September 26, 2014, after a diligentcbeavho terminated employment with the Companyar
Affiliate on or before April 30, 2014 with a vestadcrued benefit and who has not been subsequetiltgd by th
Company or an Affiliate, (B) who is not currentlgceiving a benefit from the Plan as of September2Ré4, (C
who is not scheduled to commence payment of hisfitedrom the Plan on or before October 1, 2014, \{do is no
age 70 % or older as of September 26, 2014, (E) iwimot eligible as of September 26, 2014 to rexeiisability
payments under the Lonterm Disability Plan for Employees of FMC Technabxy Inc., and (F) who is not
Beneficiary. Additionally, alternate payees of Rapants whose benefit is subject to a qualifiedndstic relation
order (as defined under Section 12.3 of the Pldadl fwith the Employer before May 1, 2014 shall deeme
Qualifying Participants.




(2) The term “Benefit Election Windowshall mean the special election period during w
Qualifying Participants may elect to receive paytmen commence to receive payment of their vesteduat
benefit, either as an annuity or as a lusyps payment, even if such Qualifying Participard hat reached age
and is not eligible for immediate commencementiefdtcrued benefit other than for the provisionshid Sectio
3.7. The Benefit Election Window shall begin on teember 26, 2014 and shall expire on October 3042pfovidel
however, that any Qualifying Participant who ma&aselection to receive payment or commence to veqeymer
pursuant to the Benefit Election Window shall hawil December 1, 2014 to revoke any such elediprontactin
the Plan Administrator.

3) The term “Special Benefit Electiorshall mean the valid election made by a Qualif
Participant to receive or commence to receive hisier vested accrued benefit pursuant to the Befdsdictior
Window.

(4) Any Qualifying Participant who makes a valid Spé@anefit Election shall have an Annt

Starting Date of December 1, 2014 (the “Limited 8f@rElection Annuity Starting Date”).

(b) Calculation and Distribution of BenefitsFor any Qualifying Participant who makes a vaigecia
Benefit Election, the following provisions will aypin determining his or her benefits during thisrfit Election Window:

(1) For Participants who have not yet attained agess& ®ecember 1, 2014, the single life anr
will be equal to the Actuarial Equivalent of thecaed benefit payable at Normal Retirement Date.Heaaticipant
who have attained age 55 by December 1, 2014 nigéedife annuity will be equal to the amount deteed usin
the Plan’s early retirement factors set forth icte® 3.2 and the applicable Supplement of the Rdarapplicable).

(2) The single life annuity may be converted into atiaval benefit available under Section 6.
the applicable Supplement of the Plan. The optiéorah of benefit will be the Actuarial Equivalent the single life
annuity.

3) A Qualifying Participant may elect to receive hiiaied benefit as an immediate single |

sum payment, but only during the Benefit Electiomd@éw. The lump sum optional form of payment wil equal t
the Present Value of the Normal Retirement Bendétermined using factors based on the applicatibrdst rat
and applicable mortality table as defined undeichetl of the Plan. For Participants who have agdiage 55 as
December 1, 2014, the lump sum optional form ofnpayt cannot be less than the Present Value ofahteipants
single life annuity payable at December 1, 2014emeined using factors based on the applicabledstaate ar
applicable mortality table as defined under Articte the applicable Supplement of the Plan.




(4) Any lump sum paid under this Section shall be dektme eligible rollover distribution unc
Section 12.10 of the Plan, but only to the extemtrptted by Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal RaxeRode.

(5) A Qualifying Participans benefit must be definitely determinable basetherdata available
the Plan Administrator as of December 1, 2014 rdeoto be paid in accordance with the Benefit tid@cWindow
provisions set forth in this Section 3.7.

(6) Notwithstanding the above, all forms of paymentuded in this Benefit Election Window st
exclude the portion of the accrued benefit acclureder the Plan as of November 30, 1985 (to thenéftmded b
the Aetna nonparticipating annuity contract or Bmadential nonparticipating annuity contract).

(c) Death Benefit

(1) If a Qualifying Participang death occurs prior to September 26, 2014, and bkgible for ¢
death benefit payable pursuant to the provisionsrti€le VII of the Plan, the benefit shall be paidaccordance wi
such provisions.

(2 If a Qualifying Participan$ death occurs on or after September 26, 2014sactd Qualifyin
Participant did not elect the Special Benefit Btattany death benefit for which he is eligibleviié paid pursua
to the provisions of Article VIl of the Plan.

3 If a Qualifying Participan$ death occurs on or after September 26, 2014sactd Qualifyin
Participant had timely and properly elected thecgpaBenefit Election hereunder to receive his aedrbenefit, b
did not receive such benefit as of the date ofddath, the benefit so elected will be paid to s@lalifying
Participant’'s spouse, beneficiary, or estate iatance with the following:

(A) Lump Sum Payment: If the Qualifying Participantotéel to receive his accri
benefit in the form of a lump sum payment and thealying Participant has a spouse, the lump
payment shall be made to the spouse or benefiprapgerly designated pursuant to Section 12.4 oPiae
If such Qualifying Participant does not have a sgouthe lump sum payment shall be made t
beneficiary. If such Qualifying Participant doest iiave a spouse or beneficiary, the lump sum paj
shall be made to the Qualifying Participant’s estat

(B) Annuity: If the Qualifying Participant elected teceive his benefit in the form of
annuity, payment of the Special Election Benefélshe made under the terms of the annuity elected.

© For purposes of this Section 3.7, a spouse shalthbeindividual to whom tt
Qualifying Participant is married on September 2614. Further, the beneficiary shall be as defihg
Section 401(a)(9)(E) of the Internal Revenue Code.




2. Effective September 1, 2014, Section 12.8 of theR$ hereby amended to add the following to the thereto to read
follows:

12.8  Effective September 1, 2014, if the lump sum AdtlaEquivalent value of a Normal, Early, or Defal
Retirement Benefit under Article Ill, TerminationeBefit under Article 1V, or Survivos' Benefit unde
Article VII, excluding any previously annuitized &®& or Prudential nonparticipating annuity, is dqo
$5,000, or less, such amount shall be paid in gplsom as soon as administratively practicable fatig
the Participans retirement, termination of employment or deatowiver, if the amount to be distribute:
more than $1,000 and the Participant does not &ebtve such distribution paid directly to aglidible
retirement plan”specified by the Participant in a direct rollovém Gccordance with the direct rollo
provisions of the Plan) or to receive the distiibnitdirectly, then the Administrator shall pay thistributior
in a direct rollover to an individual retiremengapldesignated by the Administrator.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has caused this amendment to betexdoy a duly authorized representative this 14

of November, 2014.

FMC Technologies, Inc.

By: /s/ Maryann T. Seaman
Its: Executive Vice President & CFO



SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

December 31, 2014

Exhibit 21.1

Percent of Voting Securities
Owned @

Company @ Organized Under Laws of

FMC Technologies Inc. Delaware Registrant
Control Systems International, Inc. Kansas 100%
Direct Drive Systems, Inc. Delaware 100%
FMC Eurasia LLC Russia 100%
FMC Kongsberg Holding AS Norway 100%
FMC Kongsberg International A.G. Switzerland 100%
FMC Kongsberg Services Limited United Kingdom 100%
FMC Kongsberg Subsea AS Norway 100%
FMC Petroleum Equipment (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100%
FMC Separation Systems B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Subsea Service, Inc. Delaware 100%
FMC Technologies AG Switzerland 100%
FMC Technologies AS Norway 100%
FMC Technologies Australia Limited Australia 100%
FMC Technologies B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies Brazil Finance B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies Company Nova Scotia 100%
FMC Technologies Completion Services, Inc. Colorado 100%
FMC Technologies de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100%
FMC Technologies do Brasil Ltda. Brazil 100%
FMC Technologies Energy S.C.S. Luxembourg 100%
FMC Technologies Global B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies International Services B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies Limited United Kingdom 100%
FMC Technologies Limited (Nigeria) Nigeria 100%
FMC Technologies Measurement Solutions, Inc. Delaware 100%
FMC Technologies Norway AS Norway 100%
FMC Technologies S.A. France 100%
FMC Technologies S.a.r.l. Luxembourg 100%
FMC Technologies Global Supply SDN. BHD. Malaysia 100%
FMC Technologies Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100%
FMC Wellhead Equipment Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100%
Multi Phase Meters AS Norway 100%
P.T. FMC Santana Petroleum Equipment Indonesia Indonesia 60%
FMC Technologies Canada Ltd. Alberta 100%
Smith Meter GmbH Germany 100%

(1)  The names of various active and inactive subsesarave been omitted. Such subsidiaries, considetbd aggregate as a single subsidiary, wouldapstitute a
significant subsidiary. The Company is a minorityner of certain other affiliates. These entities @ot subject to inclusion in determination of @@mpany’s

significant subsidiaries.

2 Percentages shown for indirect subsidiaries reflecpercentage of voting securities owned by trermt.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FMC Teghgies, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irréiggstration statements (Nos. 333-62996, 333-76238-76214, and 333-76216) on Form
S-8 and (No. 333-183953) on Form S-3 of FMC Tecbgiels, Inc. of our reports dated February 20, 2@ith, respect to the consolidated
balance sheets of FMC Technologies, Inc. as of Dbee 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consotiddtements of income, comprehen
income, cash flows, and changes in stockholdensiteépr each of the years in the three-year peended December 31, 2014, and the relate
financial statement schedule (Schedule Il) for ezdhe years in the three-year period ended Deee®b, 2014, and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2014, which reports appear in the DeceBhe2014 annual report on Form 10-K
of FMC Technologies, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 20, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, John T. Gremp, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkMC Technologies, Inc. (the “registrapt”

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ort éanstate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwteh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3 other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and ctigvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 184lf))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfigt report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financ@darting, or caused such internal control ovenfaia reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggttae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallypedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentibdsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesgnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant’s most recen
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal ggaiin the case of an annual report) that has maditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,ttee
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiog the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are reason:
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finaimtiatmation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2015

/s/ JOHN T. GREMP
John T. Gremp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Maryann T. Seaman, certify that:
1. 1have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-kKIC Technologies, Inc. (the “registrajit’

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or oméitéde a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwwt&h such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cfigvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 184l))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtist report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financ&darting, or caused such internal control ovenfaia reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #gpsnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt’s internal control over financial reportithgait occurred during the registrant’s most recen
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal gaiin the case of an annual report) that has maditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtevhal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiog the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are reason:
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finaimtiatmation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inv@dvmanagement or other employees who have a samifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2015

/sl MARYANN T. SEAMAN
Maryann T. Seaman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
UNDER SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, John T. Gremp, Chairman, President and Chietébee Officer of FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Coamny”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.Q1,35
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@rles Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(a) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamytiie year ended December 31, 2014, as filed thélSecurities and Exchange Commission (the
“Report”), fully complies with the requirements $éction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended; and

(b) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaalition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 20, 2015

/s/ JOHN T. GREMP
John T. Gremp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
UNDER SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, Maryann T. Seaman, Executive Vice President@nief Financial Officer of FMC Technologies, Inthé “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@tedbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knogéed

(a) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamytiie year ended December 31, 2014, as filedtélSecurities and Exchange Commission (the
“Report”), fully complies with the requirements $éction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; and

(b) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 20, 2015

/sl MARYANN T. SEAMAN
Maryann T. Seaman

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer)



